PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE public health research, practice, and policy



Geospatial Perspectives on the Intersection of Chronic Disease and COVID-19



U.S. Department of Health and Human Servic Centers for Disease

About the Journal

Preventing Chronic Disease (PCD) is a peer-reviewed public health journal sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and authored by experts worldwide. PCD was established in 2004 by the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion with a mission to promote dialogue among researchers, practitioners, and policy makers worldwide on the integration and application of research findings and practical experience to improve population health.

PCD's vision is to serve as an influential journal in the dissemination of proven and promising peer-reviewed public health findings, innovations, and practices with editorial content respected for its integrity and relevance to chronic disease prevention.

PCD Staff

Leonard Jack, Jr, PhD, MSc Editor in Chief

Lesli Mitchell, MA Managing Editor

Brandi Baker, MBA

Production Coordinator Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Kim Bright, PMP

Information Technology Project Manager Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Kate Harris, BA

Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Ivory M. Jones, MS

Editorial Assistant Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Shawn Jones Software Engineer Contractor, CyberD

Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Camille Martin, RD, LD Senior Technical Editor

Susan McKeen, BA Senior Software Engineer Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Melissa Newton, BS, CCPH

Marketing/Communications Specialist Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Rosemarie Perrin Technical Writer-Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Sasha Ruiz, BBA Health Communications

Specialist

Robin Sloan, MA Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Martin Steib

Multimedia Specialist Contractor, CyberData Technologies

Ellen Taratus, MS

Senior Technical Editor Contractor, Idoneous Consulting

Caran Wilbanks, BA

Lead Technical Writer-Editor

Associate Editors

Arsham Alamian, PhD, MSc, FACE Semra Aytur, PhD, MPH Ronny A. Bell, PhD, MS Erin Bouldin, PhD, MPH Tammy Calise, DrPH, MEd Vinay Cheruvu, PhD Pyone Cho, MD, MPH Sarah Conderino, MPH Patricia Da Rosa, DDS, MPH, MSc Julia Dilley, PhD, MES Z. Tuba Suzer Gurtekin, PhD, MS, MBA Jeanette Gustat, PhD, MPH Daikwon Han, PhD Nikki A Hawkins, PhD Linda D. Highfield, PhD, MS Elizabeth Winter Holt, PhD, MPH Brittney Keller-Hamilton, PhD, MPH

Robert Krikorian, PhD Bian Liu, PhD, MS Zhen-Qiang Ma, MD, MPH, MS Sarah L. Martin, PhD, MS Kevin Matthews, PhD, MS Katerina Maximova, PhD Jane A. McElroy, PhD Jeremy Mennis, PhD, MS Michael J. Parks, PhD Anna Porter, PhD, MPH Austin Porter III, DrPH, MPH Terrinieka Williams Powell, PhD Irene Prabhu Das, PhD, MPH Jessica M. Robbins, PhD Daniel Sarpong, PhD **Deborah Salvo**, PhD

Charlotte D. Smith, PhD Sergey Sotnikov, PhD Mikiko Terashima, PhD, MSc Tung-Sung Tseng, PhD, MPH Camille Vaughan, MD, MS Trang VoPham, PhD, MS, MPH Yan Wang, PhD Korede Yusuf, MBBS, MPH, PhD Janice C. Zgibor, RPh, PhD, CPH, FACE

Table of Contents

- 01. Geospatial Perspectives on the Intersection of Chronic Disease and COVID-19 Mennis J, Matthews KA, Huston SL. Geospatial Perspectives on the Intersection of Chronic Disease and COVID-19. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:220145.
- 02. Incorporating Geographic Information Science and Technology in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Smith CD, Mennis J. Incorporating Geographic Information Science and Technology in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200246.

- 03. Enabling Hotspot Detection and Public Health Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic Foraker R, Landman J, Lackey I, Haslam MD, Antes AL, Goldfarb D. Enabling Hotspot Detection and Public Health Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210425.
- 04. Variation in Risk of COVID-19 Infection and Predictors of Social Determinants of Health in Miami–Dade County, Florida

Moise IK. Variation in Risk of COVID-19 Infection and Predictors of Social Determinants of Health in Miami–Dade County, Florida. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200358.

05. Mapping Chronic Disease Risk Factors With ArcGIS Online in Support of COVID-19 Response in Florida

DuČlos C, Folsom J, Joiner J, Jordan M, Reid K, Bailey M, et al. Mapping Chronic Disease Risk Factors With ArcGIS Online in Support of COVID-19 Response in Florida. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200647..

- 06. A Spatio-Demographic Perspective on the Role of Social Determinants of Health and Chronic Disease in Determining a Population's Vulnerability to COVID-19 Embury J, Tsou MH, Nara A, Oren E. A Spatio-Demographic Perspective on the Role of Social Determinants of Health and Chronic Disease in Determining a Population's Vulnerability to COVID-19. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210414.
- 07. The Town-Level Prevalence of Chronic Lung Conditions and Death From COVID-19 Among Older Adults in Connecticut and Rhode Island

Jansen T, Man Lee C, Xu S, Silverstein NM, Dugan E. The Town-Level Prevalence of Chronic Lung Conditions and Death From COVID-19 Among Older Adults in Connecticut and Rhode Island. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210421.

08. Mapping EBT Store Closures During the COVID-19 Pandemic in a Low-Income, Food-Insecure Community in San Diego

Lowery BC, Swayne MR, Castro I, Embury J. Mapping EBT Store Closures During the COVID-19 Pandemic in a Low-Income, Food-Insecure Community in San Diego. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210410.

09. Expansion of Grocery Delivery and Access for Washington SNAP Participants During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Beese S, Amram O, Corylus A, Graves JM, Postma J, Monsivais P. Expansion of Grocery Delivery and Access for Washington SNAP Participants During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210412.

- 10. **Disparities in Internet Access and COVID-19 Vaccination in New York City** Michaels IH, Pirani SJ, Carrascal A. Disparities in Internet Access and COVID-19 Vaccination in New York City. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:210143.
- Association Between Population Mobility Reductions and New COVID-19 Diagnoses in the United States Along the Urban–Rural Gradient, February–April, 2020

Li X, Rudolph AE, Mennis J. Association Between Population Mobility Reductions and New COVID-19 Diagnoses in the United States Along the Urban–Rural Gradient, February–April, 2020. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200241.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY PUBLIC JUNE 2022

Volume 19. E39

GUEST EDITORIAL

Geospatial Perspectives on the Intersection of Chronic Disease and COVID-19

Jeremy Mennis, PhD, MS, GISP¹; Kevin A. Matthews, PhD, MS²; Sara L. Huston, PhD^{3,4}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/22 0145.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Mennis J, Matthews KA, Huston SL. Geospatial Perspectives on the Intersection of Chronic Disease and COVID-19. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:220145. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd19.220145.

PEER REVIEWED

This collection of articles in *Preventing Chronic Disease* (PCD) brings together scientists and practitioners from the breadth of public health and the social sciences to demonstrate how geospatial perspectives can contribute to understanding and addressing the intersection of chronic disease and COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus. The COVID-19 pandemic has affected chronic disease in many complex ways. Early in the pandemic, it became clear that people with chronic conditions and those in older age groups were at the highest risk for COVID-19 hospitalization and death (1-3). Racial and ethnic minority populations experienced disproportionately worse health outcomes (4). Pandemic-related disruptions to the health care system and individuals' concerns about health care-related exposures affected chronic disease management: in-person visits for people with chronic conditions declined, supply chain disruptions led to shortages of medications, and the number of cancer screenings, treatments, and surgeries declined in the United States (5-7). More recent evidence suggests that COVID-19 may exacerbate existing chronic diseases and increase the risk of developing new chronic conditions, such as diabetes in adults (8,9), type 1 diabetes in children (10), neurological disorders (11), dementia (12), mental illness (13), and cardiovascular disease (14). In addition, an estimated one-half of COVID-19 survivors worldwide continue to have COVID-related health problems 6 months or more after recovery from the acute infection, making "long COVID" our newest and still largely unresearched chronic disease (15). Finally, social and economic inequities underlie disparities in incidence of both chronic diseases and COVID-19, an intersection that has been labeled a syndemic, defined as the "presence of 2 or more disease states that adversely interact with each other, negatively affecting the mutual course of each disease trajectory, enhancing vulnerability, and which are made more deleterious by experienced inequities" (16).

Space and place are key elements of individual and population health - social and environmental determinants of health are embedded within place, and health outcomes and inequities typically exhibit strong geographic variation (17,18). Thus, geospatial perspectives, which address aspects of space and place, play a key role in the public health response to the COVID-19 pandemic and its intersection with chronic disease (19,20). Here, we consider geospatial perspectives to include the broad swath of geospatial data, analytical techniques, and technologies encompassed in the field of geographic information science and technology (GIS&T) (21). Geospatial data on disease incidence and mortality, available at the individual address level or aggregated to small areas, allow us to understand the geographic distribution of COVID-19 and the chronic disease burden and their spatial coincidence with other measures. Geospatial data can also capture community-level socioeconomic characteristics, such as indicators of race, ethnicity, and class, which serve to illuminate interrelated disparities in the incidence of COVID-19 and chronic disease.

Geospatial analytical techniques support the investigation of ecological and individual-level associations among chronic diseases and COVID-19 outcomes. These techniques include mapping and computational and statistical methods adapted explicitly for spatial data analysis, such as geographically weighted regression. Incorporating geospatial data about environmental characteristics and human dynamics, such as local climate and human mobility patterns, can inform analyses of how individual and environmental characteristics interact to produce population-level outcomes of COVID-19 and chronic disease. Geospatial technologies, such as GPS (global positioning systems), satellite remote sensing, and geographic information systems (GIS) software, provide the technological infrastructure to collect and integrate these geospatial data, apply these geospatial analytical techniques, and publicly disseminate data and information through web-based mapping and geospatial data dashboards.

In this collection, the commentary by Smith and Mennis provides an overview of the role of GIS&T in responding to the COVID-19



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

> www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/22_0145.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

pandemic, emphasizing the use of geospatial technologies for collecting data on disease prevalence, analyzing the spread of infection, communicating with the public, and optimizing the distribution of resources (22). The article is enlightening in depicting the use of GIS&T in the initial phase of the pandemic, when geospatial data and analyses were key to understanding the spread and transmission of the disease and the efficacy of nonpharmaceutical interventions, such as business closures and government directives that limited social gatherings.

Other contributions in this collection highlight how the authors used GIS&T to inform chronic disease and COVID-19-related policies, interventions, and public health communications. Foraker et al illustrate one such approach for leveraging GIS&T to support spatially directed interventions by developing a custom geospatial software application for visualizing the locations of COVID-19 cases at the individual residence level (23). This interactive mapping application can target public health responses to emerging disease hotspots and highlights the challenge to regional analyses of residential address-level data, which are typically restricted to authorized public health officials within a single jurisdiction. The research brief by Moise describes a spatial interpolation method that disaggregates zip code-level rates of COVID-19 to the census block group-level to facilitate the use of consistent, small-area spatial support when measuring associations with selected measures of social determinants of health (24).

Many of the contributions in this PCD collection focus on how GIS&T can be used to investigate the association between community attributes and health disparities, measures of social determinants of health, or risk factors related to chronic disease and COVID-19 outcomes. For example, the GIS Snapshots article by DuClos et al reports on a web browser–based software application that displays choropleth maps of chronic disease–related risk factors, hospitalizations, mortality, and the Economic Hardship Index at the county and zip code levels (25). This tool was designed to inform COVID-19 preparedness and response efforts at the local level by identifying communities particularly vulnerable to COVID-19. This map application provides an example of how state and local health departments work to provide access to substate-level data on chronic disease.

Two articles in this PCD collection examined whether the prevalence of a chronic disease geographically coincides with the prevalence of COVID-19. In research by Embury et al, subcounty data from San Diego County, California (which includes urban and rural areas), were used to explore whether spatial modeling of chronic disease rates and selected social determinants of health measures could identify communities most vulnerable to COVID-19 (26). The authors divided data on the pandemic into 5 time frames and examined how relationships between social determinants of health, chronic disease, and COVID-19 changed over time. Jansen et al tested whether the prevalence of respiratory illness was associated with COVID-19 mortality rates among older adults in Connecticut and Rhode Island (27). Educational attainment decreased the strength of the association, demonstrating that our understanding of COVID-19 outcomes can be improved by accounting for selected social determinants of health.

The pandemic's impact on food supply and affordability, concurrent with rising unemployment and mobility restrictions, made food access difficult for many households. Lowery et al used mapping to illustrate how the closure of food stores accepting Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) via electronic benefits transfer (EBT) during the pandemic reduced food access within walking distance in a community in San Diego, California, where food insecurity was prevalent before the pandemic (28). Alternatively, Beese et al showed that food access for SNAP participants in Washington State during the pandemic was enhanced by expanding food delivery services (29). Their maps showed that online food delivery services by grocery stores accepting SNAP via EBT increased substantially during the pandemic, enhancing food access for many low-income communities in the state. However, certain barriers to online delivery services, such as lack of broadband access, remain a challenge, particularly in rural areas.

Other research in this PCD collection focuses on the use of GIS&T to assess factors associated with the efficacy of pharmaceutical and nonpharmaceutical interventions to reduce transmission of SARS CoV-2 infection. In their GIS Snapshots article, Michaels et al found a significant positive correlation between household internet access and COVID-19 vaccination rates at the zip code–level in New York City and used bivariate choropleth mapping to display the areas most at risk of COVID-19 and those with the lowest levels of vaccination and internet access (30). When the analysis was conducted, many vaccine providers in New York City were offering only online systems to schedule appointments. The article highlights the importance of considering the digital health divide in addressing chronic disease, COVID-19, and health inequities.

Li et al leveraged a large, commercial geospatial data set of mobility data collected from GPS-enabled mobile phones in a nationallevel analysis of the association of COVID-19 outcomes with decreases in travel to common activity space locations, such as work and shopping (31). This research incorporated time lags in tests of association to investigate whether stay-at-home directives, business closures, and related policies that restricted mobility successfully reduced COVID-19 prevalence. Results showed a strong association between reductions in mobility to certain locations, such as workplaces, and declines in infection rates, particularly in urb-

an areas, and demonstrated the efficacy of stay-at-home directives in the early stages of the pandemic.

This PCD collection demonstrates the diverse ways that GIS&T can support research and policy at the intersection of COVID-19 and chronic disease, including 1) the role of social and environmental determinants of health, 2) pharmaceutical and nonpharmaceutical interventions to mitigate the impact of the pandemic, and 3) data and information dissemination for public health practitioners and the public. However, we acknowledge certain limitations of the collection. These articles mainly focus on the early phases of the pandemic; many were written before the Delta and Omicron waves. Little attention was paid to areas of the US that, as of the time of this writing in May 2022, have had the highest rates of COVID-19 mortality, such as the Southeast, regions with high levels of social vulnerability, and rural areas (32). In addition, the collection does not consider the role of GIS&T in preventing or mitigating future waves of COVID-19 or the impact that COVID-19 may have on future geographic patterns of chronic disease. Furthermore, only one article in this collection was authored by practitioners at a public health agency (25), limiting our understanding of how geospatial perspectives on COVID-19 and chronic disease were deployed on the ground during the pandemic.

One important lesson of the COVID-19 pandemic is that the public health community cannot afford to continue regarding infectious disease and chronic disease as separate entities. Public health leaders have noted that "[a] challenge related to long-term COVID-19 sequelae is that we do not know yet the extent that COVID-19 exacerbates chronic disease, causes chronic disease, or will be determined a chronic disease unto itself" (33). Given the emerging evidence that COVID-19 not only exacerbates preexisting chronic disease but may also be a risk factor for developing heart disease, type 1 diabetes among children, depression, and other chronic diseases, geospatial approaches should be employed to identify areas of high rates of COVID-19 incidence that can be targeted for chronic disease surveillance, prevention, and the provision of health services.

We recognize that prevention and control of COVID-19 depend on prevention and management of chronic disease and vice versa, and the level of success in both depends on addressing the structural inequities in economic opportunity, racial and ethnic segregation, and resource accessibility that act as distal forces on more proximal social and environmental determinants of health, such as those associated with individual health behaviors. These structural mechanisms that affect health outcomes typically materialize in differences observed among places and regions. Geospatial approaches are thus critical for ecological analyses of disease incidence rates and for capturing and analyzing data on the structural social and environmental exposures that are key to understanding how COVID-19 and chronic disease intersect to produce individual health outcomes.

Another lesson from the COVID-19 pandemic is the need for interdisciplinary collaboration across the fields of public health, social science, and GIS&T and across teaching, research, and practice. Only 3 articles in this collection represent collaborations between epidemiologists or other public health professionals and geographers, who often serve as key GIS&T personnel in universities (22,26,31). We recommend that medical and public health investigators include GIS&T experts on their research teams, because they can enhance the translation of complex health findings by contributing to geospatial data acquisition and analytical plans adapted for geospatial data analysis during the earliest phases of research design. These experts can also identify geospatial data policies that may affect health studies, including the US Census Bureau's 2020 Census differential privacy algorithm (34) or requirements for the maintenance of individual privacy in health research (35). GIS&T experts can also provide insights into how the axiomatic properties of spatial data (36) affect inferential statistical analyses, including violations of statistical independence (37), how the choice of geographic aggregation method can produce different results (the modifiable areal unit problem) (38), that statistical significance of coefficients often varies from place to place (spatial heterogeneity) (39), and the impact of data uncertainty on health studies (40-42).

The small number of collaborative articles in this collection also highlights the need for higher education to be an agent of change for building these collaborative networks. Academic public health programs can enhance the capacity for GIS&T in public health practice by partnering with the academic units within their institutions that already have GIS&T expertise. Graduates from such programs will be more employable in public health fields than graduates trained in GIS&T or public health alone. From a practitioner perspective, epidemiologists working in state and local health departments can benefit from continued and rigorous GIS&T training and resources, such as the Building GIS Capacity for Chronic Disease Surveillance program at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (43).

The most powerful contribution that GIS&T scientists can make in a rapidly changing public health environment is to use sound geospatial methods in the service of generating evidence-based public health policies. To ensure the choice of appropriate public health research questions and concordant analytical designs, GIS&T scientists should collaborate with public health researchers and be aware of how issues of health disparities and legacies of discrimination in health care (44) can affect geospatial health research designs and analyses. For example, nearly 23% of states reported that data on race and ethnicity were incomplete for COVID-19

cases in the early part of the pandemic, making it difficult to measure the pandemic's impact on racial and minority populations (45). Qualitative geospatial techniques, such as those using georeferenced narrative data, can also play a central role in eliciting the lived experience of disenfranchised people and in examining how concentrated social and economic disadvantage, collective efficacy, exposure to violence, and other community-level characteristics shape individual health behaviors and outcomes that produce observed population-level health inequities (46).

Finally, we note that the pandemic has shed light on the need to strengthen national public health data infrastructures that support the integration of chronic and infectious disease data across various government agencies and facilitate public health data dissemination and communication for researchers, policy makers, and the public (47,48). This PCD collection highlights the critical need for incorporating a geospatial perspective into such efforts beyond the multiplicity of ad hoc mapping dashboards that have popped up over the past 2 years. Enhancing knowledge of cartography and interactive geospatial data visualization among software developers in the public health community is key to ensuring such tools are effective for science communication and assisting in public health intervention and prevention efforts.

In addition, eliminating barriers to the routine collection, geocoding, and sharing of residential address-level data in public health surveillance systems would provide more actionable data in this pandemic and the next. More broadly, the integration of geospatial perspectives into national public health data infrastructure initiatives to support future research on the intersection of chronic and infectious diseases can benefit from the experience of similar US government data infrastructure projects related to disaster and emergency response, where GIS&T plays a key role (49), such as The National Map (50), and the Disaster Risk Resilience Initiative (51). Data infrastructure development efforts should also be mindful of the confidentiality requirements for personal health information and incorporate recent developments in "geomasking," which aims to preserve the anonymity of georeferenced observations, because location-based health data can potentially reveal personally identifiable information, even when aggregated over small areas (46). Some of these proposed efforts may present valuable opportunities for the new Center for Forecasting and Outbreak Analytics, launched by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in April 2022.

The public health community is only beginning to understand the profound and ongoing consequences of the interaction of chronic disease and COVID-19. This collection highlights the important role of GIS&T in understanding the social and environmental determinants of health that underlie inequities in infectious and chronic disease risk factors, ultimately producing the health dis-

parities observed in outcomes from the intersection of COVID-19 and chronic disease. Interdisciplinary and collaborative efforts to expand geospatial perspectives in chronic disease prevention and treatment are crucial for responding to COVID-19 and future pandemics.

Acknowledgments

No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Jeremy Mennis, PhD, MS, GISP, Department of Geography and Urban Studies, Temple University, 1115 Polett Walk, 309 Gladfelter Hall, Philadelphia, PA 19022. Email: jmennis@temple.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Temple University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ²Office of the Associate Director for Policy and Strategy, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia. ³Muskie School of Public Service, University of Southern Maine, Portland, Maine. ⁴Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Augusta, Maine.

References

- Chow N, Fleming-Dutra K, Gierke R, Hall A, Hughes M, Pilishvili T, et al.; CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Preliminary estimates of the prevalence of selected underlying health conditions among patients with coronavirus disease 2019 — United States, February 12–March 28, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(13):382–6.
- Wortham JM, Lee JT, Althomsons S, Latash J, Davidson A, Guerra K, et al. Characteristics of persons who died with COVID-19 — United States, February 12–May 18, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(28):923–9.
- 3. Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE, et al. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature 2020;584(7821):430–6.
- 4. Gaglioti AH, Li C, Douglas MD, Baltrus PT, Blount MA, Zahidi R, et al. Population-level disparities in COVID-19: measuring the independent association of the proportion of Black population on COVID-19 cases and deaths in US counties. J Public Health Manag Pract 2021;27(3):268–77.
- 5. Kendzerska T, Zhu DT, Gershon AS, Edwards JD, Peixoto C, Robillard R, et al. The effects of the health system response to the COVID-19 pandemic on chronic disease management: a narrative review. Risk Manag Healthe Policy 2021;14:575–84.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 6. Boutros M, Moujaess E, Kourie HR. Cancer management during the COVID-19 pandemic: choosing between the devil and the deep blue sea. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2021; 167:103273.
- 7. Patt D, Gordan L, Diaz M, Okon T, Grady L, Harmison M, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on cancer care: how the pandemic is delaying cancer diagnosis and treatment for American seniors. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2020;4(4):1059–71.
- 8. Xie Y, Al-Aly Z. Risks and burdens of incident diabetes in long COVID: a cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2022;10(5):311–21.
- 9. Barrett CE, Koyama AK, Alvarez P, Chow W, Lundeen EA, Perrine CG, et al. Risk for newly diagnosed diabetes >30 days after SARS-CoV-2 infection among persons aged <18 years — United States, March 1, 2020–June 28, 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2022;71(2):59–65.
- 10. Kamrath C, Rosenbauer J, Eckert AJ, Siedler K, Bartelt H, Klose D, et al. Incidence of type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany: results from the DPV registry. Diabetes Care 2022;dc210969.
- Taquet M, Geddes JR, Husain M, Luciano S, Harrison PJ. 6-Month neurological and psychiatric outcomes in 236 379 survivors of COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study using electronic health records. Lancet Psychiatry 2021;8(5):416–27.
- 12. Wang Q, Davis PB, Gurney ME, Xu R. COVID-19 and dementia: analyses of risk, disparity, and outcomes from electronic health records in the US. Alzheimers Dement 2021; 17(8):1297–306.
- 13. Xie Y, Xu E, Al-Aly Z. Risks of mental health outcomes in people with COVID-19: cohort study. BMJ 2022;376:e068993.
- 14. Xie Y, Xu E, Bowe B, Al-Aly Z. Long-term cardiovascular outcomes of COVID-19. Nat Med 2022;28(3):583–90.
- 15. Groff D, Sun A, Ssentongo AE, Ba DM, Parsons N, Poudel GR, et al. Short-term and long-term rates of postacute sequelae of SARS-CoV-2 infection: a systematic review. JAMA Netw Open 2021;4(10):e2128568.
- 16. Sharma A; The Lancet. Syndemics: health in context. Lancet 2017;389(10072):881.
- 17. Richardson DB, Volkow ND, Kwan M-P, Kaplan RM, Goodchild MF, Croyle RT. Medicine. Spatial turn in health research. Science 2013;339(6126):1390–2.
- 18. Mennis J, Yoo EE. Geographic information science and the analysis of place and health. Trans GIS 2018;22(3):842–54.
- 19. Franch-Pardo I, Desjardins MR, Barea-Navarro I, Cerdà A. A review of GIS methodologies to analyze the dynamics of COVID-19 in the second half of 2020. Trans GIS 2021; 25(5):2191–239.
- 20. Fatima M, O'Keefe KJ, Wei W, Arshad S, Gruebner O. Geospatial analysis of COVID-19: a scoping review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18(5):2336.

- 21. University Consortium for Geographic Information Science. Geographic information science & technology (GIS&T) body of knowledge. Accessed June 3, 2022. https://gistbok.ucgis.org
- 22. Smith CD, Mennis J. Incorporating geographic information science and technology in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:E58.
- 23. Foraker R, Landman J, Lackey I, Haslam M, Antes A, Goldfarb D. Enabling hotspot detection and public health response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2022; 19:210425.
- 24. Moise IK. Variation in risk of COVID-19 infection and predictors of social determinants of health in Miami–Dade County, Florida. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:E124.
- 25. DuClos C, Folsom J, Joiner J, Jordan M, Reid K, Bailey M, et al. Mapping chronic disease risk factors with ArcGIS Online in support of COVID-19 response in Florida. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E38.
- 26. Embury J, Tsou M, Nara A, Oren E. A spatio-demographic perspective on the role of social determinants of health and chronic disease in determining a population's vulnerability to COVID-19. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210414.
- 27. Jansen T, Lee CM, Xu S, Silverstein N, Dugan B. The townlevel prevalence of chronic lung conditions and death from COVID-19 among older adults in Connecticut and Rhode Island. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210421.
- 28. Lowery B, Swayne M, Castro I, Embury J. Mapping EBT store closures during the COVID-19 pandemic in a low-income, food-insecure community in San Diego. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210410.
- 29. Beese S, Amram O, Zambrana A, Graves J, Postma J, Monsivais P. Expansion of grocery delivery and access for Washington SNAP participants during the COVID-19 pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210412.
- 30. Michaels IH, Pirani SJ, Carrascal A. Disparities in internet access and COVID-19 vaccination in New York City. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E83.
- 31. Li X, Rudolph AE, Mennis J. Association between population mobility reductions and new COVID-19 diagnoses in the United States along the urban-rural gradient, February-April, 2020. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:E118.
- 32. Matthews KA, Ullrich F, Gaglioti AH, Dugan S, Chen MS, Hall DM. Nonmetropolitan COVID-19 incidence and mortality rates surpassed metropolitan rates within the first 24 weeks of the pandemic declaration: United States, March 1–October 18, 2020. J Rural Health 2021;37(2):272–7.
- 33. Hacker KA, Briss PA, Richardson L, Wright J, Petersen R. COVID-19 and chronic disease: the impact now and in the future. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:E62.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 34. Santos-Lozada AR, Howard JT, Verdery AM. How differential privacy will affect our understanding of health disparities in the United States. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2020; 117(24):13405–12.
- 35. Ajayakumar J, Curtis AJ, Curtis J. Addressing the data guardian and geospatial scientist collaborator dilemma: how to share health records for spatial analysis while maintaining patient confidentiality. Int J Health Geogr 2019;18(1):30.
- 36. Tobler WR. A computer movie simulating urban growth in the Detroit region. Econ Geogr 1970;46(Suppl 1):234–40.
- 37. Anselin L. What is special about spatial data? Alternate perspectives on spatial data analysis. National Center for Geographic Information and Analysis; 1989. Accessed April 25, 2022. http://ncgia.ucsb.edu/technical-reports/PDF/89-4.pdf.
- Fotheringham AS, Wong DW. The modifiable areal unit problem in multivariate statistical analysis. Environ Plann A 1991;23(7):1025–44.
- 39. Fotheringham AS, Brunsdon C, Charlton M. Geographically weighted regression: the analysis of spatially varying relationships. John Wiley & Sons; 2003.
- 40. Delmelle EM, Desjardins MR, Jung P, Owusu C, Lan Y, Hohl A, et al. Uncertainty in geospatial health: challenges and opportunities ahead. Ann Epidemiol 2022;65:15–30.
- 41. Waller LA, Hill EG, Rudd RA. The geography of power: statistical performance of tests of clusters and clustering in heterogeneous populations. Stat Med 2006;25(5):853–65.
- 42. Choynowski M. Maps based on probabilities. J Am Stat Assoc 1959;54(286):385–8.
- 43. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Building GIS capacity for chronic disease surveillance. Updated June 24, 2020. Accessed April 25, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/ programs/gis training/index.htm.
- 44. Bleich SN, Zephyrin L, Blendon RJ. Addressing racial discrimination in US health care today. JAMA Health Forum 2021;2(3):e210192.
- 45. Douglas MD, Respress E, Gaglioti AH, Li C, Blount MA, Hopkins J, et al. Variation in reporting of the race and ethnicity of COVID-19 cases and deaths across US states: April 12, 2020, and November 9, 2020. Am J Public Health 2021; 111(6):1141–8.
- 46. Mennis J, Mason MJ, Cao Y. Qualitative GIS and the visualization of narrative activity space data. Int J Geogr Inf Sci 2013;27(2):267–91.
- 47. DeSalvo K, Hughes B, Bassett M, Benjamin G, Fraser M, Galea S, et al. Public health COVID-19 impact assessment: lessons learned and compelling needs. NAM Perspect 2021; 2021:10.31478/202104c.

- 48. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Data modernization initiative: strategic implementation plan. Updated December 22, 2021. Accessed April 25, 2022. https:// www.cdc.gov/surveillance/pdfs/FINAL-DMI-Implementation-Strategic-Plan-12-22-21.pdf.
- 49. National Research Council. Successful response starts with a map: improving geospatial support for disaster management. National Academies Press; 2007.
- 50. US Geological Survey. National Geospatial Program. The national map. 2022. Accessed April 25, 2022. https://www.usgs.gov/programs/national-geospatial-program/national-map.
- 51. Federal Geographic Data Committee. Disaster Risk Resilience Inititiative. 2022. Accessed April 25, 2022. https:// www.fgdc.gov/initiatives/disaster-risk-resilience/index html.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Volume 17, E58

JULY 2020

COMMENTARY

Incorporating Geographic Information Science and Technology in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Charlotte D. Smith, PhD¹; Jeremy Mennis, PhD²

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0246.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Smith CD, Mennis J. Incorporating Geographic Information Science and Technology in Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2020; 17:200246. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200246.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known about this topic?

Incorporating geographic information science and technology (GIS&T) into COVID-19 pandemic surveillance, modeling, and response enhances understanding and control of the disease.

What is added by this report?

Applications of GIS&T include developing spatial data infrastructures for surveillance and data sharing, incorporating mobility data in infectious disease forecasting, using geospatial technologies for digital contact tracing, integrating geographic data in COVID-19 modeling, investigating geographic social vulnerabilities and health disparities, and communicating the status of the disease or status of facilities for return-to-normal operations.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Protections for individual privacy and close collaboration among the fields of geography, medicine, public health, and public policy to use GIS&T are imperative.

Abstract

Incorporating geographic information science and technology (GIS&T) into COVID-19 pandemic surveillance, modeling, and response enhances understanding and control of the disease. Applications of GIS&T include 1) developing spatial data infrastructures for surveillance and data sharing, 2) incorporating mobility data in infectious disease forecasting, 3) using geospatial technologies for digital contact tracing, 4) integrating geographic data in COVID-19 modeling, 5) investigating geographic social vulnerabilities and health disparities, and 6) communicating the status of the disease or status of facilities for return-to-normal operations.

Locations and availability of personal protective equipment, ventilators, hospital beds, and other items can be optimized with the use of GIS&T. Challenges include protection of individual privacy and civil liberties and closer collaboration among the fields of geography, medicine, public health, and public policy.

Introduction

The spread of infectious disease is inherently a spatial process; therefore, geospatial data, technologies, and analytical methods play a critical role in understanding and responding to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. Geographic information science and technology (GIS&T) is the academic field centered on geospatial data and analysis. The field encompasses geographic information systems (GIS), spatial statistics and visualization, and location-based data derived from global navigation satellite systems (GNSS, eg, global positioning systems [GPS]) and remotely sensed imagery. Opportunities for incorporating GIS&T into COVID-19 pandemic surveillance, modeling, and response include 1) developing spatial data infrastructures (SDI) for surveillance and data sharing, 2) incorporating mobility data in infectious disease forecasting, 3) using geospatial technologies for digital contact tracing, 4) integrating geographic data in COVID-19 modeling, 5) investigating geographic health disparities and social vulnerabilities, and 6) communicating the status of the disease or status of facilities for return-to-normal operations. Locations and availability of personal protective equipment, ventilators, hospital beds, and other items can be optimized with the use of GIS&T.

Developing Spatial Data Infrastructures for COVID-19 Surveillance and Data Sharing

Current surveillance of COVID-19 at the national and global levels is built on lessons learned from maintaining previously developed databases of contamination and disease, such as FluNet



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0246.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

(1). Disease surveillance systems have been enhanced by the use of GIS for monitoring disease outbreaks, facilitating contact tracing, and evaluating the efficacy of interventions. For example, Zenilman et al described the application of GIS to a surveillance system for sexually transmitted diseases at the Fort Bragg military base (2). The assessment of various potential risk factors indicated that geography was the only variable positively associated with gonorrhea among study participants. The Connect to Protect program is an example of how researcher-community collaborations (or community-based participatory research) can assist program planners to efficiently use limited resources (3). Connect to Protect, a nongovernmental organization, uses GIS and community involvement to prioritize resources and outreach activities. The research team uses GIS to evaluate the geographic epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases and HIV among adolescents in 15 US cities and Puerto Rico. Their work led to a shift from traditional evaluations of condom use, number of sex partners, and demographic characteristics, to identification of sociophysical environments. The observation of clusters of cases in geographic areas informed research teams on where to apply interventions. The use of GIS supports the investigation of the social and environmental correlates of disease clusters, thereby facilitating targeted interventions and researcher-community collaborations to assist program planners to efficiently use limited resources (3).

An important aspect of monitoring the spread of infectious disease is spatial data infrastructure (SDI), composed of the human resources and institutions that create and maintain the foundation to which additional spatial data can be attached and used. Key components of an SDI include geospatial culture and awareness, resources for information and communications technology, common standards for data integration and interoperability, a legal framework for data security and privacy, a common lexicon, the use of robust statistical and epidemiological methods, and interdisciplinary collaboration and partnerships (4). Along with the SDI, the concepts of open data, crowd sourcing, and data sharing for georeferenced health data are important components of real-time infectious disease surveillance, particularly in under-resourced settings (5).

Maps play a key role in communicating the risks and spread of COVID-19 (6). Interactive web-based maps and dashboards present near-real-time data on morbidity, mortality, and recovery, as well as pandemic-related factors such as supply-chain quantities of personal protective equipment or therapeutics. A dashboard developed by Johns Hopkins University in collaboration with ESRI (Redlands, California), which originally showed the number of COVID-19 cases, deaths, and recoveries, was updated to show smaller geographic areas (ie, counties) and detailed infographics

(7). This type of infographic has been useful for tracking COVID-19 cases globally and for allocating resources and planning for "return-to-normal" conditions. Location-enabled infographics also allow for dissemination of knowledge on, for example, the readiness of facilities such as retail outlets to accept customers, or schools and campuses to reopen. An interactive dashboard (ESRI, Redlands, California), developed for faculty, staff, students, and administrators at the University of California, Berkeley, shows the status of custodians' efforts to disinfect university buildings (Figure). The dashboard is populated in real time as custodial staff members complete disinfection of rooms. The room number and type (eg, classroom, laboratory, bathroom), the date and time completed, and the product used for disinfection appear in a pop-up on the dashboard when the user selects a building.



Figure. An interactive dashboard for showing the status of disinfection of buildings during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic on the campus of the University of California, Berkeley.

The GIS&T community has long worked toward development of the National Spatial Data Infrastructure (NSDI) for the United States (8), an effort managed by the US Federal Geographic Data Committee (FGDC); facilitated by spatial data interoperability standards, such as those developed by the Open Geospatial Consortium (OGC); and recently bolstered by the Geospatial Data Act of 2018, a component of H.R.302, the FAA Reauthorization Act of 2018. The US NSDI is typically considered an infrastructure for geospatial framework data (eg, cadastral and transportation) and not necessarily health data; however, just as the events of September 11, 2001, catalyzed the development of enhanced spatial data sharing to support disaster response in the United States, the COVID-19 pandemic has the potential to spark the improvement of health data infrastructures to facilitate spatial data sharing and interoperability for health crisis response. A particular challenge is that SDIs for responding to a crisis like COVID-19 require sharing data not only among various national and international governments but, as with the US NSDI, also among various levels of government, including the federal, state, and county levels. Corporate partners also play a pivotal role in the development of SDI for pandemic response, because they have large sets of spatial data

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

on the mobility, purchasing, and web browsing behaviors of individuals and other relevant place-based and georeferenced data that may be useful in understanding disease dynamics. In addition, responding to a rapidly evolving health crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic requires pipelines for supplying health and related data in near real time, which presents challenges. Finally, privacy protection for individuals is paramount in developing useful SDIs for pandemic response. As with the US NSDI, initiative and management at the federal level is likely necessary to develop an SDI for pandemic response.

Incorporating Population and Mobility Data in COVID-19 Forecasting

Along with handwashing and social distancing, perhaps the foremost mitigation strategy for reducing person-to-person contact and transmission of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in the absence of pharmaceutical intervention is regulation restricting mobility (ie, human movement and travel behavior). Consequently, one key role for geospatial technologies in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic is monitoring population distribution and mobility through the use of social media and location-tracking applications embedded in mobile telephones that employ GNSS, cell phone tower connections, and/or wireless connections (9). Several corporate location-data collectors and vendors have released spatially aggregated COVID-19 pandemicrelated data on population mobility. These data have been widely used by the popular media to report on the effects of jurisdictional stay-at-home orders on population mobility and by researchers to analyze the efficacy of population mobility change for altering disease dynamics (10).

Modeling population distribution and mobility has a long history in GIS&T and focuses on fine-scale estimations of population distribution and mobility (11,12), most recently by using mobile telephone-based location data (13,14). The scholarly response to the pandemic marks a major advance in the incorporation of fineresolution data on population and individual mobility from geospatial technologies to understand disease dynamics and formulate effective intervention strategies. Because questions remain about the best way to measure and collect data on individual mobility, provide such data to researchers, and incorporate such mobility measures into infectious disease models, the COVID-19 pandemic provides an opportunity for testing methods for using such data to evaluate and forecast the effects of nonpharmaceutical interventions that restrict mobility. However, current legal frameworks and practices for preserving the privacy of individuals are obstacles to widespread adoption.

Using Geospatial Technologies for Digital Contact Tracing

Monitoring mobility at the individual level, in addition to the population level, has also emerged as an important use of geospatial technologies, particularly in its application to digital contact tracing. Conventional contact tracing, involving identifying, contacting, and encouraging quarantine for the people with whom an infected person has had close contact to mitigate disease transmission, is labor intensive. The process can be made more efficient and scaled up to large populations by exploiting individual digital mobility data, as well as data indicating proximity among mobile telephones using Bluetooth or related technologies, to computationally show close proximity among individuals (15). Such location data can be combined with health and other data that might indicate vulnerability to infection or disease. Individuals can then be contacted and given quarantine instructions automatically through mobile telephone text messages, or their future behavior may even be monitored to encourage or enforce quarantine. Such procedures have been used to some degree, in combination with population mobility restrictions, in an attempt to reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission in China, Israel, Singapore, and South Korea, among other nations, and developments for digital contact tracing technologies by the largest international technology companies continue (16).

Advances in GIS&T have been made in modeling the geographic trajectories of individuals throughout their daily lives, their interactions with other people, and their immediate environment using geographic and computational constructs such as activity space and space–time prisms (17–20). However, to leverage this body of research for digital contact tracing, progress needs to be made in developing, testing, and implementing digital contact tracing applications, including evaluations of behavioral compliance, efficacy, and scaling. Additionally, this approach raises concerns about confidentiality and civil liberties that need to be addressed before widespread adoption (21).

Integrating Geographic Data in COVID-19 Modeling

A strength of GIS is the ability to integrate diverse spatial data sets based on georeferencing, facilitating the integration of health data with contextual characteristics. Descriptive modeling research that leverages this capability has examined the spatial associations of COVID-19 with socioeconomic and environmental characteristics. This research found, for example, that lower income and income inequality (22), higher temperature and humidity (23), exposure to fine particulate air pollution (24), and mobility and transportation

networks (25,26) were associated with a higher prevalence of COVID-19 cases or mortality. GIS&T also offers approaches to investigating statistical spatial effects and spatial heterogeneity, such as spatial autoregressive models and geographically weighted regression, to account for modeling geographic processes such as spatial diffusion and the variation in relationships among variables over space (27,28). Recent research leveraged these approaches in demonstrating the spatial heterogeneity in the relationships among observed COVID-19 cases and mortality with geore-ferenced socioeconomic and environmental variables (22,29,30) and found that the influence of area-based socioeconomic status, pre-existing health conditions, and environmental characteristics on disease transmission may vary from place to place.

Computational infectious disease models are widely used to predict or forecast the spread of COVID-19 disease and the effects of intervention strategies. Predictive modeling approaches can be generally categorized as SEIR/SIR (susceptible, exposed, infected, and removed/recovered) (31), agent-based (32), or statistical modeling (33). Such modeling approaches are inherently geographic in the sense that they make predictions for certain areas or regions, although only some models contain an explicit spatial interaction component or forecast the spatial variation in disease incidence over small areas. Explicitly incorporating a spatial component into infectious disease models attempts to account for 1) place-based contextual mechanisms of infection or disease related to the socioeconomic, built, or natural environments, such as air pollution or type of employment, 2) spatial heterogeneity in the drivers of disease transmission, for example, where certain socioeconomic characteristics may be associated with disease prevalence in one region but not in another as a result of regional differences in culture or behavioral norms, and 3) transportation networks or patterns of human mobility to better account for disease transmission dynamics (34,35). Such approaches have been extended to modeling the spread of COVID-19, providing evidence that restrictions on mobility have mitigated the spread of COVID-19 in different parts of the world and aided in forecasts of disease diffusion under various scenarios of mobility restriction (36,37).

Spatial transportation and mobility data can play an important role in forecasting disease prevalence, where, for example, the effect of nonpharmaceutical interventions (eg, restrictions on mobility) on city-level transmission of COVID-19 in China was analyzed using mobility data harvested from mobile telephone location-based services. This method allows one to parameterize the local contact rate and forecast the geographic distribution of disease prevalence under different intervention timing scenarios (37). Related approaches to modeling the spread of COVID-19 also incorporated airline transportation networks (38) and were extended to other countries with extensive COVID-19 outbreaks, such as Italy (36), providing substantial evidence that restrictions on mobility have mitigated the spread of COVID-19 in different parts of the world.

Investigating Geographic Health Disparities of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Indices of social vulnerability are place-based variables that incorporate factors such as race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status to encode the vulnerability to adverse health outcomes and other types of hazards (39). Community social vulnerability, along with health care resources, plays an important role in predicting health care capacity in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic (40). Social vulnerability can interact with pre-existing medical conditions and access to medical resources, such as prescription drugs, to produce inequities in COVID-19 outcomes (41). People with underlying medical conditions, such as asthma, obesity, and diabetes, as well as people who are immunocompromised or aged 65 or older are at higher risk of serious consequences from SARS-CoV-2 infection than their healthier or younger counterparts. Because such medical conditions are often concentrated geographically and among certain demographic groups, understanding the spatial and demographic distribution of these conditions is critical to investigating health disparities associated with COVID-19. For example, COVID-19 morbidity and mortality are higher among African American and Hispanic people than among non-Hispanic white people (42). Such racial/ethnic disparities highlight the importance of efficient collection of socioeconomic, demographic, and other data among people with COVID-19.

Resources for investigating COVID-19-related social disparities include publicly available data on COVID-19 cases by small areas, such as zip codes (43), although such data are not widely available at a national level. The same issue exists for fine spatial resolution data on social vulnerability. The Public Health Disparities Geocoding Project at the Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health seeks to address this latter shortcoming (44). Researchers should understand the geographic and historical background of discrimination and resource deprivation that may produce placebased social vulnerabilities, to avoid stigmatizing or placing blame on certain communities. An understanding of the social determinants and structural forces, such as food insecurity, housing insecurity, and disparities in educational or health care infrastructure, that can influence health outcomes such as obesity, hypertension, and certain types of cancer, is important.

The multidimensional social, economic, and health consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic are geographically inequitable: some places and populations have greater social, economic, health and other effects than other places and populations. Beyond the need

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

to identify such factors as lack of access to resources or the prevalence of pre-existing health conditions is the need to recognize and understand the mechanisms of vulnerability that have been in place and led to the exacerbation of the COVID-19 crisis in some communities. Community recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic requires incorporation of social, economic, and health components and an emphasis on investigating how place shapes the uneven effect of COVID-19.

Implications for Public Health

We have outlined how GIS&T can be used for understanding and responding to the COVID-19 pandemic and future infectious disease epidemics and pandemics. Central to this understanding and response is a commitment for the use of GIS and geospatial technologies as the platform for collecting, integrating, and analyzing georeferenced data on the locations and characteristics of individuals and the spatial distribution of socioeconomic, health, and built and natural environmental characteristics. Geospatial resources for COVID-19 response are available through several organizations, including the University Consortium for Geographic Information Science (www.ucgis.org/covid-19-resources), the OGC (www.ogc.org/resources-for-COVID-19-from-ogc), and the National Alliance for Public Safety GIS Foundation (www.napsgfoundation.org/resources/covid-19).

Leveraging GIS&T for responding to the COVID-19 pandemic requires a close and extensive collaboration between researchers in the fields of geography, medicine, public health, and public policy. The field of GIS&T has a long history of research in data synthesis, statistical modeling, and computational simulation for spatial data and applications. Recognizing that GIS&T is a theoretical and scientific approach rather than simply a set of analytical tools will facilitate transdisciplinary collaboration. Advances in preserving individual privacy and civil liberties in the age of big spatial data, where geospatial technologies generate massive repositories of individual-level data on movement, health, and behavior widely available, are also necessary. These advances will likely require enhanced government regulations, corporate policies, and technological innovations in data sharing and privacy protection.

The COVID-19 pandemic is still in the beginning phase, and the research community is continuing to learn and revise the best way to respond to this global public health crisis. Geospatial data, methods, and technologies have a crucial role to play in understanding and responding to the pandemic, and the lessons learned on the use of GIS&T for pandemic response at this time should enhance preparedness and response for future public health crises.

Acknowledgments

No copyrighted materials were used in the preparation of this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Charlotte D. Smith, School of Public Health, 2121 Berkeley Way #5302, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA 94720. Telephone: 935-377-1891. Email: charlottesmith@berkeley.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹University of California, Berkeley, School of Public Health, Berkeley, California. ²Temple University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

References

- 1. Flahault A, Blanchon T, Dorléans Y, Toubiana L, Vibert JF, Valleron AJ. Virtual surveillance of communicable diseases: a 20-year experience in France. Stat Methods Med Res 2006; 15(5):413–21.
- 2. Zenilman JM, Glass G, Shields T, Jenkins PR, Gaydos JC, McKee KT Jr. Geographic epidemiology of gonorrhoea and chlamydia on a large military installation: application of a GIS system. Sex Transm Infect 2002;78(1):40–4.
- 3. Geanuracos CG, Cunningham SD, Weiss G, Forte D, Henry Reid LM, Ellen JM. Use of geographic information systems for planning HIV prevention interventions for high-risk youths. Am J Public Health 2007;97(11):1974–81.
- 4. Boulos MNK. Towards evidence-based, GIS-driven national spatial health information infrastructure and surveillance services in the United Kingdom. Int J Health Geogr 2004; 3(1):1.
- 5. National Center for Health Statistics. Healthy People 2010snapshots. Healthy People 2010 final review: overview and selected findings. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/healthy_people/hp2010/hp2010_snapshots.htm. Accessed June 15, 2020.
- 6. Adam M, Bärnighausen T, McMahon SA. Design for extreme scalability: a wordless, globally scalable COVID-19 prevention animation for rapid public health communication. J Glob Health 2020;10(1):010343.
- 7. Johns Hopkins University & Medicine Coronavirus Resource Center. COVID-19 United States cases by county. https:// coronavirus.jhu.edu/us-map. Accessed June 15, 2020.

- 8. Federal Geographic Data Committee. National spatial data infrastructure strategic plan 2014–2016. 2013. https:// www.fgdc.gov/nsdi-plan/nsdi-strategic-plan-2014-2016-FINAL.pdf. Accessed June 15, 2020.
- 9. Buckee CO, Balsari S, Chan J, Crosas M, Dominici F, Gasser U, et al. Aggregated mobility data could help fight COVID-19. Science 2020;368(6487):145–6.
- Kraemer MUG, Yang C-H, Gutierrez B, Wu C-H, Klein B, Pigott DM, et al.; Open COVID-19 Data Working Group. The effect of human mobility and control measures on the COVID-19 epidemic in China. Science 2020;368(6490):493–7.
- 11. Mennis J. Generating surface models of population using dasymetric mapping. Prof Geogr 2003;55(1):31-42.
- 12. Leyk S, Gaughan AE, Adamo SB, de Sherbinin A, Balk D, Freire S, et al. The spatial allocation of population: a review of large-scale gridded population data products and their fitness for use. Earth Syst Sci Data 2019;11(3):1385–409.
- 13. Deville P, Linard C, Martin S, Gilbert M, Stevens FR, Gaughan AE, et al. Dynamic population mapping using mobile phone data. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014;111(45):15888–93.
- 14. González MC, Hidalgo CA, Barabási A-L. Understanding individual human mobility patterns. Nature 2008; 453(7196):779–82.
- Ferretti L, Wymant C, Kendall M, Zhao L, Nurtay A, Abeler-Dörner L, et al. Quantifying SARS-CoV-2 transmission suggests epidemic control with digital contact tracing. Science 2020;368(6491):368.
- 16. Kamel Boulos MN, Geraghty EM. Geographical tracking and mapping of coronavirus disease COVID-19/severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) epidemic and associated events around the world: how 21st century GIS technologies are supporting the global fight against outbreaks and epidemics. Int J Health Geogr 2020;19(1):8.
- 17. Mennis J, Mason MJ, Cao Y. Qualitative GIS and the visualization of narrative activity space data. Int J Geogr Inf Sci 2013;27(2):267–91.
- Miller HJ, Jaegal Y, Raubal M. Measuring the geometric and semantic similarity of space-time prisms using temporal signatures. Ann Am Assoc Geogr 2019;109(3):730-53.
- 19. Kwan M-P, Weber J. Individual accessibility revisited: implications for geographical analysis in the twenty-first century. Geogr Anal 2003;35(4):341–53.
- 20. Chen BY, Wang Y, Wang D, Li Q, Lam WHK, Shaw S-L. Understanding the impacts of human mobility on accessibility using massive mobile phone tracking data. Ann Assoc Am Geogr 2018;108(4):1115–33.
- 21. Ienca M, Vayena E. On the responsible use of digital data to tackle the COVID-19 pandemic. Nat Med 2020;26(4):463–4.

- 22. Mollalo A, Vahedi B, Rivera KM. GIS-based spatial modeling of COVID-19 incidence rate in the continental United States. Sci Total Environ 2020;728:138884.
- 23. Ma Y, Zhao Y, Liu J, He X, Wang B, Fu S, et al. Effects of temperature variation and humidity on the death of COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. Sci Total Environ 2020;724:138226.
- 24. Wu X, Nethery RC, Sabath BM, Braun D, Dominici F. Exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States: a nationwide cross-sectional study. medRxiv 2020;2020.04.05.20054502.
- 25. Liu L. Emerging study on the transmission of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) from urban perspective: evidence from China. Cities 2020;103:102759.
- 26. Liu K, Ai S, Song S, Zhu G, Tian F, Li H, et al. Population movement, city closure in Wuhan and geographical expansion of the 2019-nCoV pneumonia infection in China in January 2020. Clin Infect Dis 2020;ciaa422.
- 27. Anselin L. Spatial externalities, spatial multipliers, and spatial econometrics. Int Reg Sci Rev 2003;26(2):153–66.
- 28. Brunsdon C, Fotheringham AS, Charlton ME. Geographically weighted regression: a method for exploring spatial nonstationarity. Geogr Anal 1996;28(4):281–98.
- 29. Adekunle IA, Onanuga AT, Akinola OO, Ogunbanjo OW. Modelling spatial variations of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) in Africa. Sci Total Environ 2020;729:138998.
- 30. Gilbert M, Pullano G, Pinotti F, Valdano E, Poletto C, Boëlle P-Y, et al. Preparedness and vulnerability of African countries against importations of COVID-19: a modelling study. Lancet 2020;395(10227):871–7.
- 31. Ferguson N, Laydon D, Nedjati Gilani G, Imai N, Ainslie K, Baguelin M, et al.Report 9: impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) to reduce COVID 19 mortality and healthcare demand. Imperial College London; 2020. https:// www.imperial.ac.uk/media/imperial-college/medicine/sph/ide/ gida-fellowships/Imperial-College-COVID19-NPI-modelling-16-03-2020.pdf. Accessed June 17, 2020.
- 32. Chinazzi M, Davis JT, Ajelli M, Gioannini C, Litvinova M, Merler S, et al. The effect of travel restrictions on the spread of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak. Science 2020;368(6489):395–400.
- 33. IHME COVID-19 Health Service Utilization Forecasting Team, Murray CJL. Forecasting COVID-19 impact on hospital bed-days, ICU-days, ventilator-days and deaths by US state in the next 4 months. medRxiv 2020;2020.03.27.20043752.
- 34. Balcan D, Colizza V, Gonçalves B, Hu H, Ramasco JJ, Vespignani A. Multiscale mobility networks and the spatial spreading of infectious diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106(51):21484–9.

- 35. Gatto M, Mari L, Bertuzzo E, Casagrandi R, Righetto L, Rodriguez-Iturbe I, et al. Generalized reproduction numbers and the prediction of patterns in waterborne disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012;109(48):19703–8.
- 36. Gatto M, Bertuzzo E, Mari L, Miccoli S, Carraro L, Casagrandi R, et al. Spread and dynamics of the COVID-19 epidemic in Italy: Effects of emergency containment measures. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2020;117(19):10484–91.
- 37. Lai S, Ruktanonchai NW, Zhou L, Prosper O, Luo W, Floyd JR, et al. Effect of non-pharmaceutical interventions to contain COVID-19 in China. Nature 2020:1–7.
- 38. Wu JT, Leung K, Leung GM. Nowcasting and forecasting the potential domestic and international spread of the 2019-nCoV outbreak originating in Wuhan, China: a modelling study. Lancet 2020;395(10225):689–97.
- 39. Flanagan BE, Hallisey EJ, Adams E, Lavery A. Measuring community vulnerability to natural and anthropogenic hazards: the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Social Vulnerability Index. J Environ Health 2018;80(10):34–6.
- 40. Requia WJ, Kondo EK, Adams MD, Gold DR, Struchiner CJ. Risk of the Brazilian health care system over 5572 municipalities to exceed health care capacity due to the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19). Sci Total Environ 2020; 730:139144.
- 41. Feldman CH, Ramsey-Goldman R. Widening disparities among patients with rheumatic diseases in the COVID-19 era: an urgent call to action. Arthritis Rheumatol 2020;art.41306.
- 42. Krieger N, Gonsalves G, Bassett MT, Hanage W, Krumholz HM. The fierce urgency of now: closing glaring gaps in US surveillance data on COVID-19. Health Affairs [blog]. April 14, 2020. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/ hblog20200414.238084/full. Accessed June 15, 2020.
- 43. City of New York. Percent of patients testing positive for COVID-19 by ZIP code in New York City as of April 13, 2020. https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/doh/downloads/pdf/imm/ covid-19-data-map-04132020-1.pdf. Accessed June 15, 2020.
- 44. Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health. The Public Health Disparities Geocoding Project Monograph. COVID-19 Resources. 2020. https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ thegeocodingproject/covid-19-resources. Accessed June 15, 2020.

Volume 19, E35

JUNE 2022

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Enabling Hotspot Detection and Public Health Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Randi Foraker, PhD, MA^{1,2}; Joshua Landman, MS³; Ian Lackey²; Matthew D. Haslam, MSc⁴; Alison L. Antes, PhD^{2,5}; Dennis Goldfarb, PhD^{2,6}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0425.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Foraker R, Landman J, Lackey I, Haslam MD, Antes AL, Goldfarb D. Enabling Hotspot Detection and Public Health Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210425. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.5888/pcd19.210425.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is known on this topic?

Having detailed geographic information on patients affected by the COVID-19 pandemic would allow public health professionals to tailor their efforts and improve future outcomes.

What is added by this report?

We built a real-time, interactive, street-level visualization of patients with a COVID-19–positive test to show emerging patterns in relation to disease prevalence and demographic characteristics of patients.

What are the implications for public health practice?

We expect this tool to aid public health professionals in mapping disease cases with more granularity and gaining real-time insight into COVID-19 hotspot development.

Abstract

Introduction

Public-facing maps of COVID-19 cases, hospital admissions, and deaths are commonly displayed at the state, county, and zip code levels, and low case counts are suppressed to protect confidentiality. Public health authorities are tasked with case identification, contact tracing, and canvasing for educational purposes during a pandemic. Given limited resources, authorities would benefit from the ability to tailor their efforts to a particular neighborhood or congregate living facility.

Methods

We describe the methods of building a real-time visualization of patients with COVID-19–positive tests, which facilitates timely public health response to the pandemic. We developed an interactive street-level visualization that shows new cases developing over time and resolving after 14 days of infection. Our source data included patient demographics (ie, age, race and ethnicity, and sex), street address of residence, respiratory test results, and date of test.

Results

We used colored dots to represent infections. The resulting animation shows where new cases developed in the region and how patterns changed over the course of the pandemic. Users can enlarge specific areas of the map and see street-level detail on residential location of each case and can select from demographic overlays and contour mapping options to see high-level patterns and associations with demographics and chronic disease prevalence as they emerge.

Conclusions

Before the development of this tool, local public health departments in our region did not have a means to map cases of disease to the street level and gain real-time insights into the underlying population where hotspots had developed. For privacy reasons, this tool is password-protected and not available to the public. We expect this tool to prove useful to public health departments as they navigate not only COVID-19 pandemic outcomes but also other public health threats, including chronic diseases and communicable disease outbreaks.

Introduction

Public-facing maps of COVID-19 cases, hospital admissions, deaths, and vaccination rates are commonly displayed at the state, county, and zip code levels, and low case counts are suppressed to protect confidentiality (1). Although state laws and public health departmental regulations vary, a standard approach is used to suppress case counts of fewer than 10 (2). Geographically, this approach applies to areas smaller than a county (ie, zip codes and US



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0425.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Census tracts), and case counts are not typically suppressed at the county or state level.

An exception to this rule can be made if data are to be used for quality improvement purposes. Public health departments may prepare reports for internal use that do not suppress case counts. However, such reports cannot be publicly disclosed without approval from a public health authority. Small case counts may be released during a public health emergency, in which, for example, a threat of person-to-person transmission of a communicable disease exists and action must be taken to protect public health.

Public health authorities at the local, regional, and state levels are tasked with case identification, contact tracing, and canvasing for educational purposes during a pandemic. Such authorities have been asked to track vaccination implementation geographically to help ensure equitable distribution of vaccines. Given limited resources, conducting these activities across an entire jurisdiction (ie, a county) or zip code area can be daunting. Rather than being assigned to a high-risk zip code in which to perform public health activities associated with the pandemic, authorities would benefit from the ability to tailor their efforts to a particular neighborhood or congregate living facility.

To address the immediate needs of public health authorities to effectively respond to hotspots of infection in real time, we developed an interactive street-level visualization that shows new cases developing over time and resolving after 14 days of infection. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) considers residential address to be a direct identifier that must be removed for data to be considered de-identified (3). Thus, access to the identifiable data and visualizations must be restricted to authorized personnel who are proficient data stewards, especially given that such data could be used in harmful ways (4). For privacy reasons, this tool is password-protected and not available to the public. In this article, we describe the methods of building a real-time visualization of patients with COVID-19–positive tests, which facilitates timely public health response to the pandemic.

Methods

We programmed the disease visualization tool using Data-Driven Documents (D³, version 6, d3js.org). We chose D³ for its flexibility and ability to create an animated, interactive map. Our source data for the visualization included patient demographics (ie, age, race and ethnicity, and sex), street address of residence, respiratory test results for influenza and SARS-CoV-2, and date of test. Our case data were provided by regional health systems (5). Project source code is available at https://github.com/i2wustl/visualization-ui. Additional data that could easily be linked and integrated by zip code included that from the US Census Bureau's decennial census or estimates from the American Community Survey (6) to provide sociodemographic and socioeconomic context to the visualization, as well as county-level data on prevalence of chronic disease from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (7). We also enabled the use of cancer surveillance and diabetes data, of most interest to stakeholders in our region. Although our goal was to present data at a more granular geographic level, many publicly available sources of data limit our ability to present data at smaller units of geography (ie, US Census tract or block group).

Two-dimensional density plots of case counts were computed using kernel density estimation with empirically chosen values for bandwidth and cell size for each zoom level. The resulting visualization was optimized to balance visual comprehension, aesthetics, and computational performance. The density is presented as cases per square kilometer (cases/km²) around the census tract centroid. We preprocessed the residential address data using ArcGIS version 10.8.1 (Esri), yielding longitude and latitude coordinates for each record.

For the publication figures, locations underwent 2 masking steps that are described by Haley et al (8). First, a uniform random perturbation was applied in which we added random numbers between -0.01 and 0.01 to each point's latitude and longitude, which corresponds to approximately 1.7 km^2 . Next, we performed point aggregation in which each point's latitude and longitude were rounded to the nearest 0.01 km^2 , corresponding to an approximately 0.85 km^2 -spaced grid. However, the points are not shuffled in the tool when authorized users are logged in.

Results

The resulting visualization (Figure 1) used colored dots to represent influenza (purple) and SARS-CoV-2 (red) infections. Each dot corresponded to a positive case. Fourteen days after the date of the respiratory test, we considered the case resolved and removed the dot from the visualization. The visualization is activated with a play button and can be paused, rewound, or fast-forwarded to a specific date. The resulting animation shows where new cases developed in the region and how patterns changed over the course of the pandemic. Blue dots corresponded to a hospital (dark blue) or testing site (light blue). The screen shot of the animation shown in Figure 1 has case coordinates shuffled for privacy protection.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.



Figure 1. Screenshot of an animation of the disease visualization tool, showing influenza (purple dots) and SARS-CoV-2 (red dots) infections developing and resolving over time. Dark blue dots correspond to hospitals, and light blue dots correspond to testing sites. Case coordinates are shuffled for privacy protection.

The display of case coordinates as well as hospitals and testing sites can be switched on and off (left margin of the visualization) to see only cases of COVID-19 or influenza, for example. Of note, the design of the application is flexible to incorporate other types of health outcomes such as admissions, deaths, and vaccinations. Layers can be added (left margin of the visualization) to show prevalence of chronic disease, sociodemographic characteristics, or socioeconomic characteristics of the zip code or county across the region.

Another view of the visualization (Figure 2) uses a heatmap to show how the density of cases per population changes over time. Darker shades correspond to a higher density of cases. As in Figure 1, we resolved cases after 14 days, and the visualization is set in motion with a play button and can be paused, rewound, or fastforwarded to a specific date. The resulting animation shows where hotspots of COVID-19 developed in the region and how patterns changed over the course of the pandemic. The screen shot of the animation, shown in Figure 2, is based on Figure 1, which had case coordinates shuffled for privacy protection.



Figure 2. Screenshot of a heatmap animation of the disease visualization tool, showing respiratory virus infection (ie, influenza or SARS-CoV-2) hotspots developing and resolving over time. Case coordinates are shuffled for privacy protection.

We created a secure, password-protected web portal by which approved users can access the application. Users are able to enlarge specific areas of the map and see detail on street-level residential location of each outcome. Tools can be programmed to allow users to select from demographic overlays and contour mapping options to see high-level patterns and associations as they emerge. Additional functionality allows the user to select specific areas on the map to find out more about the demographic distribution of age, race and ethnicity, and sex among outcomes in a particular geographic area.

Conclusion

Our efforts are critical given that the COVID-19 pandemic and other public health threats are not respectful of geopolitical boundaries. Publicly available and easily sharable data at the zip code, county, and state levels are not sufficient to enable a precise public health pandemic response. We demonstrated that an opensource solution can be applied to support public health authorities in conducting their case identification and contact tracing activities in the midst of a crisis.

Before the development of this tool, local public health departments did not have a means to map cases of disease to the street level and gain real-time insights into the underlying population where hotspots had developed. The data visualization tool we created addresses this gap and is expected to provide the necessary data-driven insights that will facilitate a timely public health response to the pandemic.

Feasibility assessments should be conducted to evaluate whether the tool meets the needs of the end users and to ensure that sufficient resources are available to act on the disease hotspots that are

detected by the tool. Following implementation of the data visualization tool, its utility should be assessed to determine if additional functionality is needed or if the tool can be expanded or in some cases simplified to meet the demands of stakeholders during a pandemic.

A strength of our visualization is that it can be programmed to display other types of public health and COVID-19 outcomes such as hospital admissions, deaths, and vaccinations. We created a lightweight, secure application to address the immediate needs of our region in terms of case identification and contact tracing. We expect this tool to prove useful to public health departments as they navigate not only the COVID-19 pandemic but also other public health threats and communicable disease outbreaks.

Realizing the potential benefits of mapping infections to the street level requires attending to legal issues and ethical responsibilities and mitigating potential risks. Tracking infection at this level of granularity could infringe on individual rights to privacy and confidentiality, which must be balanced by the benefits of this activity for public good (9). As previously stated, HIPAA specifies residential address as a direct identifier (3), and only authorized personnel should have access (4). Data accuracy and validation must be addressed for the tool to realize its intended utility (10). Given that many data sets are incomplete and that data sharing among institutions remains a challenge, this should be monitored going forward (5). Public health practitioners should evaluate for benefits and harms to safeguard trustworthiness, while being mindful that harms could be unevenly distributed among different communities (11).

In conclusion, we aim to share these insights in support of a precision public health approach to an ongoing pandemic. This tool could also be scaled in response to other health outcome tracking needs. Legal and ethical considerations must be aligned with this effort to ensure that data are accessed and used appropriately while protecting privacy and confidentiality.

Acknowledgments

No copyrighted materials or tools were used in this research.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Randi Foraker, PhD, MA, Division of General Medical Sciences, Department of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, 600 S Taylor Ave, St. Louis, MO 63110. Telephone: 314-273-2211. Email: randi.foraker@wustl.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Division of General Medical Sciences, Department of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, St. Louis, Missouri. ²Institute for Informatics, Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, St. Louis, Missouri. ³Division of Computational and Data Sciences, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, Missouri. ⁴Department of Health, City of St. Louis, St. Louis, Missouri. ⁵Bioethics Research Center, Division of General Medical Sciences, Department of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, St. Louis, Missouri. ⁶Department of Cell Biology and Physiology at Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, St. Louis, Missouri.

References

- 1. National Center for Health Statistics: staff manual on confidentiality. Hyattsville (MD): National Center for Health Statistics.
- Healthy People 2010: criteria for data suppression. Hyattsville (MD): National Center for Health Statistics.
- 3. US Department of Health and Human Services. The HIPAA privacy rule. Accessed March 11, 2019. https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/index.html
- 4. Olvingson C, Hallberg J, Timpka T, Lindqvist K. Ethical issues in public health informatics: implications for system design when sharing geographic information. J Biomed Inform 2002;35(3):178–85.
- 5. Foraker RE, Lai AM, Kannampallil TG, Woeltje KF, Trolard AM, Payne PRO. Transmission dynamics: data sharing in the COVID-19 era. Learning Health Systems 2020;e10235.
- 6. US Census Bureau. Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. Accessed March 8, 2022. https://www.census.gov/topics/ preparedness/events/pandemics/covid-19.html
- 7. Silva NM. The Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. Int J Aging Hum Dev 2014;79(4):336–8.
- 8. Haley DF, Matthews SA, Cooper HLF, Haardörfer R, Adimora AA, Wingood GM, et al. Confidentiality considerations for use of social-spatial data on the social determinants of health: sexual and reproductive health case study. Soc Sci Med 2016; 166:49–56.
- 9. Childress JF, Faden RR, Gaare RD, Gostin LO, Kahn J, Bonnie RJ, et al. Public health ethics: mapping the terrain. J Law Med Ethics 2002;30(2):170–8.
- Krieger N, Waterman P, Lemieux K, Zierler S, Hogan JW. On the wrong side of the tracts? Evaluating the accuracy of geocoding in public health research. Am J Public Health 2001; 91(7):1114–6.
- 11. Shi J, van der Maas M, Turner NE, Potenza MN. Expanding on the multidisciplinary stakeholder framework to minimize harms for problematic risk-taking involving emerging technologies. J Behav Addict 2021;9(4):886–97.

Volume 17, E124

OCTOBER 2020

RESEARCH BRIEF

Variation in Risk of COVID-19 Infection and Predictors of Social Determinants of Health in Miami–Dade County, Florida

Imelda K. Moise, PhD, MPH¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20 0358.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Moise IK. Variation in Risk of COVID-19 Infection and Predictors of Social Determinants of Health in Miami–Dade County, Florida. Prev Chronic Dis 2020; 17:200358. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200358.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known about this subject?

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) continues to have a disproportionate impact on certain populations in the United States, particularly racial and ethnic minorities and people with underlying medical conditions.

What is added by this report?

By August 19, 2020, Miami–Dade County accounted for 25% of all new COVID-19 cases reported in Florida. The positive association between a social disadvantage index and COVID-19 rates reflects the localized social networks and neighborhood social disadvantage. In addition, in Miami–Dade County, Florida, COVID-19 is localized to specific geographic areas.

What are the implications for public health practice?

COVID-19 infections are associated with socioeconomically vulnerable groups or areas, indicating a need for place-based and policy-level strategies or social protection policies that protect vulnerable social groups (eg, children, older adults, and single parent households).

Abstract

Miami–Dade County zip code–level (N = 91 zip codes) coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases (N = 89,556 as of July 21, 2020) reported from the Florida Department of Health were used to estimate rates of COVID-19 per 1,000 population at the census block group level (N = 1,594 study block groups). To identify associations between rates of COVID-19 infections and multidimensional indexes of social determinants of health (SDOH) across Miami–Dade County, Florida, I applied a global model (ordinary least squares) and a local regression model (geographically weighted regression). Findings indicated that a social disadvantage index positively affected COVID-19 infection rates, whereas a socioeconomic status and opportunity index and a convergence of vulnerability index had an inverse but significant connection to COVID-19 infection rates over the study area. Rates of COVID-19 infections were localized to specific geographic areas and ranged from 0 to 60.75 per 1,000 population per square mile.

Objective

By August 19, 2020, Miami-Dade County accounted for 25% (148,093) of all new coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases (N = 584,047) reported in Florida (1). Of particular concern is COVID-19's effect on vulnerable populations, such as minorities and people with chronic disease, and its linkage to social determinants of health (SDOH) (2,3). According to Healthy People 2030, SDOH (poverty, unequal access to health care, lack of education, and social conditions) affects a wide range of health, functioning, and quality of life outcomes (4). The SDOH also exacerbate health outcomes for vulnerable populations (5-7). The Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention reported that almost all people (94%) who died of COVID-19 in the United States had at least 1 underlying medical condition (8). A recent study also found overlaps in rates of COVID-19 infection and chronic disease (9). Therefore, finding effective ways to recognize the features that influence disadvantaged populations during a pandemic and to intervene is a persistent problem facing public health. The objective of this study is to quantify different SDOH indexes, examine the measures of these indexes on rates of COVID-19 infections, and determine the spatial variation in COVID-19 risk across census block groups in Miami-Dade County, Florida.

Methods

Confirmed data on the number of COVID-19 cases at the zip code level (N = 91 Miami–Dade County zip codes) as of July 21, 2020, were obtained from the Florida Department of Health COVID-19 Data and Surveillance Dashboard (1). COVID-19 data are reported only at large geographic levels (city, zip code, or county),



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0358.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

which can mask small area variations (10) such as those occurring at the census block group level where improvements in health outcomes are most needed. Therefore, I used areal interpolation, a kriging-based disaggregation technique. A major advantage of areal interpolation is that it estimates data across different spatial aggregation units (eg, zip codes) and across units missing data (eg, census block groups) to produce a smoothed surface map of COVID-19 infection rates (11). I used the following parameters: a spherical model, a lag distance of 1,000 meters, and I limited the number of block groups in the prediction to 4 neighbors. The predicted data fit best when the model type was K-Bessel and the number of lags was 12, and all other inputs were set to default. Rates of COVID-19 infections per zip code per 1,000 population were calculated before areal interpolation.

Census block group level indicators were obtained from the US American Community Survey (ACS) 5-year estimates (2014-2018) (12). The 15 measures of social and neighborhood factors commonly reported as influencing health outcomes and common to several SDOH frameworks (12) were reduced to 3 indexes by using a principal components analysis (PCA) interpreted as signs of socioeconomic status and opportunity index (SESOI), social disadvantage index (SDI), and convergence of vulnerability index (CVI) (Table). The benefit of PCA is that it produces a new set of uncorrelated measures as a linear grouping of the initial measures and describes as much of the initial variation as possible. Contrary to a similar index construction study (13), this study's results were not consistent with a hypothesis of equal significance of measures in the indexes (eg, predefined measure set). Such measures, for example, did not adequately represent SES for the study area.

The eigenvalue for the SESOI was 6.266, and it explained 41.8% of the variance. The eigenvalue for the SDI was 1.83, and for the CVI was 1.61. The SDI and CVI indexes explained 12.2% and 10.7% of the variance, respectively. To determine the dominant measures in each principal component, the cutoff measure loading of 0.30 for the component was used, which is common practice in the literature. Quintiles maps were generated by using the ArcGIS software version 10.5 (Esri) to visualize census block group level COVID-19 infection rates compared with zip code-level rates (Figure 1) and composite measures (Figure 2). I used ordinary least squares (OLS) for global regression rather than geographically weighted regression (GWR) by using the MGWR version 2.2 software (Microsoft Corp) to identify associations between rates of COVID-19 infections and the SDOH multidimensional indexes across Miami-Dade County, Florida. The model was set as COVID-19 rates = $\beta_0 + \beta_1$ SESOI + β_2 SDI + β_{23} CVI + ϵ . β_0 and β_1 were the regression coefficients and ε was the model random

error. The Akaike information criterion (AIC) was used to assess goodness of fit between the 2 models.



Figure 1. Map A shows estimated census block group level COVID-19 rates per 1,000 population for Miami-Dade County, Florida (generated with areal interpolation) based on zip code level rates. Map B is the same map as A but at a larger geographic area of zip codes. Data are for the 89,556 confirmed cases of COVID-19 reported as of July 21, 2020, in the Florida Department of Health COVID-19 Data and Surveillance Dashboard. Maps show rates (by quintiles) per 1,000 population.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.



Figure 2. Maps of selected composite measures of 3 social determinants of health indexes for census block groups in Miami–Dade County, Florida: socioeconomic status and opportunity index, social disadvantage index, and convergence of vulnerability index. Abbreviation: SES, socioeconomic status.

Results

A total of 89,556 confirmed COVID-19 cases were reported in Miami–Dade County during the study period. The social disadvantage index was a better predictor of COVID-19 infections ($F_{2, 1,584} = 75.83$; P < .001) compared to the SESOI or the CVI, which suggests a need for policy-level strategies or social protection systems for vulnerable social groups (eg, children, older adults, single parent households). When comparing the OLS model with GWR AIC values, the AIC values show that both models perform roughly the same (GWR, 4,326.972 vs OLS, 4,327.199; adjusted R^2 , 0.120 vs 0.122), with the GWR model being slightly favored. Therefore, reported results are from the global model, which show that a 1-unit increase in social disadvantage is associated with a 0.279% increase in the rates of COVID-19 (P < .001). In contrast, the SESOI and convergence of vulnerability index had a negative relationship with rates of COVID-19 infection. The SDI has more spatial heterogeneity than the SESOI or the CVI (Figure 2). Rates of COVID-19 infections were localized to specific Miami–Dade census block groups and ranged from 0 to 60.75 per 1,000 population per square mile.

Discussion

With the increasing number of COVID-19 cases in Miami–Dade County (from 62,430 cases on July 21, 2020, to 164,299 on September 15, 2020), a central focus of public health efforts should be limiting fatalities. In addition, exploring the heterogeneity of spatial relationships could provide more insights into placebased and policy-level strategies that protect vulnerable social groups. A limitation of this study is its reliance on the Florida Department of Health COVID-19 Dashboard; therefore, the reported cases may be an underestimation. Regardless, the methods used in this study demonstrate that geospatial analyses are powerful tools for estimating health events.

Acknowledgments

No funding was secured for this study. The author has no financial relationships relevant to this article and no conflicts of interest to disclose. No copyrighted surveys, instruments, or tools were used in this secondary data analysis.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Imelda K. Moise, PhD, MPH, Department of Geography and Regional Studies, University of Miami, 1300 Campo Sano Ave, Coral Gables, FL 33124. Telephone: 305-284-2360. Email: moise@miami.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Geography and Regional Studies, University of Miami, Coral Gables, Florida.

References

- 1. Florida Department of Health. Florida's COVID-19 Data and Surveillance Dashboard: Division of Disease Control and Health Prevention. https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/ 96dd742462124fa0b38ddedb9b25e429. Accessed July 21, 2020.
- 2. Webb Hooper M, Nápoles AM, Pérez-Stable EJ. COVID-19 and racial/ethnic disparities. JAMA 2020;323(24):2466–7.
- 3. Holtgrave DR, Barranco MA, Tesoriero JM, Blog DS, Rosenberg ES. Assessing racial and ethnic disparities using a COVID-19 outcomes continuum for New York State. Ann Epidemiol 2020;48:9–14.

- 4. Healthy People 2030. Social determinants of health. https:// health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/socialdeterminants-health. Accessed August 15, 2020.
- 5. Rojas D, Melo A, Moise IK, Saavedra J, Szapocznik J. The association between the social determinants of health and HIV control in Miami–Dade County ZIP codes, 2017. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2020. Epub 17 Aug 2020.
- 6. Singu S, Acharya A, Challagundla K, Byrareddy SN. Impact of social determinants of health on the emerging COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. Front Public Health 2020; 8:406.
- 7. Moore JT, Ricaldi JN, Rose CE, Fuld J, Parise M, Kang GJ, et al.; COVID-19 State, Tribal, Local, and Territorial Response Team. Disparities in incidence of COVID-19 among underrepresented racial/ethnic groups in counties identified as hotspots during June 5–18, 2020 — 22 States, February–June 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(33):1122–6.
- 8. Chow N, Fleming-Dutra K, Gierke R, Hall A, Hughes M, Pilishvili T, et al.; CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Preliminary estimates of the prevalence of selected underlying health conditions among patients with coronavirus disease 2019 — United States, February 12–March 28, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(13):382–6.
- 9. Ramírez IJ, Lee J. COVID-19 emergence and social and health determinants in Colorado: a rapid spatial analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020;17(11):3856.
- 10. Rosenberg BL, Kellar JA, Labno A, Matheson DHM, Ringel M, VonAchen P, et al. Quantifying geographic variation in health care outcomes in the United States before and after risk-adjustment. PLoS One 2016;11(12):e0166762.
- 11. Eicher CL, Brewer CA. Dasymetric mapping and areal interpolation: implementation and evaluation. Cartogr Geogr Inf Sci 2001;28(2):125–38.
- US Census Bureau. American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/. Accessed August 7, 2020.
- 13. Kolak M, Bhatt J, Park YH, Padrón NA, Molefe A. Quantification of neighborhood-level social determinants of health in the continental United States. JAMA Netw Open 2020;3(1):e1919928.

Table

Table. Component Loadings for the 15 Census Block Group Measures Included in 3 SDOH Components, Miami-Dade County, Florida, 2020

Measure	SES and SESOI	Social Disadvantage Index	Convergence of Vulnerability Index
Component variance ^a	41.78	12.2	10.7
No vehicle	.839	_	_
Renter	.803	_	_
Rent burden	.793	_	_
Limited English proficiency ^b	.679	.570	_
Median household income	675	_	_
Living in poverty	.586	_	.544
People with disabilities	.478	_	.436
Crowding	_	_	_
Single parent-headed households	-	.885	_
Households with children aged <18 y	-	.742	.464
Households with one or more people aged ≥65	_	.725	_
No high school diploma	-	.628	_
Uninsured people	.439	.529	.518
Race/ethnicity (all people except non-Hispanic White)	-	_	.862
Unemployed, aged ≥16	-	_	.720

Abbreviation: SDOH, social determinants of health; SES, socioeconomic status; SESOI, socioeconomic status opportunity index; –, excluded low values (below 0.30).

^a Values are percentage variance. Extraction method: principal component analysis. Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization (rotation converged in 6 iterations). Data source: US Census American Community Survey 5-year Estimates (2014–2018) (12). The 3 components reflect the convergence of predisposing, enabling, and need attributes of COVID-19 infection risk across census block groups in Miami–Dade County. SES and Opportunity Index include socioeconomic measures of poverty, income, person with limited English proficiency, and physical measures of housing characteristics (eg, renters, rent burden, and crowding) including vehicle access that have been linked to distinct health behaviors and outcomes. The Social Disadvantage Index includes demographic measures of socioeconomically vulnerable groups or areas with a high percentage of people with limited English proficiency, single parent households, households with children aged younger than 18 years, older adults (aged ≥65 y), people with less than a high school education, and uninsured people, which reflect localized social networks and neighborhood social disadvantage. The Convergence of Vulnerability Index includes measures of service environment or areas with a high proportion of people living in poverty, people with disabilities, children aged younger than 18 years, uninsured people, people with minority status, and unemployed people aged 16 or older. These measures compound already poor health profiles of vulnerable groups, increasing their risk of morbidity and mortality from COVID-19.
^b Limited English proficiency crossed the SES and Opportunity Index and the Social Disadvantage Index. Living in poverty and people with disability crossed the SES and Opportunity Index. Households with children aged 18 years or younger crossed both the Social Disadvantage Index and the Convergence of Vulnerability Index. Households with children aged 18 years or younger crossed both the Social Disadvantage Index and the Convergence of Vulnerability In

Volume 18, E38

APRIL 2021

GIS SNAPSHOTS

Mapping Chronic Disease Risk Factors With ArcGIS Online in Support of COVID-19 Response in Florida

Chris DuClos, MS¹; John Folsom, MS¹; Jessica Joiner, MPH¹; Melissa Jordan, MS, MPH¹; Keshia Reid, PhD¹; Marie Bailey, MA, MSW¹; Alyssa Cohen, MPH¹; Karen Freeman, MS, MPH¹; Jennifer Johnson, MPH¹; Katherine McDaniel, MPH¹; Ursula Weiss, PhD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20_0647.htm

Suggested citation for this article: DuClos C, Folsom J, Joiner J, Jordan M, Reid K, Bailey M, et al. Mapping Chronic Disease Risk Factors With ArcGIS Online in Support of COVID-19 Response in Florida. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:200647. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.5888/pcd18.200647.

PEER REVIEWED



Static display of spatial variability in diabetes, which may increase the risk of severe illness from COVID-19, by Florida zip code and county. In the corresponding interactive map (https://arcg.is/1D0Lz4), 16 measures of chronic disease-related morbidity, mortality, and population health were aggregated to 5-year rates and stratified by age. The map application is used by local county health departments to inform COVID-19 response and identify communities at increased risk of COVID-19. Data on zip codes with <5 health events or <20 residents were suppressed.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/20_0647.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Background

The public health emergency caused by COVID-19 demonstrated that some populations are at increased risk of complications from COVID-19 infection and are at higher risk of death (1). The Florida Department of Health (FDOH) Environmental Public Health Tracking (EPHT) Program and Division of Public Health Statistics and Performance Management collaborated to create a Florida mapping resource to illustrate county and subcounty variability in chronic conditions and related factors that may increase the risk of severe illness from COVID-19. The degree of risk of COVID-19 varies by geography in Florida, and this variability has implications for public health practice as the state seeks to control the pandemic and limit severe health outcomes.

Florida is home to more than 21 million residents from diverse racial/ethnic and cultural backgrounds, approximately 20% of whom are adults aged 65 or older. The proportion of Florida's older population grew more rapidly than any other age group in the past decade (2). Older adults and people of any age with underlying medical conditions appear to be at higher risk for developing severe illness from COVID-19 than their younger and less medically compromised counterparts (3–5). Cardiovascular conditions, respiratory complications, and diabetes make up a substantial proportion of health conditions and contributing causes in deaths involving COVID-19 (6).

The aims of our mapping project were to describe the spatial variability in populations at particular risk of COVID-19, illustrate patterns of chronic disease at the county and subcounty level, and communicate this information to county health departments and other community members in Florida. Our goal is to reduce severe illness and premature death resulting from COVID-19 among Florida residents and visitors.

We used measures of illness and death resulting from cardiovascular conditions, respiratory conditions, diabetes, and cancer as indicators of increased risk (7–12). We also used county prevalence estimates of chronic disease–related risk factors (tobacco use and obesity) and zip code calculations of economic hardship. We included economic hardship because it is associated with lower rates of health insurance and reduced access to health care services, both of which could lead to COVID-19 complications (5,12).

Data and Methods

We used 4 data sources for our map. We obtained hospitalization records from the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration to capture data on chronic disease–related morbidity, death data from the FDOH Bureau of Vital Statistics, and data on chronic disease–related risk factors from the 2016 Florida Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) (13). In addition, we calculated the Economic Hardship Index (EHI) by using variables from the 2014–2018 American Community Survey (14). We developed 16 subcounty measures from the hospitalization and death data and aggregated these data to 5-year rates according to zip code. We also mapped the EHI according to zip code. We mapped BRFSS data at the county level, the smallest level of geography available for this data set. We stratified all measures, except EHI, by age to illustrate increases in risk by age. We developed a webbased mapping application in ArcGIS Online and linked this application to existing web data portals at floridatracking.com (the EPHT portal) and FLHealthCHARTS.com. Because we derived the data measures from different sources, we developed a user guide and linked it to the ArcGIS mapping application. This user guide discusses data limitations and the need to interpret data with caution at the subcounty level because of small population sizes. To promote the new mapping application, we added prominent links to the EPHT portal and FLHealthCHARTS.com, which is the most widely used publicly available FDOH data repository and query system (with thousands of visitors per day).

Highlights

The output of this mapping project is a publicly available online interactive map (https://arcg.is/1D0Lz4) that depicts 5-year trends at the zip code and county levels in Florida. This ArcGIS Online application allows users to easily visualize geographic areas at increased risk of COVID-19. The following indicators of risk of COVID-19 are included on the mapping website: hospitalization and death rates resulting from cardiovascular conditions, respiratory conditions, diabetes, and cancer; the prevalence of tobacco use and obesity; and economic hardship scores.

Action

The ArcGIS Online interactive map went live in April 2020 and increased access to data measures for chronic conditions and related risk factors that could lead to COVID-19 complications. The use of zip code geography provides for community-level input on populations disproportionately affected by severe outcomes of COVID-19. The mapping application is used by the public and by the state health office and local county health departments to speak with communities about COVID-19 response and to identify areas of Florida at greatest risk for severe outcomes of COVID-19. In addition, the map informed hospital demand planning for the FDOH Bureau of Preparedness and Response, as concerns grew about exceeding hospital bed capacity in Florida. As of February 2021, the map had more than 4,500 views. Other public health programs could use our mapping application as a template for developing a similar application.

Acknowledgments

This interactive map was developed with the cooperation of staff in the FDOH Division of Public Health Statistics and Performance Management. This work was partially funded by a cooperative agreement with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Environmental Public Health Tracking Program (award no. NUE1EH001349). The contents of this submission are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Chris DuClos, MS, GISP, Public Health Research, Division of Community Health Promotion, Florida Department of Health, 4052 Bald Cypress Way Bin #A24, Tallahassee, FL 32399. Telephone: 850-245-4264. Email: chris.duclos@flhealth.gov.

Author Affiliations: ¹Florida Department of Health, Tallahassee, Florida.

References

- 1. Abedi V, Olulana O, Avula V, Chaudhary D, Khan A, Shahjouei S, et al. Racial, economic and health inequality and COVID-19 infection in the United States. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2020:1–11.
- 2. Florida Department of Health. Aging in Florida profile. http:// w w w . flhe althcharts.com/ChartsReports/ rdPage.aspx?rdReport=ChartsProfiles.AgingInFloridaProfile. Accessed December 4, 2020.
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), people at increased risk. 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/index.html. Accessed July 30, 2020.
- 4. Bialek S, Bowen V, Chow N, Curns A, Gierke R, Hall A, et al.; CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Geographic differences in COVID-19 cases, deaths, and incidence — United States, February 12–April 7, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(15):465–71.
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diagnosed diabetes. https://gis.cdc.gov/grasp/diabetes/DiabetesAtlas.html. Accessed April 8, 2020.
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Conditions contributing to deaths involving coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), by age group and state, United States. https:// data.cdc.gov/NCHS/Conditions-contributing-to-deathsinvolving-corona/hk9y-quqm. Accessed February 23, 2021.

- 7. Szabo L, Recht H. The other COVID-19 risk factors: how race, income, zip code can influence life and death. USA Today. https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/health/2020/04/22/howcoronavirus-impacts-certain-races-income-bracketsneighborhoods/3004136001. Accessed April 30, 2020.
- 8. Fang M, Wang D, Tang O, Selvin E. Prevalence of chronic disease in laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 cases and US adults (2017–2018). Diabetes Care 2020;43(10):e127–8.
- Adams ML, Katz DL, Grandpre J. Population-based estimates of chronic conditions affecting risk for complications from coronavirus disease, United States. Emerg Infect Dis 2020; 26(8):1831–3.
- Adams ML, Katz DL, Grandpre J. Updated estimates of chronic conditions affecting risk for complications from coronavirus disease, United States. Emerg Infect Dis 2020; 26(9):2172–5.
- 11. Shaw KM, Theis KA, Self-Brown S, Roblin DW, Barker L. Chronic disease disparities by county economic status and metropolitan classification, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. Prev Chronic Dis 2016;13:E119.
- 12. Dasgupta S, Bowen VB, Leidner A, Fletcher K, Musial T, Rose C, et al. Association between social vulnerability and a county's risk for becoming a COVID-19 hotspot — United States, June 1–July 25, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(42):1535–41.
- 13. Florida Department of Health. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2016 data reports. http:// www.floridahealth.gov/statistics-and-data/survey-data/ behavioral-risk-factor-surveillance-system/index1.html. Accessed April 1, 2020.
- 14. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey data (5-year estimates), 2014–2018. https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/news/data-releases.html. Accessed April 1, 2020.

Volume 19, E38

JUNE 2022

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

A Spatio-Demographic Perspective on the Role of Social Determinants of Health and Chronic Disease in Determining a Population's Vulnerability to COVID-19

Jessica Embury, BS^{1,2}; Ming-Hsiang Tsou, PhD^{1,2}; Atsushi Nara, PhD^{1,2}; Eyal Oren, PhD^{1,3}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0414.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Embury J, Tsou MH, Nara A, Oren E. A Spatio-Demographic Perspective on the Role of Social Determinants of Health and Chronic Disease in Determining a Population's Vulnerability to COVID-19. Prev Chronic Dis 2022; 19:210414. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd19.210414.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Social determinants of health are positively correlated with prevalence of both COVID-19 and chronic disease. Communities characterized by low socioeconomic status and high chronic disease rates may be vulnerable to COVID-19.

What is added by this report?

Socioeconomic variables identified as potential social determinants of health contextualize COVID-19 health disparities by race and ethnicity. Spatial models of chronic disease and COVID-19 highlight the spatial variability of COVID-19 population vulnerability.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Through insight into socioeconomic conditions and chronic disease distribution, demonstrated spatial approaches support equitable COVID-19 responses at the community level.

Abstract

Introduction

During the COVID-19 pandemic, health and social inequities placed racial and ethnic minority groups at increased risk of severe illness. Our objective was to investigate this health disparity by analyzing the relationship between potential social determinants of health (SDOH), COVID-19, and chronic disease in the spatial context of San Diego County, California.

Methods

We identified potential SDOH from a Pearson correlation analysis between socioeconomic variables and COVID-19 case rates during 5 pandemic stages, from March 31, 2020, to April 3, 2021. We used ridge regression to model chronic disease hospitalization and death rates by using the selected socioeconomic variables. Through the lens of COVID-19 and chronic disease, we identified vulnerable communities by using spatial methods, including Global Moran *I* spatial autocorrelation, local bivariate relationship analysis, and geographically weighted regression.

Results

In the Pearson correlation analysis, we identified 26 socioeconomic variables as potential SDOH because of their significance ($P \le .05$) in relation to COVID-19 case rates. Of the analyzed chronic disease rates, ridge regression most accurately modeled rates of diabetes age-adjusted death ($R^2 = 0.903$) and age-adjusted hospitalization for hypertensive disease (hypertension, hypertensive heart disease, hypertensive chronic kidney disease, and hypertensive encephalopathy) ($R^2 = 0.952$). COVID-19 and chronic disease rates exhibited positive spatial autocorrelation ($0.304 \le I \le 0.561$, $3.092 \le Z \le 6.548$, $0.001 \le P \le .002$), thereby justifying spatial models to highlight communities that are vulnerable to COVID-19.

Conclusion

Novel spatial analysis methods reveal relationships between SDOH, COVID-19, and chronic disease that are intuitive and easily communicated to public health decision makers and practitioners. Observable disparity patterns between urban and rural areas and between affluent and low-income communities establish the need for spatially differentiated COVID-19 response approaches to achieve health equity.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0414.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Introduction

As the novel coronavirus spread throughout the US in early 2020, reports of health disparity challenged claims that COVID-19 was society's "great equalizer" (1,2). As of September 2021, non-Hispanic Black Americans, non-Hispanic American Indians, and Hispanic Americans experienced higher rates of COVID-19 infection (1.1, 1.7, 1.9 times higher, respectively), hospitalization (2.8, 3.5, 2.8 times higher, respectively), and death (2.0, 2.4, 2.3 times higher, respectively) than non-Hispanic White Americans (3). This observed health disparity stems from widespread structural discrimination and its effects on people of color.

Social determinants of health (SDOH) are socio-environmental conditions that dictate how people live and age, whereas differences in these conditions define socioeconomic status (SES) (4). Low SES is directly linked to poor health outcomes for communicable and noncommunicable diseases alike (5,6). In a study of COVID-19 outcomes in a New York City hospital, Black and Hispanic patients were more likely than White patients to present with comorbidities, such as cardiovascular disease or diabetes, that were strongly associated with mortality (7). Dr Anthony Fauci, the immunologist leading the US COVID-19 response, said that the comorbidities that negatively affect COVID-19 outcomes "relate to the social determinants of health dating back to disadvantageous conditions that some people of color find themselves in from birth" (8). Existing research confirms the associations between the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 and chronic disease in socially disadvantaged communities (6,9,10). The compounding effect of low SES, comorbidities, and COVID-19 demands immediate action to support communities vulnerable to COVID-19.

Our goal was to classify the relationships between COVID-19, chronic disease, and socioeconomic variables to promote localized public health policies. We used a spatially explicit modeling approach to meet our 2 study objectives: 1) to determine which socioeconomic variables, correlated with COVID-19 and chronic disease rates, are potential SDOH, and 2) whether spatial modeling of chronic disease rates can identify communities most vulnerable to COVID-19.

Methods

Study area

Our research area was San Diego County, a culturally diverse area well suited to investigation of the various effects of socioeconomic factors and chronic disease on population vulnerability to COVID-19. The county is located in southwestern California along the US–Mexico border. Its western portion is largely urban and densely populated, and its eastern portion lightly populated and rural. The county is divided into 41 subregional areas (SRAs), a geographic division frequently used to report COVID-19 and other health-related data.

Data collection

We obtained data sets from the San Diego County Open Data Portal (11), aggregated to SRAs, containing 2017 rates for hospitalization, emergency department discharge, and death per 100,000 residents for coronary heart disease (CHD), diabetes, hypertensive diseases (hypertension, hypertensive heart disease, hypertensive chronic kidney disease, and hypertensive encephalopathy), mental illness, and pulmonary disease. We included mental illness in our study because of the toll that COVID-19 has had on mental health (12) and because of the association between mental illness, other chronic diseases, and low SES (13,14).

Socioeconomic data related to age, race and ethnicity, language, housing, income, education, and employment were retrieved from the San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) Data Surfer (15) and the US Census Bureau's application programming interface (16). Data were then normalized by SRA population size or number of households. Along with socioeconomic variables, we included 4 health care access variables: health care clinics per SRA population, health care clinics per SRA square mile, hospitals per SRA population, and hospitals per SRA square mile. We calculated values for these health care access variables by using GIS analysis in ArcGIS Pro (Esri) and spatial data from SAND-AG.

The County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency provided COVID-19 rates (17) and aggregated most of the rates to SRA. However, confirmed case rates had zip code aggregations. We converted these confirmed case rates (per 100,000 residents) to the SRA extent with a 2019 population-based crosswalk from SANDAG that used dasymetric techniques to determine the proportion of residents in each zip code that live within the boundaries of an SRA. A similar crosswalk was used to aggregate the US Census Bureau socioeconomic data from census tract to SRA.

Characterization of COVID-19 pandemic stages

We considered 5 pandemic stages in our analysis to better understand the relationships evolving over time between COVID-19, chronic disease, and socioeconomic variables. On the basis of COVID-19 case trends in San Diego County (7-day averages), we divided the pandemic into 5 distinct stages over an approximate 12-month period, from March 31, 2020, through April 3, 2021

(18): March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020 (Stage 1, 85 days); June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020 (Stage 2, 54 days); August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020 (Stage 3, 73 days); November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021 (Stage 4, 83 days); and January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021 (Stage 5, 69 days) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Trends in confirmed cases of COVID-19 over time, San Diego County, California, March 31, 2020, to April 3, 2021. The graph illustrates how the number of county-wide confirmed cases varied during the study period. Observed confirmed case trends were used to define 5 pandemic stages: March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020 (Stage 1, 85 days); June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020 (Stage 2, 54 days); August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020 (Stage 3, 73 days); November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021 (Stage 4, 83 days); and January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021 (Stage 5, 69 days).

During Stage 1, the March 19, 2020, California stay-at-home order along with local restrictions enacted from March 29 through April 4, 2020 (eg, regarding face coverings, cruise ships) kept COVID-19 rates low and stable (19). Stage 2 covered San Diego County's first wave of increased COVID-19 rates, which followed the reopening of many of the county's businesses, between June 13 and June 25, 2020 (the indoor operation of some business sectors reclosed on July 3, 2020) (19). Stage 3 was a period of relative stability in response to additional public health restrictions that followed the first wave. Stage 4 was characterized by a second wave of dramatic rate surges, possibly related to gatherings for the 2020 Presidential election and winter holidays. A regional stay-athome order began on December 6, 2020, and continued through January 25, 2021 (19). Stage 5 was marked by steadily decreasing rates as the holiday season ended and county residents were vaccinated. By March 5, 2021, 1 million vaccines had been administered (19). Throughout all stages, COVID-19 confirmed case rates were highest in SRAs located in the southern portion of the county (Figure 2). Although the pandemic continues, we stopped our analysis at the end of Stage 5 to analyze and interpret existing data.



Figure 2. Spatial distribution of confirmed cases of COVID-19 by subregional area, San Diego County, California, March 31, 2020, to April 3, 2021. Maps show the spatial distribution of average daily COVID-19 case rates by subregional area for each of the 5 pandemic stages. Stages were determined by 7-day average case trends. All rates are per 100,000 residents.

Statistical methods

To address our first objective - to determine which socioeconomic variables, correlated with COVID-19 and chronic disease rates, were potential SDOH - we analyzed Pearson correlation coefficients, calculated with the SciPy Python package (SciPy-Python), to determine a set of potential SDOH from significant socioeconomic variables to the average confirmed daily COVID-19 case rates across the 5 pandemic stages. Socioeconomic variables were chosen for further analysis if the Pearson correlation P values were less than or equal to 0.05 for all stages, with 2 exceptions for variables with P values equal to 0.07 during 1 or 2 of the stages. The Pearson correlation coefficient is commonly used in medical research to test the strength of linear relationships between 2 variables (20). Next, we identified potentially meaningful relationships between COVID-19 and chronic disease comorbidities through a data-driven review of their Pearson correlation coefficients (18). We considered COVID-19 in the contexts of confirmed cases (total, and by race or ethnicity), total hospitalizations, and total deaths across the pandemic stages. For consistency, we selected a minimum of 1 rate, age-adjusted hospitalizations, for each of the chronic diseases.

To assess our potential SDOH, we conducted ridge regression analysis using a Python package, scikit-learn (Python), to evaluate how well the selected socioeconomic variables depicted actual distribution of COVID-19 and chronic disease. Ridge regression, a variant of linear regression, performs model regularization with a

tuning parameter (α) and assigns coefficients to the explanatory variables to minimize the effects of the multicollinearity that is common among sociodemographic indicators (21). We chose the chronic disease rates with the most accurate ridge regression models for spatial analysis of COVID-19 case rates.

For our second objective, to determine whether spatial modeling of chronic disease rates can identify communities most vulnerable to COVID-19, we used 3 spatial techniques to model COVID-19 case rates and find vulnerable communities. Spatial autocorrelation (Global Moran I) tests of COVID-19 confirmed case rates and chronic disease rates assessed the overall appropriateness of spatial modeling. Spatial autocorrelation indicates the similarity of data values across space for a single variable, gauging whether data are clustered, dispersed, or randomly distributed (22). With local bivariate analysis and geographically weighted regression (GWR) modeling, we investigated the relationships between chronic disease rates (independent) and COVID-19 case rates (dependent). Local bivariate analysis tests for significant relationships between two variables within a spatial neighborhood (23). GWR is a regression technique that considers spatial nonstationarity and variable local relationships in the prediction model (24,25). We used Esri's ArcGIS Pro 2.8 software (Esri) to conduct the study's spatial analysis. Together, we synthesized the collective modeling and analysis results to propose links between COVID-19, chronic disease, and SDOH in the context of San Diego County.

Results

COVID-19 correlations with potential SDOH and chronic disease

From an initial data set of 79 socioeconomic variables, 26 variables were recognized as potential SDOH because of their significant linear relationships ($P \le .05$) to COVID-19 case rates during all 5 stages (Table 1). Two extra variables were included in the subset because at least 1 *P* value was significant ($P \le .05$) during 1 of 5 stages: household income of \$60,000 to \$75,000 during Stages 1 (P = .07) and 2 (P = .07), and household income above \$200,000 for Stage 5 (P = .07). We discovered that some of the variables in the socioeconomic variable subset exhibited multicollinearity, such as English and Spanish as home languages, White and Hispanic race or ethnicity, and various industries of employment.

In preparation for further evaluation of the socioeconomic variable subset, we reviewed Pearson correlation coefficients for 113 chronic disease rates and 85 COVID-19–related rates and identified important relationships between COVID-19 and comorbidities. The analyzed chronic disease rates (total, age-adjusted, by sex, by race or ethnicity, by age group) included hospitalizations, emergency department discharges, and deaths related to CHD, diabetes, hypertensive disease, mental illness, and pulmonary disease with sample sizes of 30 SRAs or more. Similarly, we considered rates of COVID-19 cases, hospitalizations, and deaths (total, ageadjusted, by sex, by race or ethnicity, by age group) in sample sizes of at least 30 SRAs. Ten of the most highly correlated rates, with at least 1 for each chronic disease, were selected for regression modeling: CHD age-adjusted hospitalization, diabetes ageadjusted hospitalization, diabetes age-adjusted death, diabetes hospitalization among patients aged 65 years or older, diabetes emergency department discharge among patients aged 65 years or older, age-adjusted hospitalization for people with hypertensive disease, hospitalization of Hispanic patients with hypertensive disease, mental illness age-adjusted hospitalization, pulmonary disease age-adjusted hospitalization, and pulmonary disease hospitalization of patients aged 65 years or older (Table 2).

In general, highly positive correlations were observed for chronic disease and COVID-19 rates. Key temporal patterns included:

- Decreasing correlation coefficients between COVID-19 case rates among Hispanic residents and age-adjusted hospitalizations for CHD (Stage 1: r = 0.80, $P \le .001$; Stage 5: r = 0.66, $P \le .001$), age-adjusted hospitalizations for diabetes (Stage 1: r = 0.79, $P \le .001$; Stage 5: r = 0.70, $P \le .001$), hospitalizations for diabetes among residents aged 65 years or older (Stage 1: r = 0.93, $P \le .001$; Stage 5: r = 0.74, $P \le .001$), and age-adjusted hospitalizations for hypertensive disease (Stage 1: r = 0.86, $P \le .001$; Stage 5: r = 0.61, $P \le .001$)
- High coefficients between COVID-19 death rates and diabetes death rates (eg, Stage 5, r = 0.86, P≤.001), emergency department discharges for patients aged 65 or older with diabetes (eg, Stage 5, r = 0.87, P≤.001)
- Decreasing correlation coefficients for hypertensive disease hospitalization rate and total COVID-19 case rates for Hispanic patients (Stage 1: r = 0.89, $P \le .001$; Stage 5: r = 0.79, $P \le .001$)
- Increasing correlation coefficients for age-adjusted hospitalizations for mental illness and COVID-19 case rates (Stage 1: *r* = 0.36, *P*≤.03; Stage 5: *r* = 0.58, *P*≤.001)
- High correlation coefficients between case rates among Asian residents and age-adjusted hospitalizations for pulmonary disease (eg, Stage 5: r = 0.89, P ≤ .001)
- High correlation coefficients between COVID-19 case rates among Black residents and hospitalizations for pulmonary disease among residents aged 65 years or older (eg, Stage 5: r = 0.71, P ≤ .001)

These findings suggest how the influence of medical comorbidities might have shifted as the pandemic progressed.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Socioeconomic disease models

Ridge regression modeling showed that the potential SDOH most accurately estimated COVID-19 case rates during Stage 1 (R^2 = 0.893, root-mean-square deviation [RMSE] = 0.91, α = 0.01) and Stage 5 (R^2 = 0.875, RMSE = 2.26, α = 0.01). Elevated errors and decreased fit correspond to models of pandemic Stage 2 (R^2 = 0.685, RMSE = 3.43, α = 1.0) and Stage 4 (R^2 = 0.809, RMSE = 10.17, α = 1.0) while infection rates surged, as well as to the interim period of relative stability (Stage 3, R^2 = 0.789, RMSE = 1.94, α = 0.1). Ridge regression for the 10 selected chronic disease rates showed that 2 of the rates, diabetes age-adjusted death (diabetes death: R^2 = 0.903, RMSE = 3.15, α = 0.01) and hypertensive disease age-adjusted hospitalization (hypertensive disease hospitalization: R^2 = 0.952, RMSE = 21.10, α = 0.01), had R^2 values greater than 0.900. All other chronic disease rates had R^2 values below 0.810.

Although ridge regression's regularization process limits interpretation of the effect of specific socioeconomic variables on the model, coefficients of greater magnitude (positive or negative) relative to the model run can generally be viewed as important in determining rates of COVID-19 and chronic disease. Variables corresponding to English or Spanish as home language and Hispanic ethnicity were consistently assigned coefficients of relatively high magnitude (Table 3).

Spatial analysis of COVID-19 and chronic disease

The COVID-19 case rates in the 5 stages, diabetes deaths, and hypertensive disease hospitalizations exhibited significant positive spatial autocorrelation (Global Moran I) indicating that rates geographically nearby tend to be similar. Of note, the strength of spatial autocorrelation decreased for COVID-19 case rates during pandemic Stage 1 (I = 0.561, z = 6.548, $P \le .001$) and Stage 2 (I =0.485, z = 5.486, $P \le .001$) before stabilizing during Stages 3 through 5 ($0.304 \le I \le 0.347$, $3.511 \le z \le 3.934$, $P \le .001$). Spatial autocorrelation results for 2017 hypertensive disease hospitalization rates (I = 0.413, z = 4.912, $P \le .001$) were greater than those for the 2017 diabetes death rates (I = 0.345, z = 3.092, P = .002). Subsequent spatial analysis determined the accuracy with which the rate of diabetes deaths or hypertensive disease hospitalizations could be independently used to model COVID-19 case rates, thereby avoiding the multicollinearity problems inherent in the selected socioeconomic variables.

Although diabetes death rates were well estimated by ridge regression by using the potential SDOH variables, data were suppressed for most of the lightly populated (rural) SRAs. Spatial analysis with the COVID-19 case rates produced interesting results, such as a linear bivariate relationship during all stages, but the reliability of our findings is challenged by the small sample size. Visualization of diabetes deaths and COVID-19 cases with layered quantile classes separated the urban portion of the county into 3 zones: high–high positive correlations to the south, low–low positive correlations in the center, and higher than expected COVID-19 cases in the north. Also, GWR standard residuals depict the emergence of a clear spatial pattern characterized by under-predictions along major transportation corridors to the south, over-predictions in the county's center, and under-predictions in the north.

Hypertensive disease hospitalization rates were available for all SRAs except Camp Pendleton, a military base in the northwest corner of the county. Visualization of the hypertensive disease hospitalization and COVID-19 case rates using layered quantile classification symbology showed a positive correlation, with several exceptions in northern SRAs, where northeast SRAs had higher hypertensive disease hospitalizations and northwest SRAs had higher COVID-19 cases (Figure 3A). The local bivariate analysis confirmed this observation with linear positive relationships that, in southern SRAs, shifted to concave relationships over time (Figure 3B). GWR standard residuals (prediction errors) divided the county into overpredicted SRAs to the east and underpredicted (or accurately predicted) SRAs to the west (Figure 3C). This demarcation roughly matches the county's rural-urban divide, although rural SRAs along the US-Mexico border were also underpredicted.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.



Figure 3. Bivariate visualizations of the age-adjusted hospitalization rate (independent) for hypertensive disease (hypertension, hypertensive heart disease, hypertensive chronic kidney disease, and hypertensive encephalopathy) and the daily average stage case rates (dependent) for COVID-19 in San Diego County subregional areas. Stages were determined by 7-day average case trends: Stage 1: March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020; Stage 2: June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020; Stage 3: August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020; Stage 4: November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021; and Stage 5: January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021. Hospitalization rates for hypertensive disease (hypertension, hypertensive heart disease, hypertensive chronic kidney disease, and hypertensive encephalopathy) are for 2017 and consider the annual, age-adjusted rate per 100,000 residents. COVID-19 case rates consider the average daily rates per 100,000 residents for the stage. A. Layered quantile classification method for hypertensive disease hospitalization rates and the COVID-19 case rates. B. Type of local bivariate relationship for hypertensive disease hospitalization rates and COVID-19 case rates (rates not calculated for fewer than 5 events). C. Geographically

weighted regression standardized residuals (prediction errors) as SDs for hypertensive disease hospitalization rates and COVID-19 case rates. Negative SD values indicate overpredicted COVID-19 case rates whereas positive SD values indicate underpredicted COVID-19 case rates.

Discussion

Although the effect of socioeconomic factors on health equity is well established (5,8), spatial approaches are required to respond to known COVID-19 health disparities in regions of varied SES. We analyzed the relationships between socioeconomic variables, COVID-19, and chronic disease rates to identify a set of potential SDOH related to disproportionate disease spread. In a linear ridge regression model, variables across the categories of age, race and ethnicity, language, housing, income, education, and employment provide insight into the distribution of COVID-19. Reported health disparities related to race and ethnicity in San Diego County (27) are contextualized through the selection of related variables (eg, Hispanic ethnicity, Spanish home language) in the potential SDOH subset and their relative coefficient magnitudes during ridge regression. However, the highly related nature of the selected socioeconomic variables, such as high percentage of racial or ethnic minorities in lower-income neighborhoods (28), presents challenges to comprehensive spatial analysis.

As observed by others (7,29,30), people with preexisting chronic health conditions appear to be at increased risk of severe or fatal COVID-19 disease outcomes. As others have shown, in many cases those with an existing condition would not have died in the absence of a COVID-19 infection at the given time point (31). The strong correlations observed in our study are important in considerations related to limiting exposure for people with comorbidities, ensuring prompt vaccination to decrease biological susceptibility and providing prompt treatment if infected.

Because of the importance of comorbidities to COVID-19 outcomes and the observed correlations, we performed spatial modeling (GWR) of COVID-19 rates by using hypertensive disease hospitalization and diabetes death rates as explanatory variables. Not only can these comorbidity rates be well estimated by using the socioeconomic variables chosen to model COVID-19, but they also share similar spatial distributions to COVID-19, as determined through local bivariate analysis. Given these factors, the chronic disease rates should provide reasonable estimates of COVID-19 case rates. The GWR standard residuals indicate SRAs that have higher (underpredictions) or lower (overpredictions) COVID-19 case rates than expected by their comorbidity rates.

We propose that, in certain contexts, the GWR standard residuals highlight communities that are either notably vulnerable (underpredictions) or resilient (overpredictions) to COVID-19. When the
hypertensive disease hospitalization rate is used as the explanatory variable, differences between low- and high-population SRAs become apparent, delineating the county's rural-urban divide. When the diabetes death rate is the explanatory variable, urban subtleties reveal population vulnerabilities that can be further explained by socioeconomic variables and local area knowledge. However, because of suppressed values in the diabetes death rate data set, these findings require further investigation with additional data.

Through a spatial lens, the many interrelated factors that lead to vulnerability to COVID-19 can be better understood and clearly communicated to pandemic response decision makers and other involved planners. Spatially differentiated public health approaches are needed to overcome health disparity. The most effective policies for lightly populated communities will not work in densely populated areas. More importantly, culturally relevant and sensitive policies are needed to address COVID-19 in accordance with community demographics, preferences, and prevailing socioeconomic status. A disproportionately high number of COVID-19 cases in low-income communities might indicate low access to health care, poor communication of public health information, or unsustainable COVID-19 policies.

Our study had limitations. Data limitations posed major challenges. Health data are frequently aggregated to relatively large geographic units (ie, SRAs) and suppressed when rates are below a threshold, which ultimately resulted in a small number of large, varied areas to analyze. COVID-19 data scaled up from the zip code level are susceptible to errors related to the population-based conversion method and modifiable areal unit problem. Findings from our research are applicable only at the level of analysis and cannot be scaled down to make inferences about smaller geographic areas or individuals. Furthermore, because the temporal periods for data about the chronic disease rates (2017, annual) and COVID-19 case rates (2020-2021, 54-85 days) are not the same, uncertainties about variable correlations and temporal dependencies remain. Additional uncertainty relates to health care access in terms of who can, or will, get tested for COVID-19 or seek hospitalization and emergency services for chronic disease.

Limitations also exist in the analysis techniques used for our research. Although ridge regression regularization accommodates multicollinearity, the specific relationships between explanatory and dependent variables become obscured. In addition, our data and results suggest spatial dependency; thus, nonspatial linear models, such as ridge regression, are not reliable because they assume independence of data observations. The algorithms for neighborhood selection and prediction during the local bivariate analysis and GWR might introduce error due to varied SRA sizes. We expect that access to fine-scale data, enabling analysis with more features, would increase the accuracy of our models and enhance the overall value of the research.

Our analysis demonstrates the value of novel spatially informed approaches to COVID-19 responses and epidemiologic policy. Investigation of potential SDOH provides better understanding of the underlying reasons for COVID-19 and chronic disease distribution patterns. Socioeconomic variable analysis can help decision makers develop relevant pandemic response measures. Location unites different health and socioeconomic variables in support of clear communication about COVID-19, population vulnerability, and public health decisions. Spatial analysis is needed to develop effective policy targeted to diverse communities, such as those found in San Diego County.

Future research is needed to determine causal relationships between potential SDOH, COVID-19, and chronic disease. Access to fine-scale data and additional demographic and health care access variables, either in San Diego County or elsewhere, would permit the detailed analysis required to establish causal relationships between potential SDOH and health data. Our findings provide a basis for hypothesis formation and a framework for ongoing spatial analysis. The heterogenous nature of San Diego County is ideal for investigating how correlations differ across space and inspires ongoing research to address these differences. The promising spatial approaches discussed in this article benefit the continuing development of geographically diverse and socially equitable epidemiologic responses.

Acknowledgments

We thank the staff and epidemiologists in the County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency, Public Health Services, Epidemiology and Immunization Services Branch and Community Health Statistics Unit for their great efforts to create the public COVID-19 data sharing website and chronic disease datasets in the San Diego County data portal. Special thanks to Jian Xu for his work on Figure 1. The authors received no financial support for this study and have no financial disclosures to report. The authors have no conflicts of interest. No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Jessica Embury, Department of Geography, San Diego State University, 5500 Campanile Dr, San Diego, CA 92182-4493. Telephone: 619-594-0205. Email: jembury@sdsu.edu

Author Affiliations: ¹The Center for Human Dynamics in the Mobile Age, San Diego State University, San Diego, California. ²Department of Geography, San Diego State University, San Diego, California. ³School of Public Health, San Diego State University, San Diego, California.

References

- 1. Mein SA. COVID-19 and health disparities: the reality of "the Great Equalizer". J Gen Intern Med 2020;35(8):2439–40.
- 2. Nania R. Blacks, Hispanics hit harder by the coronavirus, early U.S. data show. AARP. May 8, 2020. https://www.aarp.org/ health/conditions-treatments/info-2020/minority-communities-covid-19.html. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Risk for COVID-19 infection, hospitalization, and death by race/ethnicity. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/ investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-raceethnicity.html. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 4. Singu S, Acharya A, Challagundla K, Byrareddy SN. Impact of social determinants of health on the emerging COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. Front Public Health 2020; 8:406.
- 5. Marmot M. Social determinants of health inequalities. Lancet 2005;365(9464):1099–104.
- 6. Ramírez IJ, Lee J. COVID-19 emergence and social and health determinants in Colorado: a rapid spatial analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020;17(11):3856.
- 7. Kabarriti R, Brodin NP, Maron MI, Guha C, Kalnicki S, Garg MK, et al. Association of race and ethnicity with comorbidities and survival among patients with COVID-19 at an urban medical center in New York. JAMA Netw Open 2020; 3(9):e2019795.
- 8. Associated Press. Fauci says pandemic exposed "undeniable effects of racism." May 16, 2021. https://whyy.org/articles/fauci-says-pandemic-exposed-undeniable-effects-of-racism/. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 9. Islam N, Lacey B, Shabnam S, Erzurumluoglu AM, Dambha-Miller H, Chowell G, et al. Social inequality and the syndemic of chronic disease and COVID-19: county-level analysis in the USA. J Epidemiol Community Health 2021;75(6):496–500.
- Kim SJ, Bostwick W. Social vulnerability and racial inequality in COVID-19 deaths in Chicago. Health Educ Behav 2020; 47(4):509–13.
- 11. San Diego County. San Diego County Data Portal. https:// data.sandiegocounty.gov/browse?category=Health. Accessed November 11, 2021.

- 12. Gelfand A. COVID-19's lasting toll on mental health. Hopkins Bloomberg Public Health 2020. https://magazine.jhsph.edu/ 2020/covid-19s-lasting-toll-mental-health. Accessed January 19, 2022.
- 13. Rubio JM, Markowitz JC, Alegría A, Pérez-Fuentes G, Liu S-M, Lin K-H, et al. Epidemiology of chronic and nonchronic major depressive disorder: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. Depress Anxiety 2011;28(8):622–31.
- 14. Gallo JJ, Joo JH, Visvanathan K, McGinty EE, Thrul J, Holingue C. An idea whose time has come: promoting health equity by preventing the syndemic of depression and medical comorbidity. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2021;29(1):12–4.
- 15. SANDAG. Data surfer. 2015 https://datasurfer.sandag.org/. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 16. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey 5-year data (2009-2019). 2021. https://www.census.gov/data/developers/ data-sets/acs-5year.html. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 17. County of San Diego. COVID-19 in San Diego County. 2021. https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/hhsa/programs/ phs/community_epidemiology/dc/2019-nCoV/status.html. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 18. Tsou MH, Xu J, Chii-Dean L, Daniels M, Ko E, Embury J, et al. Analyzing socioeconomic factors and health disparity of COVID-19 spatiotemporal spread patterns at neighborhood levels in San Diego County. medRxiv. February 23, 2021. https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/ 2021.02.22.21251757v1. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 19. County of San Diego. COVID-19 cases in San Diego County by illness onset date. County of San Diego COVID-19 weekly update 1/12/ 2022; 9. https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/ content/dam/sdc/hhsa/programs/phs/Epidemiology/COVID-19_Daily_Status_Update.pdf. Accessed January 18, 2022.
- 20. Mukaka MM. Statistics corner: a guide to appropriate use of correlation coefficient in medical research. Malawi Med J 2012;24(3):69–71.
- 21. McDonald GC. Ridge regression. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Comput Stat 2009;1(1):93–100.
- 22. Rushton G. Public health, GIS, and spatial analytic tools. Annu Rev Public Health 2003;24(1):43–56.
- 23. Esri. Local bivariate relationships (spatial statistics). 2021. https://pro.arcgis.com/en/pro-app/latest/tool-reference/spatialstatistics/localbivariaterelationships.htm. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 24. Brunsdon C, Fotheringham AS, Charlton ME. Geographically weighted regression: a method for exploring spatial nonstationarity. Geogr Anal 1996;28(4):281–98.

- 25. Esri. Geographically weighted regression (GWR) (spatial statistics). https://pro.arcgis.com/en/pro-app/latest/tool-reference/spatial-statistics/geographically-weighted-regression.htm. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 26. San Diego Association of Governments. SanGIS/SANDAG GIS Data Warehouse. 2021. https://rdw.sandag.org. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 27. County of San Diego, Health and Human Services Agency, Public Health Services, Community Health Statistics Unit. San Diego County cumulative COVID-19 rate per 100,000 residents by HHSA region. https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/ content/dam/sdc/hhsa/programs/phs/Epidemiology/ COVID19%20HHSA%20Region%20Dashboard.pdf. Accessed April 6, 2021.
- 28. Firebaugh G, Acciai F. For Blacks in America, the gap in neighborhood poverty has declined faster than segregation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2016;113(47):13372–7.
- 29. Azar KMJ, Shen Z, Romanelli RJ, Lockhart SH, Smits K, Robinson S, et al. Disparities in outcomes among COVID-19 patients in a large health care system in California. Health Aff (Millwood) 2020;39(7):1253–62.
- 30. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. People with certain medical conditions. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-with-medical-conditions.html. Accessed November 11, 2021.
- 31. Elezkurtaj S, Greuel S, Ihlow J, Michaelis EG, Bischoff P, Kunze CA, et al.Causes of death and comorbidities in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Sci Rep 2021; 11(1):4263.

Tables

Table 1. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Socioeconomic Variables^a and COVID-19 Daily Average Case Rates, by Stage^b, San Diego County Subregional Areas^c, March 31, 2020–April 3, 2021

Socioeconomic variable ^d	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5
Average number of residents per household	0.444 (.004)	0.495 (.001)	0.412 (.007)	0.593 (<.001)	0.576 (<.001)
Education	•	•		•	
Below 9th grade	0.712 (<.001)	0.688 (<.001)	0.743 (<.001)	0.731 (<.001)	0.651 (<.001)
Bachelor's degree or higher	-0.530 (<.001)	-0.537 (<.001)	-0.499 (<.001)	-0.680 (<.001)	-0.604 (<.001)
Master's degree	-0.492 (.001)	-0.495 (<.001)	-0.463 (.002)	-0.625 (<.001)	-0.574 (<.001)
Health clinics per square mile ^e	0.614 (<.001)	0.545 (<.001)	0.553 (<.001)	0.356 (.02)	0.451 (.003)
Language spoken at home					
English	-0.804 (<.001)	-0.717 (<.001)	-0.734 (<.001)	-0.632 (<.001)	-0.582 (<.001)
Spanish	0.859 (<.001)	0.797 (<.001)	0.833 (<.001)	0.773 (<.001)	0.677 (<.001)
Other Indo-European language	-0.380 (.01)	-0.425 (.006)	-0.377 (.02)	-0.528 (<.001)	-0.466 (.002)
Annual household income, \$					
Household income below the federal poverty level	0.556 (<.001)	0.434 (.005)	0.548 (<.001)	0.418 (.006)	0.305 (.05)
60,000-75,000 ^f	0.285 (.07)	0.433 (.005)	0.290 (.07)	0.426 (.005)	0.587 (<.001)
>200,000 ^f	-0.398 (.01)	-0.318 (.04)	-0.330 (.04)	-0.362 (.02)	-0.289 (.07)
<15,000	0.550 (<.001)	0.483 (.001)	0.543 (<.001)	0.424 (.006)	0.328 (.04)
Households receiving cash or food assistance	0.725 (<.001)	0.665 (<.001)	0.585 (<.001)	0.630 (<.001)	0.642 (<.001)
Foreign-born residents	0.584 (<.001)	0.518 (<.001)	0.527 (<.001)	0.421 (.006)	0.393 (.01)
Households with married parents of children aged <18 years	-0.590 (<.001)	-0.544 (<.001)	-0.550 (<.001)	-0.518 (<.001)	-0.550 (<.001)
Residents with physical disability	0.507 (<.001)	0.436 (.004)	0.500 (<.001)	0.586 (<.001)	0.562 (<.001)
Residents aged 0-9 years	0.508 (<.001)	0.563 (<.001)	0.582 (<.001)	0.636 (<.001)	0.626 (<.001)
Race or ethnicity					
Hispanic	0.823 (<.001)	0.808 (<.001)	0.833 (<.001)	0.806 (<.001)	0.703 (<.001)
White	-0.765 (<.001)	-0.740 (<.001)	-0.720 (<.001)	-0.648 (<.001)	-0.602 (<.001)
Other	-0.408 (.008)	-0.422 (.006)	-0.415 (.007)	-0.569 (<.001)	-0.455 (.003)
Households with ≥1 rooms per person	-0.710 (<.001)	-0.715 (<.001)	-0.700 (<.001)	-0.677 (<.001)	-0.640 (<.001)
Uninsured residents	0.511 (<.001)	0.699 (<.001)	0.638 (<.001)	0.652 (<.001)	0.686 (<.001)
Employment, by industry					
Management, business, science, arts	-0.564 (<.001)	-0.500 (<.001)	-0.497 (<.001)	-0.649 (<.001)	-0.564 (<.001)
Manufacturing, transportation	0.571 (<.001)	0.681 (<.001)	0.661 (<.001)	0.744 (<.001)	0.749 (<.001)

^a 2019 American Community Survey 5-year estimates (16) unless otherwise noted.

^b COVID-19 rates per 100,000 residents. Stages were determined by 7-day average case trends (1–5): March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020 (Stage 1); June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020 (Stage 2); August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020 (Stage 3); November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021 (Stage 4); and January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021 (Stage 5).

^c San Diego County is divided into 41 subregional areas (SRAs), a geographic division frequently used to report COVID-19 and other health-related data.

^d Selected from an initial data set of 79 socioeconomic variables recognized as potential social determinants of health because of their significant linear relationships ($P \le .05$) to COVID-19 case rates during all 5 pandemic stages. Values are r(P) and are per 100,000.

^e Values were determined by using spatial data from the San Diego Association of Governments and GIS analysis (26).

^f Variable included with P > .05 was due to significance (P > .05) during other pandemic stages.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Socioeconomic Variables^a and COVID-19 Daily Average Case Rates, by Stage^b, San Diego County Subregional Areas^c, March 31, 2020–April 3, 2021

Socioeconomic variable ^d	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5
Service	0.611 (<.001)	0.506 (<.001)	0.521 (<.001)	0.553 (<.001)	0.486 (.001)
Management and administration, professional, science, waste management services	-0.449 (.003)	-0.438 (.004)	-0.392 (.011)	-0.593 (<.001)	-0.507 (<.001)

^a 2019 American Community Survey 5-year estimates (16) unless otherwise noted.

^b COVID-19 rates per 100,000 residents. Stages were determined by 7-day average case trends (1–5): March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020 (Stage 1); June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020 (Stage 2); August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020 (Stage 3); November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021 (Stage 4); and January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021 (Stage 5).

^c San Diego County is divided into 41 subregional areas (SRAs), a geographic division frequently used to report COVID-19 and other health-related data.

^d Selected from an initial data set of 79 socioeconomic variables recognized as potential social determinants of health because of their significant linear relationships ($P \le .05$) to COVID-19 case rates during all 5 pandemic stages. Values are r(P) and are per 100,000.

^e Values were determined by using spatial data from the San Diego Association of Governments and GIS analysis (26).

^f Variable included with P > .05 was due to significance (P > .05) during other pandemic stages.

Table 2. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for 2017 Chronic Disease Rates and COVID-19 Cumulative Case Rates, by Stage^a, San Diego County Subregional Areas^b, March 31, 2020–April 3, 2021

Chronic disease rates ^c	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5
Coronary heart disease, age-adjusted hospitalizations	0.792 (<.001)	0.746 (<.001)	0.719 (<.001)	0.745 (<.001)	0.748 (<.001)
Diabetes, age-adjusted hospitalizations	0.695 (<.001)	0.712 (<.001)	0.690 (<.001)	0.773 (<.001)	0.786 (<.001)
Diabetes, age-adjusted deaths	0.825 (<.001)	0.838 (<.001)	0.806 (<.001)	0.819 (<.001)	0.824 (<.001)
Diabetes, hospitalizations, patients aged ≥65 years	0.933 (<.001)	0.924 (<.001)	0.889 (<.001)	0.877 (<.001)	0.876 (<.001)
Diabetes, emergency department discharges, patients aged \geq 65 years	0.822 (<.001)	0.798 (<.001)	0.760 (<.001)	0.749 (<.001)	0.749 (<.001)
Hypertensive diseases (hypertension, hypertensive heart disease, hypertensive chronic kidney disease, and hypertensive encephalopathy), age-adjusted hospitalizations	0.823 (<.001)	0.781 (<.001)	0.750 (<.001)	0.710 (<.001)	0.712 (<.001)
Hypertensive diseases, hospitalizations of Hispanic residents	0.887 (<.001)	0.867 (<.001)	0.833 (<.001)	0.793 (<.001)	0.790 (<.001)
Mental illness, age-adjusted hospitalizations	0.354 (.03)	0.411 (.008)	0.447 (.004)	0.571 (<.001)	0.578 (<.001)
Pulmonary disease, age-adjusted hospitalizations	0.680 (<.001)	0.657 (<.001)	0.651 (<.001)	0.704 (<.001)	0.706 (<.001)
Pulmonary disease hospitalizations, patients aged ≥65 years	0.779 (<.001)	0.771 (<.001)	0.754 (<.001)	0.810 (<.001)	0.814 (<.001)

^a COVID-19 rates per 100,000 residents. Stages were determined by 7-day average case trends (1–5): March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020 (Stage 1); June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020 (Stage 2); August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020 (Stage 3); November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021 (Stage 4); and January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021 (Stage 5).

^b San Diego County is divided into 41 subregional areas (SRAs), a geographic division frequently used to report COVID-19 and other health-related data. ^c All rates are per 100,000 residents. Values are *r*(*P* value).

Table 3. Ridge Regression Model Coefficients for COVID-19 Daily Average Case Rates by Stage^a, Diabetes Age-Adjusted Death Rate^b, and Hypertensive Disease Hospitalization Rate^b, San Diego County Subregional Areas^c, March 31, 2020–April 3, 2021

Socioeconomic variable ^d	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5	Diabetes deaths	Hypertensive disease hospitalizations		
Average number of residents per household	0.32	2.45	0.48	15.65	7.64	7.48	65.29		
Education									
Below 9th grade	-11.75	-0.11	0.57	0.89	0.83	-2.02	-1,756.88		
Bachelor's degree	-6.19	-0.42	-1.36	-3.39	-19.34	-17.08	725.68		
Master's degree	-3.90	-0.02	-1.41	-0.75	-14.34	-6.19	-502.36		
Health clinics per square mile ^e	0.26	1.13	1.00	-11.54	0.30	4.75	63.04		
Language spoken at home									
English	-12.42	-1.81	-2.95	-3.76	-12.72	-16.87	132.43		
Spanish	12.43	2.72	8.25	7.80	8.22	-9.77	803.00		
Other Indo-European language	-0.03	-0.39	-0.56	-0.96	8.59	3.68	-731.42		
Annual household income, \$		_							
Below the federal poverty rate	2.76	-0.62	2.92	-1.34	-1.53	-12.91	-518.46		
<15,000	5.61	0.11	2.09	-0.14	1.96	-3.67	561.30		
60,000-75,000	3.95	0.51	0.73	1.38	36.42	21.29	-386.59		
>200,000	2.97	0.99	2.56	3.24	23.98	-12.98	-428.05		
Households receiving cash or food assistance, per 100,000	9.30	0.33	-2.63	-1.37	-1.43	28.82	248.10		
Foreign-born residents	-7.52	0.21	-2.94	0.58	-5.96	-32.69	-210.04		
Households with married parents of children aged <18 years	0.58	-0.18	2.15	-0.36	-26.78	13.95	275.00		
Resident with physical disability	0.32	0.91	0.70	6.24	0.88	3.97	35.86		
Residents aged 0-9 years	-5.01	0.14	0.18	1.31	17.13	-11.52	-179.35		
Race or ethnicity									
Hispanic	-3.00	2.75	8.33	7.66	-1.39	-15.47	-896.04		
White	2.62	-2.29	0.49	-1.24	16.73	-22.86	-522.40		
Other	0.23	0.00	0.05	-0.01	1.09	0.15	-48.32		
Households with ≥1 rooms per person	0.03	-0.53	-0.17	-2.25	-0.07	-1.11	-9.77		
Uninsured	-7.17	0.88	1.05	1.59	20.78	-4.46	602.68		
Employment, by industry									
Management, business, science, arts	5.88	1.71	5.95	0.91	27.65	26.45	-794.44		
Manufacturing, transportation	2.40	0.61	3.77	2.01	17.01	4.43	114.61		

^a COVID-19 rates per 100,000 residents. Stages were determined by 7-day average case trends (1–5): March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020 (Stage 1); June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020 (Stage 2); August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020 (Stage 3); November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021 (Stage 4); and January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021 (Stage 5).

^b Chronic disease rate for 2017 per 100,000 residents. Hypertensive disease includes hypertension, hypertensive heart disease, hypertensive chronic kidney disease, and hypertensive encephalopathy.

^c San Diego County is divided into 41 subregional areas (SRAs), a geographic division frequently used to report COVID-19 and other health-related data.

^d Measures are per 100,000 unless otherwise indicated.

^e Values were determined by using spatial data from the San Diego Association of Governments and GIS analysis (26).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 3. Ridge Regression Model Coefficients for COVID-19 Daily Average Case Rates by Stage^a, Diabetes Age-Adjusted Death Rate^b, and Hypertensive Disease Hospitalization Rate^b, San Diego County Subregional Areas^c, March 31, 2020–April 3, 2021

Socioeconomic variable ^d	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5	Diabetes deaths	Hypertensive disease hospitalizations
Service	2.51	-0.61	-2.16	-1.27	11.86	-19.62	-128.65
Management and administration, professional, science, waste management services	9.67	0.46	3.27	0.46	10.39	14.19	687.10

^a COVID-19 rates per 100,000 residents. Stages were determined by 7-day average case trends (1–5): March 31, 2020, to June 24, 2020 (Stage 1); June 25, 2020, to August 18, 2020 (Stage 2); August 19, 2020, to October 31, 2020 (Stage 3); November 1, 2020, to January 23, 2021 (Stage 4); and January 24, 2021, to April 3, 2021 (Stage 5).

^b Chronic disease rate for 2017 per 100,000 residents. Hypertensive disease includes hypertension, hypertensive heart disease, hypertensive chronic kidney disease, and hypertensive encephalopathy.

^c San Diego County is divided into 41 subregional areas (SRAs), a geographic division frequently used to report COVID-19 and other health-related data.

^d Measures are per 100,000 unless otherwise indicated.

^e Values were determined by using spatial data from the San Diego Association of Governments and GIS analysis (26).

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY Volume 19, E34

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

The Town-Level Prevalence of Chronic Lung Conditions and Death From COVID-19 Among Older Adults in Connecticut and Rhode Island

Taylor Jansen, MS¹; Chae Man Lee, PhD¹; Shu Xu, MS¹; Nina M. Silverstein, PhD¹; Elizabeth Dugan, PhD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0421.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Jansen T, Man Lee C, Xu S, Silverstein NM, Dugan E. The Town-Level Prevalence of Chronic Lung Conditions and Death From COVID-19 Among Older Adults in Connecticut and Rhode Island. Prev Chronic Dis 2022; 19:210421. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd19.210421.

PEER REVIEWED

Summary

What is already known on this topic?

Chronic lung diseases, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma, are among the top preexisting conditions identified by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention that increase the risk for severe COVID-19 illness and death.

What is added by this report?

Town-level factors (African American race and Hispanic ethnicity, age \geq 65 y, and low educational attainment) were significant predictors of COVID-19 death rates, adding to the current understanding of the impact of social determinants of health on outcomes.

What are the implications for public health practice?

Public health policy makers could focus on communities reporting high rates of chronic lung conditions among the older adult population to provide more testing and access to vaccinations.

Abstract

Introduction

As of November 2021, older adults (aged ≥ 65 y) accounted for 81% of all deaths from COVID-19 in the US. Chronic lung diseases increase the risk for severe COVID-19 illness and death. The aim of this research was to examine the association between town-level rates of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and deaths from COVID-19 in 208 towns in Connecticut and Rhode Island.

Methods

We conducted a multistep analysis to examine the association between town-level chronic lung conditions and death from COVID-19. Pairwise correlations were estimated and bivariate maps were created to assess the relationship between COVID-19 deaths per 100,000 people and 1) asthma prevalence and 2) COPD prevalence among adults aged 65 years or older. We used multiple linear regression models to examine whether chronic lung conditions and other town-level factors were associated with COVID-19 death rates in Connecticut and Rhode Island.

Results

Initial bivariate correlation and mapping analyses suggested positive correlations between asthma and COPD prevalence and COVID-19 death rates. However, after controlling for town-level factors associated with chronic lung conditions and COVID-19 death rates, multiple linear regression models did not support an association, but town-level factors (African American race and Hispanic ethnicity, age ≥ 65 y, and low educational attainment) were significant predictors of COVID-19 death rates.

Conclusion

We found significant associations between town-level factors and COVID-19, adding to the current understanding of the impact of social determinants of health on outcomes.

Introduction

As of November 2021, 81% of all US deaths caused by COVID-19 occurred among people aged 65 years or older (1). Chronic lung diseases, such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), are among the top preexisting conditions that increase the risk for severe COVID-19 illness and death (2). Patients with preexisting lung conditions, including asthma and COPD, are more likely than people without these conditions to be hospitalized and die of COVID-19 (3–6). Even after controlling for sex, race and ethnicity, body mass index, and 10 prevalent co-



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0421.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

morbidities, a study found that people with chronic lung conditions were significantly more likely to be admitted to intensive care units, require mechanical ventilation, and die of COVID-19 (3). Although the association between chronic lung conditions and COVID-19 has been established at the individual level (3–6), information about town-level associations is lacking. Thus, the objective of this study was to examine this town-level association measured by the prevalence of asthma and COPD among the population aged 65 years or older per town in Connecticut and Rhode Island.

We addressed the following research questions: 1) Are town-level prevalence rates of asthma and COPD among adults aged 65 years or older associated with town-level COVID-19 death rates? 2) After controlling for other confounding town-level factors associated with the study variables, is there an association between the town-level prevalence of chronic lung conditions among adults aged 65 years or older and COVID-19 death rates?

Connecticut and Rhode Island have higher rates of asthma and similar rates of COPD compared with average rates among the US population aged 65 years or older (7). Additionally, more than 90% of COVID-19 deaths in these 2 states have been among adults aged 60 years or older (8,9), making this study population an appropriate sample to investigate the association between rates of chronic lung conditions and COVID-19 death rates.

Methods

We used data from several publicly available data sets: the Connecticut Department of Public Health and Office of Policy and Management (8), the Rhode Island Department of Public Health (9), the 2021 Connecticut Healthy Aging Data Report (HADR) (10), the 2020 Rhode Island HADR (11), and the US Census Bureau's 2014–2018 American Community Survey (12). Institutional review board approval was not required because no individuallevel data were used.

Measures

COVID-19 deaths. The outcome of interest was the total number of COVID-19 deaths from March 2020 through October 7, 2021, for each reported geographic unit (towns and cities; hereinafter, towns) in Rhode Island (n = 39) and Connecticut (n = 169). We obtained these data from the Connecticut Open Data Portal (8) and the Rhode Island Department of Health (9). If a town reported fewer than 5 deaths but more than 0 deaths, the data were suppressed for reasons of confidentiality (9); data for 6 towns in Rhode Island were suppressed. Because each of these towns reported 1 to 4 deaths, we recoded them as having 1 death to represent towns with *any* reported deaths to distinguish them from towns with *no* deaths. We calculated population-adjusted COVID-19 death rates to account for differences in the population size of each town (N = 208 towns; total population range, 827-179,435).

Chronic lung conditions. Chronic disease measures reported in the HADR were obtained and estimated from the annual summaries of Medicare claims of beneficiaries aged 65 years or older in the 2016-2017 Medicare Beneficiary Summary Files (13). The HADR calculates chronic condition prevalence rates through clinical algorithms applied to individual Medicare fee-for-service claims (13,14). If a beneficiary 65 years or older in 2017 ever met the claims-based diagnostic criteria for asthma or COPD since 1999, they were considered ever diagnosed with the chronic condition. Criteria were having at least 1 Medicare claim for an inpatient, skilled nursing facility, or home health care or at least 2 hospital outpatient or Part B Medicare claims with appropriate diagnosis codes during a 1-year period. Thus, the prevalence rates of chronic conditions reported in the HADR may be slightly higher than the current prevalence rates among beneficiaries reported by other Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services sources, because the HADR includes beneficiaries who were ever diagnosed since 1999 (14).

The asthma measure was coded as the prevalence rate of asthma among residents 65 years or older who *ever* met diagnostic criteria (14). COPD is a group of lung diseases that includes emphysema and chronic bronchitis, characterized by causing airflow blockage and breathing-related problems (15). The COPD measure was coded as the prevalence rate of COPD among residents 65 years or older who *ever* met diagnostic criteria (14).

Covariates. We obtained data on all covariates from the 2021 Connecticut HADR (10), the 2020 Rhode Island HADR (11), and the 2014–2018 American Community Survey (12). Previous research (16,17) identified factors associated with high COVID-19 death rates at the town and county levels. At the town level, increased household size and proportion of non-US-born residents and African Americans independently predicted increased COVID-19 death rates (16). County-level factors associated with increased COVID-19 infection and death were increases in household size and proportion of non-US-born residents, African American residents, low educational attainment, and the proportion of all commuters using public transportation (17). Thus, to account for potential confounding factors associated with town-level COVID-19 death rates, we included the following covariates: the average household size in each town, the percentage of the town population aged 65 years or older that was African American or Hispanic, the percentage of the town population aged 65 years or older that had less than a high school diploma, the percentage of all commuters using public transportation, and the proportion of

non–US-born residents. In addition, poverty, obesity, smoking, and proportion of African Americans are community-level risk factors associated with asthma prevalence (18). Therefore, we added the following covariates: among residents aged 65 years or older, the percentage living in poverty, the percentage with obesity, and the percentage with tobacco use disorder. Finally, rurality was identified as a community-level factor associated with COPD (19); therefore, we included rural status as a covariate.

The HADRs include more than 190 indicators drawn from more than 20 data sources and reported at local levels (ie, zip codes, neighborhoods, towns, cities) (20). The HADR recodes and categorizes the race and ethnicity of the state population aged 65 years or older as White, African American, Asian, "other" race, and Hispanic/Latino. The HADR defines "other" race as persons reporting their race as Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, American Indian or Alaskan Native, other tribal entities, 2 or more races, or any other category not captured in previous categories (14). Educational attainment of the state population aged 65 years or older was coded into less than a high school diploma or GED (General Educational Development), high school diploma or some college, college degree, and graduate or professional degree. The percentage of the state's population 65 years or older living in poverty is defined by the American Community Survey as the percentage of people aged 65 years or older reporting an annual household income at or below the federal poverty level. The average household size is defined by the American Community Survey as the average number of persons per household. We obtained data on the non-US-born population from the 2014-2018 American Community Survey (12); we recoded these data as the percentage per town. We obtained data on the rate of a town's population that commutes to work and the percentage of all commuters using public transportation from the 2014–2018 American Community Survey (12). Town prevalence of obesity and tobacco use disorder among the population aged 65 years or older was obtained from the 2016–2017 Master Beneficiary Summary File (9) and coded as the prevalence rate among residents 65 years or older who ever met the diagnostic criteria (14). Towns were considered rural if they were inside a rural county as defined by the Office of Management and Budget (21).

Analytic strategy

We combined data on all towns in both states for a total study sample of 208 towns. We conducted a multistep analysis to examine the association between the independent variables (town-level prevalence of asthma and COPD) and the dependent variable, COVID-19 death rates. First, we conducted pairwise correlations between the rate of COVID-19 deaths per 100,000 people and 1) asthma prevalence and 2) COPD prevalence. We calculated tertiles of asthma prevalence, COPD prevalence, and the populationadjusted COVID-19 death rates to represent low, medium, and high rates for asthma (low, 9.5%-12.8%; medium, 12.9%-14.71%; high, 14.72%-19.1%); for COPD (low, 11.1%-18.9%; medium, 19.0%-22.8%; high, 22.9%-33.7%); and COVID-19 death rate per 100,000 people (low, 0-101.8; medium, 103.2-237.8; high, 239.3-1,694.7). Next, we created 2 bivariate choropleth maps in ArcMap version 10.8.2 (Esri) to visualize the intersection of low, medium, and high levels of asthma, COPD, and COVID-19 death rates. Finally, to account for confounding factors influencing COVID-19 death rates and chronic lung conditions at the town level, we estimated a series of multiple linear regression models. We used the variance inflation factor (VIF) before estimating the linear regression models to test for multicollinearity among the study variables. The VIF for all study variables was less than 4.07, below the standard threshold of less than 10, suggesting that study variables were not significantly correlated with one another. In preliminary analyses (Models 1 and 2), we examined the main effects of the independent variables (the prevalence of asthma and the prevalence of COPD in the population aged ≥ 65 y) separately. Model 3 estimated the main effects of both chronic lung conditions together. Model 4 estimated the main effect of asthma alone on COVID-19 death rates controlling for factors found in previous literature to predict county-level COVID-19 (16,17) and asthma (18). Finally, Model 5 added in the main effect of COPD and rural status as a covariate to Model 4. We conducted all statistical analyses in Stata version 17 (Stata-Corp LLC). *P* values of $\leq .05$ were considered significant.

Results

Across all towns in both states, the average rate of COVID-19 deaths per 100,000 people was 200.2 deaths per town (Table 1). The prevalence of asthma was 13.8%, and the prevalence of COPD was 21.2%. The average town population was 22,299 people and 3,662 people aged 65 years or older. Most of the overall sample was White (93.9%) and had attained some college (53.5%). Of the population aged 65 years or older, 23.5% had obesity and 10.1% had tobacco use disorder. In addition, 11.5% of the overall sample were not US born, 2.5% commuted to work using public transportation, and 6.0% of the population aged 65 years or older were living in poverty. The average household size was 2.5 people per home and did not differ across the 2 states. Finally, 19.7% of the overall sample lived in rural counties; 24.3% of the sample in Connecticut lived in rural counties, whereas Rhode Island had no rural counties (P < .001 for difference between 2 states).

Overall, the Connecticut sample was slightly more diverse, healthier, and wealthier than the Rhode Island sample. Connecticut had an average of 196.9 deaths per 100,000 people from COVID-19

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

per town (vs 214.4 in Rhode Island and 200.2 overall). In bivariate analyses, we found a significant difference in the prevalence of asthma among adults aged 65 years or older by state (Connecticut, 13.7%; Rhode Island, 14.5%) and in the overall sample (13.8%). Compared with Rhode Island, Connecticut had a lower rate of COPD (20.9%) and a higher rate of people aged 65 years or older with a graduate or professional degree (18.1%). The average town population aged 65 years or older in Connecticut (n = 3,477) was lower than in Rhode Island (n = 4,467) and overall (n = 3,662). We found a significant difference between states for rates of obesity and poverty; among residents aged 65 years or older, Connecticut had a lower prevalence of obesity (22.3%) and a lower rate of residents aged 65 years or older living in poverty (5.3%). Finally, Connecticut had a lower rate of non–US-born residents (9.0%).

Rhode Island had a higher prevalence than Connecticut of asthma (14.5%), COPD (22.2%), and obesity (28.3%) among people aged 65 years or older. Towns in Rhode Island had worse health, were poorer, older, and less educated than towns in Connecticut. In Rhode Island, of the population aged 65 years or older, 8.7% lived in poverty and 16.3% had less than a high school diploma. Finally, Rhode Island had more than twice as many non–US-born residents as Connecticut (22.4% vs 9.0%).

We found significant correlations between town-level asthma prevalence among people aged 65 years or older and rate of COVID-19 deaths per 100,000 people (r[206] = 0.15; P = .03) and townlevel COPD prevalence among residents aged 65 years or older and rate of COVID-19 deaths per 100,000 people (r[206] = 0.15; P = .03). Medium and high rates of chronic lung conditions and COVID-19 overlapped mainly in southwestern, central, and eastern Connecticut and in central and northern Rhode Island (Figure 1 and Figure 2).



Figure 1. Town-level prevalence of asthma among population aged 65 years or older and COVID-19 death rates per 100,000 people, Connecticut and Rhode Island. Data sources: Connecticut Department of Public Health (8), Rhode Island Department of Public Health (9), HealthyAgingDataReports.org (10,11), CT DEEP GIS (22), and RIGIS (23).



Figure 2. Town-level prevalence of COPD among population aged 65 years or older and COVID-19 death rates per 100,000 people, Connecticut and Rhode Island. Data sources: Connecticut Department of Public Health (8), Rhode Island Department of Public Health (9), HealthyAgingDataReports.org (10,11), CT DEEP GIS (22), and RIGIS (23).

In Model 1, the main effect of town-level prevalence of asthma among residents aged 65 years or older was significant, and the model positively predicted COVID-19 death rates ($\beta = 0.15$, SE, 619.02; 95% CI, 111.79–2,552.62; P = .03). Model 2 found a significant, positive association between town-level prevalence of

COPD among residents aged 65 years or older and COVID-19 death rates per 100,000 people ($\beta = 0.15$; SE, 298.12; 95% CI, 48.78–1,224.3; P = .03). In Model 3, the significant effect disappeared (Table 2). Model 4 did not demonstrate a significant main effect for asthma ($\beta = 0.02$; SE, 860.31; 95% CI, -1,525.4 to 1,868.2; P = .84), but it did show a positive, significant effect in towns with a higher percentage of African American residents aged 65 years or older ($\beta = 0.23$; SE, 254.11; 95% CI, 191.86–1,194.26; P = .01) and residents aged 65 years or older without a high school diploma ($\beta = 0.42$; SE, 285.49; 95% CI, 454.55–1,580.72; P = .001). Model 5 also did not find a significant main effect between asthma ($\beta = 0.04$; SE, 893.12, 95% CI, 1,436.41–2,086.86; P = .72) or COPD ($\beta = 0.02$; SE, 568.27; 95% CI, -1,036.83 to 1,204.94; P = .99) and COVID-19 death rates, but multiple covariates had significant effects. Like Model 4, Model 5 showed that towns with a higher percentage of African American residents aged 65 years or older ($\beta = 0.19$; SE, 249.18; 95% CI, 83.8–1,066.8; P = .02) and residents aged 65 years or older without a high school diploma ($\beta = 0.45$; SE, 278.98; 95% CI, 529.06–1,629.6; P = .001), reported positive associations with COVID-19 death rates. In Model 5, which added COPD, a negative, significant effect was found for the Hispanic population aged 65 years or older ($\beta = -0.23$; SE, 407.43; 95% CI, -1,652.8 to -45.52; P = .04) and the population living in rural areas ($\beta =$ -0.13; SE, 809.17; 95% CI, -184.92 to -55.95; P = <.001). These findings suggest that in our sample, as rurality and the percentage of residents who are Hispanic increased, COVID-19 death rates decreased.

Discussion

This study advanced the research by examining the association between town-level chronic lung conditions and mortality from COVID-19. First, pairwise correlations and bivariate mapping suggested an association between town-level chronic lung conditions (asthma, COPD) and death from COVID-19. The bivariate maps demonstrated multiple clusters in Connecticut and Rhode Island where the prevalence of asthma and COPD among residents aged 65 years or older overlapped with the rate of COVID-19 deaths at the town level. In a comparison of our bivariate maps and maps of variables from the 2021 Connecticut (10) and 2020 Rhode Island HADRs (11), the clusters in southwestern and central Connecticut in both maps are in an area of Connecticut with high proportions of people who are aged 65 years or older, African American, or Hispanic, or have low income and low educational attainment. Additionally, eastern Connecticut is largely rural and has high rates of asthma, COPD, obesity, tobacco use disorder, and older adults living in poverty. Northern Rhode Island also has high proportions of people aged 65 years or older, African American, or Hispanic, or who have low income, obesity, or low educational attainment (10,11). Although our bivariate maps demonstrated an association, a comparison of these maps with other maps of variables in the 2021 Connecticut and 2020 Rhode Island HADRs (10,11) showed that this association may be driven by other town-level factors.

In Model 4, although we found no significant effect for asthma prevalence predicting COVID-19 death rates among the population aged 65 years or older, the percentage of the population that was African American and aged 65 years or older and the population with less than a high school education had a positive, significant association with COVID-19 death rates. Furthermore, towns with a high proportion of older adults with low educational attainment were also more likely than towns without these characteristics to report higher rates of COVID-19 death rates. A previous study (17) also found that less than a high school education independently predicted at the county level a higher rate of COVID-19 deaths per 100,000 people across the US. Our study also found this effect at the town level among the population aged 65 years or older, underlining the robustness of this association. Thus, this finding suggests that towns with large populations of older adults with low levels of education are especially vulnerable to death from COVID-19.

The final model included both chronic lung conditions and rurality as the final covariate. Although we found no significant main effects, we found that the following covariates were significantly associated with COVID-19 death rates: percentage of population that was African American or Hispanic, aged 65 years or older, or had less than a high school education; average household size; and rurality. The positive, significant association between the African American population aged 65 years or older and mortality was slightly reduced, but the association became slightly stronger between the population that was aged 65 years or older with less than a high school education and COVID-19 death rates. Furthermore, we found a negative, significant effect between 1) the association between rurality and COVID-19 death rates and 2) the Hispanic population aged 65 years or older and mortality. These data suggest that rural towns and towns with large populations of Hispanic people aged 65 years or older had lower rates of COVID-19 deaths per 100,000 people than urban towns without large populations of Hispanic people aged 65 years or older. This finding is confounding because CDC reports that African American and Hispanic people are 1.9 and 2.1 times, respectively, more likely than White people to die of COVID-19 (24). Yet, the "Hispanic paradox" (25) indicates that although older Hispanic people are not healthier than older non-Hispanic people, they have lower rates of mortality and the highest life expectancy in the US (26). Future research could examine this relationship more closely. Finally, our study found that living in a rural county protected against COVID-

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

19 death rates in Connecticut. However, previous research found that rurality is associated with higher rates of COVID-19 deaths at the county level (27). Our study used a population-adjusted indicator of COVID-19 death rates; only 2 counties in our sample were defined as rural, and both were in Connecticut. Population density may affect the transmission of highly contagious airborne viruses, and living in urban, densely populated areas may increase the everyday risk of COVID-19 exposure (28).

This study has several potential limitations. Although we found that more than 90% of COVID-19 deaths in Connecticut and Rhode Island were among the population aged 60 years or older, the measures of chronic conditions and population characteristics used represented the population aged 65 years or older, and the COVID-19 death rates data were reported for all ages in these states; thus, the age groups do not align exactly across data sources. Additionally, the research design was cross-sectional, so causation could not be determined. Furthermore, this study examined only asthma and COPD; perhaps the study of other common chronic lung conditions would show different results.

Our research fills a gap in the knowledge base of the association between town-level rates of asthma and COPD among older adults and COVID-19 death rates. Our analysis did not find that the prevalence rates of asthma and COPD among the population aged 65 years or older predicted COVID-19 death rates. Yet it did find significant associations between town-level factors and COVID-19 death rates, adding to the knowledge base indicating that large proportions of racial and ethnic minority groups and low educational attainment among the population aged 65 years or older are significant predictors of town rates of COVID-19 deaths.

Future research could examine how demographic indicators most relevant to older adults are associated with COVID-19 death rates at the town level and whether the indicators found for the overall population are the same for the older adult population. Finally, this research identified communities in Connecticut and Rhode Island at the highest risk for hospitalization and mortality from COVID-19. These communities would benefit from additional policy efforts that promote and provide COVID-19 testing and access to vaccination.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Tufts Health Plan Foundation and the Gerontology Institute at the University of Massachusetts Boston. No copyrighted materials were adapted or used for this article. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Taylor Jansen, MS, Gerontology Department, University of Massachusetts Boston, 100 Morrissey Blvd, Boston, MA 02125. Email: taylor.jansen001@umb.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Gerontology Department, University of Massachusetts Boston, Boston, Massachusetts.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID-19 risks and vaccine information for older adults. https://www.cdc.gov/ aging/COVID19/COVID19-older-adults.html. Updated August 2, 2021. Accessed November 20, 2021.
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. People with certain medical conditions. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/ 2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-with-medicalconditions.html. Updated October 14, 2021. Accessed November 20, 2021.
- 3. Lohia P, Sreeram K, Nguyen P, Choudhary A, Khicher S, Yarandi H, et al. Preexisting respiratory diseases and clinical outcomes in COVID-19: a multihospital cohort study on predominantly African American population. Respir Res 2021; 22(1):37.
- 4. Myers LC, Parodi SM, Escobar GJ, Liu VX. Characteristics of hospitalized adults with COVID-19 in an integrated health care system in California. JAMA 2020;323(21):2195–8.
- 5. Gold JAW, Wong KK, Szablewski CM, Patel PR, Rossow J, da Silva J, et al. Characteristics and clinical outcomes of adult patients hospitalized with COVID-19 — Georgia, March 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(18):545–50.
- 6. Chow N, Fleming-Dutra K, Gierke R, Hall A, Hughes M, Pilishvili T, et al. Preliminary estimates of the prevalence of selected underlying health conditions among patients with coronavirus disease 2019 United States, February 12–March 28, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(13):382–6.
- 7. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Chronic conditions. https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Dataand-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/Chronic-Conditions/CC_Main. Updated January 15, 2021. Accessed October 7, 2021.
- 8. Connecticut Department of Public Health. COVID-19 tests, cases, and deaths (by town). https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-Tests-Cases-and-Deaths-By-Town-/28fr-iqnx. Updated October 6, 2021. Accessed October 7, 2021.

- 9. Rhode Island Department of Health. Rhode Island COVID-19 city and town data. https://ridoh-COVID-19-response-city-town-data-rihealth.hub.arcgis.com. Updated October 6, 2021. Accessed October 7, 2021.
- 10. Dugan E, Silverstein NM, Lee CM, Porell F, Wang S, Wang H, et al.2021 Connecticut healthy aging data report. https:// healthyagingdatareports.org/connecticut-healthy-aging-datareport. Accessed October 7, 2021.
- 11. Dugan E, Silverstein NM, Lee CM, Porell F, Wang S, Wang H, et al.2020 Rhode Island healthy aging data report. https:// healthyagingdatareports.org/rhode-island-healthy-aging-datareport. Accessed October 7, 2021.
- 12. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey (ACS) data releases. https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/news/ data-releases.2019.html. Accessed October 7, 2021.
- 13. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Master beneficiary summary file (MBSF) LDS. https://www.cms.gov/ Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Files-for-Order/ LimitedDataSets/MBSF-LDS. Accessed October 7, 2021.
- 14. HealthyAgingDataReports.org. 2021 Connecticut Healthy Aging Data Report technical documentation. https:// healthyagingdatareports.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/ 2021-CT-Technical-Documentation_042021.pdf. Updated April 20, 2021. Accessed November 20, 2021.
- 15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). https://www.cdc.gov/ copd/index.html. Updated February 22, 2021. Accessed November 20, 2021.
- 16. Figueroa JF, Wadhera RK, Lee D, Yeh RW, Sommers BD. Community-level factors associated with racial and ethnic disparities in COVID-19 rates in Massachusetts 2020. Health Aff (Millwood) 2020;39(11):1984–92.
- 17. Figueroa JF, Wadhera RK, Mehtsun WT, Riley K, Phelan J, Jha AK. Association of race, ethnicity, and community-level factors with COVID-19 cases and deaths across U.S. counties. Healthc (Amst) 2021;9(1):100495.
- American Lung Association. Asthma risk factors. 2021. https:// www.lung.org/lung-health-diseases/lung-disease-lookup/ asthma/asthma-symptoms-causes-risk-factors/asthma-riskfactors. Updated October 23, 2020. Accessed January 10, 2022.
- 19. Croft JB, Wheaton AG, Liu Y, Xu F, Lu H, Matthews KA, et al. Urban-rural county and state differences in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease — United States, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2018;67(7):205–11.
- 20. Dugan E, Porell F, Silverstein NM, Lee CM. Healthy aging data reports: measures of community health to identify disparities and spur age-friendly progress. Gerontologist 2022; 62(1):e28–38.

- 21. US Department of Agriculture. Connecticut rural definitions: state-level maps. https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/DataFiles/53180/25561_CT.pdf?v=0. Accessed November 29, 2021.
- 22. Connecticut Department of Energy & Environmental Protection (CT DEEP). Town polygon. https://ct-deep-gisopen-data-website-ctdeep.hub.arcgis.com/datasets/ CTDEEP::town-polygon/explore?location=41.498947%2C-72.761769%2C8.96. Updated January 21, 2021. Accessed November 1, 2021.
- 23. Rhode Island Geographic Information System (RIGIS). Municipalities (1997). https://www.rigis.org/datasets/ municipalities-1997/explore?location=41.582723%2C-71.506456%2C9.35. Updated May 28, 2021. Assessed November 1, 2021.
- 24. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Risk for COVID-19 infection, hospitalization, and death by race/ethnicity. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/ investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-raceethnicity.html. Updated November 22, 2021. Accessed January 10, 2022.
- 25. Ruiz JM, Steffen P, Smith TB. Hispanic mortality paradox: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the longitudinal literature. Am J Public Health 2013;103(3):e52–60.
- 26. Arias E, Tejada-Vera B, Ahmad F, Kochanek KD. Provisional life expectancy estimates for 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ data/vsrr/vsrr015-508.pdf. Updated July 2021. Accessed January 10, 2022.
- 27. Ullrich F, Mueller K. COVID-19 cases and deaths, metropolitan and nonmetropolitan counties over time (update). https://rupri.public-health.uiowa.edu/publications/policybriefs/ 2020/COVID%20Longitudinal%20Data.pdf. Updated November 2021. Accessed November 29, 2021.
- 28. Sy KTL, White LF, Nichols BE. Population density and basic reproductive number of COVID-19 across United States counties. PLoS One 2021;16(4):e0249271.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics for Study Sample and Bivariate Analyses, by State, Study of Town-Level Prevalence of Chronic Lung Conditions and Death From COVID-19 Among Older Adults in Connecticut and Rhode Island

Factor	Both states	Connecticut	Rhode Island	t Statistic			
No. of communities	208	169	39	-			
Variable							
Population aged \geq 65 y with asthma, %	13.8	13.7	14.5	-2.29 ^a			
Population aged \geq 65 y with COPD, %	21.2	20.9	22.2	-1.69			
COVID-19 death rates per 100,000 people	200.2	196.9	214.4	-0.53			
Characteristic							
Total population, no. (SD)	22,299 (26,832)	21,192 (25,564)	27,093 (31,679)	-1.24			
Population aged \geq 65 y, no. (SD)	3,662 (3,591)	3,477 (3,463)	4,467 (4,051)	1.56			
Race and ethnicity of population aged \geq 65 y, %							
African American	2.9	3.2	1.7	1.40			
Asian	1.5	1.6	1.1	1.70			
Hispanic/Latino	2.9	2.9	2.8	0.11			
Other ^b	1.6	1.5	2.1	-1.17			
White	93.9	93.6	95.2	-1.05			
Education of population aged ≥65 y, %							
Less than high school diploma	12.3	11.4	16.3	-3.68 ^c			
High school diploma or some college	53.5	53.9	51.7	1.23			
College degree	16.5	16.6	16.3	0.11			
Graduate or professional degree	17.7	18.1	15.7	1.73			
Population aged ≥ 65 y with obesity, % ^d	23.5	22.3	28.3	-7.66 ^c			
Population aged \geq 65 y with tobacco use disorder, % ^d	10.1	10.1	10.4	-0.56			
Population aged \geq 65 y living at or below federal poverty level, %	6.0	5.3	8.7	-5.26 ^c			
Population not US born, %	11.5	9.0	22.4	-3.39 ^c			
Commute to work using public transportation	2.5	2.7	1.7	1.47			
Average household size (SD)	2.5 (0.2)	2.5 (0.2)	2.5 (0.2)	1.92			
Rural ^e	19.7	24.3	0	3.52 ^c			

Abbreviation: --, does not apply; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

 $^{a}P < .05.$

^b Other race is defined in the Health Aging Data Report as Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, American Indian or Alaskan Native, and other tribal entries, ≥2 races, or any other race not represented in previous categories (10,11).

 $^{\circ} P < .001.$

^d Prevalence of the condition is defined as being *ever* diagnosed with the condition in the Medicare Beneficiary Summary File since 1999 (13,14).

^e Living in a town in a rural county as defined by the Office of Management and Budget (21).

Table 2. Results of Multiple Linear Regression for Association Between Town-Level Chronic Lung Conditions and Rate of COVID-19 Death Rates per 100,000 People, Connecticut and Rhode Island

Variable	Model 3, ^a β (SE) [95% Cl]	Model 4, ^b β (SE) [95% Cl]	P value	Model 5, ^c β (SE) [95% Cl]	P value			
Main effects								
Prevalence of asthma among population aged $\ge 65 \text{ y}^d$	0.09 (807.37) [-769.22 to 2,414.39]	0.02 (860.31) [-1,525.4 to 1,868.2]	.84	0.04 (893.12) [1,436.41 to 2,086.86]	.72			
Prevalence of COPD among population aged $\ge 65 \text{ y}^d$	0.09 (388.77) [-384.22 to 1,148.77]	-	-	0.02 (568.27) [-1,036.83 to 1,204.94]	.99			
Covariates		•	•	•	•			
Percentage of residents aged ≥65 y that are African American	_	0.23 (254.11) [191.86 to 1,194.26]	.01	0.19 (249.18) [83.8 to 1,066.8]	.02			
Percentage of population aged ≥65 y that are Hispanic	-	-0.19 (411.05) [-1,524.17 to 97.28]	-	-0.23 (407.43) [-1,652.8 to -45.52]	.04			
Percentage of population aged ≥65 y without a high school diploma	-	0.42 (285.49) [454.55 to 1,580.72]	.001	0.45 (278.98) [529.06 to 1,629.6]	.001			
Prevalence of obesity among population aged $\ge 65 \text{ y}^d$	_	0.13 (376.24) [-246.84 to 1,237.28]	-	_	_			
Prevalence of tobacco use disorder among population aged $\geq 65 \text{ y}^{d}$	-	-0.17 (649.65) [-2,403.74 to 158.89]	-	-0.14 (809.17) [-2,464.49 to 727.64]	_			
Percentage of population aged ≥65 y living at or below federal poverty level	-	-0.15 (523.69) [-1,795.81 to 269.96]	_	-0.15 (512.76) [-1,731.98 to 290.8]	_			
Percentage of population not US born	_	-0.07 (0.56) [-1.63 to 0.57]	-	-0.09 (0.54) [-1.81 to 0.34]	_			
Commute to work using public transportation	-	-0.09 (3.22) [-10.44 to 2.27]	-	-0.06 (3.17) [-9.24 to 3.26]	_			
Average household size	-	-0.14 (68.97) [-264.59 to 7.48]	-	-0.17 (67.43) [-288.81 to -22.81]	.02			
Rural ^e	_	-	-	-0.13 (809.17) [-184.92 to -55.95]	<.001			

Abbreviations: --, does not apply; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

^a Model 3: Constant = 5.44; adjusted R^2 = 0.02.

^b Model 4: Constant = 435.81; adjusted $R^2 = 0.11$.

^c Model 5: Constant = 537.6; adjusted R^2 = 0.16.

^d Prevalence of the condition is defined as being *ever* diagnosed with the condition in the Medicare Beneficiary Summary File since 1999 (13,14).

^e Living in a town in a rural county as defined by the Office of Management and Budget (21).

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 19, E37

JUNE 2022

GIS SNAPSHOTS

Mapping EBT Store Closures During the COVID-19 Pandemic in a Low-Income, Food-Insecure Community in San Diego

Bryce C. Lowery, PhD¹; Madison R.E. Swayne, PhD²; Iana Castro, PhD³; Jessica Embury, BS⁴

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0410.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Lowery BC, Swayne MR, Castro I, Embury J. Mapping EBT Store Closures During the COVID-19 Pandemic in a Low-Income, Food-Insecure Community in San Diego. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210410. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd19.210410.

PEER REVIEWED



Changes in access to EBT food retailers in Promise Zone communities before (2019) and during (2021) the COVID-19 pandemic, San Diego. Food insecurity rates in 2018 obtained from the California Health Interview Survey AskCHIS Neighborhood Edition (1). EBT store locations obtained from US Department of Agriculture SNAP Retailer Database (2) for July 23, 2019, and July 23, 2021. Abbreviations: EBT, electronic benefits transfer; SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0410.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Background

Access to food retailers that accept electronic benefits transfer (EBT) can help reduce nutritional inequalities among low-income individuals and families experiencing food insecurity. According to the US Department of Agriculture (USDA), nearly all recipients of the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) receive benefits via EBT rather than via paper vouchers (3). The transition from physical vouchers to EBT improved enrollment by reducing the stigma associated with paper vouchers and streamlining the process for distribution of benefits (4). Food retailers that accept EBT may be spatially dispersed in ways that make it difficult for low-income residents to access nutritional resources needed to lead a healthy life (5). Proximity to stores that accept EBT supports food security in communities coping with the challenges of poverty.

The COVID-19 pandemic disproportionately affects low-income communities experiencing food insecurity because of 1) the increased risk for infection among people coping with conditions associated with food insecurity and 2) the effects of the pandemic on physical and financial access to sources of nutrition. The pandemic has increased rates of food insecurity (6) by affecting the supply of food and the capacity of individuals to afford food (7,8). People experiencing poverty are at increased risk for COVID-19 (9), and conditions typically associated with food insecurity, such as obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease, are contributors to intensive care admission and in-hospital mortality among patients diagnosed with COVID-19 (10).

The pandemic instigated an economic downturn that shuttered many businesses that provide food, closed schools where children ate, and left many without jobs. During the first month of the pandemic, approximately 30% of US children, particularly those in low-income and racial and ethnic minority groups, experienced household food insecurity (11). In San Diego, the pandemic has had a similar impact: 44% of Black and Hispanic/Latine residents have experienced food insecurity, compared with 25% of the overall population (12). Nationwide, communities responded to these changes; 17% more families applied for SNAP (13) to help mitigate food inaccessibility and unaffordability (14). EBT programs, like Pandemic-EBT, were created to help families purchase food, and evidence suggests that these programs reduced food hardship (6). However, the availability of stores that accept EBT and changes to these stores during the pandemic have not been described in detail.

We expand existing research on food insecurity to explore changes in the availability of stores that accept EBT during the pandemic, including grocery stores and small food retailers like convenience stores and small markets. Our objective was to identify how the availability of stores that accept EBT payments, authorized by SNAP, changed in an area of San Diego County with longstanding patterns of food insecurity.

Data and Methods

Our study area included 159 low-income census block groups (CBGs) in 4 zip codes in the federally designated San Diego Promise Zone (92101, 92102, 92113, 92114) and 1 zip code from National City (91950), an adjacent neighborhood. Promise Zones are designated by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (15) as areas that receive special assistance for community revitalization. This study area comprised 15.5 square miles, approximately 279,511 people, and some of San Diego's most food-insecure zip codes (12,16). We overlaid 2021 land-use data from the San Diego Association of Governments in each CBG. We included CBGs that contain any amount of residential land use, including single family and multifamily.

We downloaded the location of stores that accepted EBT payments from the USDA's online SNAP Retailer Locator tool (2) on July 23, 2019, and 2 years later, on July 23, 2021. Stores on the EBT list for San Diego County include large-scale supermarkets, small-scale local grocers, specialty markets (eg, bakery, butcher), convenience stores, gas station markets, and liquor stores. We coded each EBT store according to the presence of fresh produce reported previously (17) and locations serviced by BrightSide Produce (www.brightside.sdsu.edu), an initiative designed to support the availability of fruits and vegetables at small markets, convenience stores, and liquor stores that accept EBTs.

We mapped EBT retailer locations and spatially joined them to the 2019 CBG boundaries using ArcGIS Pro version 2.8 (Esri). We used buffer analysis to compute the number of EBT retailers within a ¹/₂- mile walking distance (18) of the boundary of each CBG in 2019 and again in 2021 to examine changes after the COVID-19 shutdown. The map of EBT retailers across both periods was overlaid with census tract-level data on food insecurity (proportion of adults aged ≥ 18 y who are low income and food insecure) obtained from the 2018 California Health Interview Survey AskCHIS Neighborhood Edition online data platform (1); we matched these data to CBG geographies. We used additional CBG-level data from the 2019 American Community Survey (16) to estimate median household income, poverty, education, vehicle ownership, and race and ethnicity. Maps were exported and rendered in Adobe Illustrator 2021. We used Mann-Whitney nonparametric tests to explore differences between each socioeconomic variable retrieved from the US Census for CBGs that lost EBT access and those that gained EBT access. The number of CBGs

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

that gained access to stores that accept EBT with fresh produce was too small to compare (via statistical testing) with the number of CBGs that lost stores that accept EBT with fresh produce, so we reported descriptive statistics only.

Highlights

The study area comprised 200 EBT stores on July 23, 2019; by July 23, 2021, twenty-three stores had been removed from San Diego County's EBT list and 7 stores had been added, resulting in 184 stores (a net loss of 16 [-8.0%] stores). The 23 stores that either closed or stopped accepting EBT were 1 full-service supermarket, 3 bakeries, 3 produce outlets, 1 ice cream shop, 1 pharmacy, 11 convenience stores, 1 gas station, 1 fish market, and a food delivery service. Stores added to the EBT list included 6 convenience stores and 1 pharmacy; the full-service supermarket was not replaced. In 2019, 128 (64.0%) stores offered produce, and in 2021, 121 (65.7%) offered produce (including 2 of 7 new stores). Seven of the 23 closed stores had offered fruits and vegetables. Although fewer stores in 2021 accepted EBT, the percentage of stores that offered produce was similar.

Two-thirds of CBGs (105 of 159; 66.0%) lost access to 1 or more (range, 1-6) EBT stores within ¹/₂ mile, and 13 (8.2%) CBGs gained 1 EBT store (Table). Over time, the average number of EBT stores accessible within 1/2 mile declined by 1.2 stores on average across all CBGs. Mann-Whitney nonparametric tests suggested that the CBGs that lost EBT access, compared with CBGs that gained EBT access, had significantly lower median incomes (U = 377.0, P = .01), higher poverty rates (U = 431.5, P = .03), lower high school graduation rates (U = 422.0, P = .02), a higher proportion of households with no vehicle (U = 430.5, P = .03), larger Hispanic/Latine populations (U = 361.0, P = .006), and higher food insecurity rates (U = 424.0, P = .03). Although we could not use statistical testing, we observed that CBGs that lost EBT stores that carried fresh produce were more varied in socioeconomic composition and experienced lower rates of food security than CBGs that gained fresh produce access.

Action

The loss of EBT stores during the pandemic affected food access to a greater degree among residents in communities experiencing hardships (eg, financial insecurity, lack of vehicle) than in communities experiencing these hardships to a lesser degree. Mapping and monitoring of food insecurity in neighborhoods of concern is crucial as the pandemic continues. Challenges not studied here may affect the number of EBT stores residents can access. As federal income assistance wanes, the demand for food outlets that accept EBT will likely increase. Research on local food landscapes should consider these changing contexts in neighborhoods of longstanding food insecurity. Measures of food retail choice should consider small food retailers, like the ones studied here, along with supermarkets and grocery stores.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Jordan Alcarez for her assistance in gathering and collating CHIS data. No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Bryce Lowery, Associate Professor, 800 Van Vleet Oval, Gibbs College of Architecture, University of Oklahoma, Norman, OK 73019. Telephone: 405-325-2444. Email: bryce.c.lowery@ou.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Gibbs College of Architecture, University of Oklahoma, Norman, Oklahoma. ²School of Public Affairs, San Diego State University, San Diego, California. ³Fowler College of Business, San Diego State University, San Diego, California. ⁴Department of Geography, San Diego State University, San Diego, California.

References

- 1. UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. AskCHIS Neighborhood Edition. Adults 18+ who are low income, food insecure, San Diego County. http://askchisne.ucla.edu. Accessed September 12, 2021.
- 2. US Department of Agriculture. SNAP retailer database. 2021. https://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/retailer-locator. Accessed March 1, 2021.
- 3. Caster L, Wakar B, Wroblewska K, Trippe C, Cole N. Benefit of redemption patterns in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program in fiscal year 2017. 2020. US Department of Agriculture. https://fns-prod.azureedge.net/sites/default/ files/resource-files/SNAPEBT-BenefitRedemption.pdf. Accessed November 1, 2021.
- 4. Vasan A, Kenyon CC, Feudtner C, Fiks AG, Venkataramani AS. Association of WIC participation and electronic benefits transfer implementation. JAMA Pediatr 2021;175(6):609–16.
- 5. Rigby S, Leone AF, Kim H, Betterley C, Johnson MA, Kurtz H, et al. Food deserts in Leon County, FL: disparate distribution of Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Programaccepting stores by neighborhood characteristics. J Nutr Educ Behav 2012;44(6):539–47.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

- 6. Bauer L, Pitts A, Ruffini K, Schanzenbach DW. The effects of Pandemic EBT on measures of food hardship. Brookings Institute. 2020. https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2020/07/P-EBT_LO_7.30.pdf. Accessed November 1, 2021.
- 7. Devereux S, Béné C, Hoddinott J. Conceptualising COVID-19's impacts on household food security. Food Secur 2020; 12(4):769–72.
- 8. Laborde D, Martin W, Swinnen J, Vos R. COVID-19 risks to global food security. Science 2020;369(6503):500–2.
- 9. Raifman MA, Raifman JR. Disparities in the population at risk of severe illness from COVID-19 by race/ethnicity and income. Am J Prev Med 2020;59(1):137–9.
- 10. Kim L, Garg S, O'Halloran A, Whitaker M, Pham H, Anderson EJ, et al. Risk factors for intensive care unit admission and in-hospital mortality among hospitalized adults identified through the US coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)-associated hospitalization surveillance network (COVID-NET). Clin Infect Dis 2021;72(9):e206–14.
- 11. Schanzenbach DW, Pitts A. How much has food insecurity risen? Evidence from the Census Household Pulse Survey. Institute for Policy Research Rapid Research Report. 2020. https://www.ipr.northwestern.edu/documents/reports/ipr-rapidresearch-reports-pulse-hh-data-10-june-2020.pdf. Accessed November 1, 2021.
- 12. San Diego Hunger Coalition. Issue brief. The state of nutrition security in San Diego County: before, during and beyond the COVID-19 crisis. Released October 2021. https:// static1.squarespace.com/static/55130907e4b018f9300f3e63/t/ 6180134f62b07a676fc57c96/1635783508705/ The+State+of+Nutrition+Securty+in+SD+County+2021.pdf. Accessed November 1, 2021.
- 13. Rosenbaum D. Boost SNAP to capitalize on program's effectiveness and ability to respond to need. Center for Budget and Policy Priorities. 2020. https://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/7-18-20fa.pdf. Accessed November 1, 2021.
- 14. Wood BS, Horner MW. Understanding accessibility to SNAPaccepting food store locations: disentangling the roles of transportation and socioeconomic status. Appl Spat Anal Policy 2016;9(3):309–27.
- 15. US Department of Housing and Urban Development. HUD Exchange. Promise Zones. https://www.hudexchange.info/ programs/promise-zones/promise-zones-overview. Accessed March 10, 2022.
- US Census Bureau. American Community Survey Estimates. 2020. https://data.census.gov/cedsci. Accessed November 1, 2021.
- 17. Swayne MRE, Lowery BC. Integrating transit data and travel time into food security analysis: a case study of San Diego, California. Appl Geogr 2021;131:102461.

18. Ver Ploeg M, Breneman V, Farrigan T, Hamrick K, Hopkins D, Kaufman P, et al.Access to affordable and nutritious food: measuring and understanding food deserts and their consequences: report to Congress. 2009. https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/42711/12716_ap036_1.pdf. Accessed November 1, 2021.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Table

Table. Sociodemographic and Health Characteristics of Census Block Groups (CBGs) in the San Diego Promise Zone and CBGs Inside the Promise Zone That Experienced a Change in EBT (Electronic Benefits Transfer) Access From 2019 to 2021^a

Determinant	All CBGs in Promise Zone (N = 159)	Gained EBT access (n = 13)	Lost EBT access (n = 105)	Gained EBT access with fresh produce (n = 5)	Lost EBT access with fresh produce (n = 63)
Mean change in EBT access	-1.2	1	-2.0	1	-1.4
Total population	279,511	19,364	186,801	14,310	117,430
% Households <200% of federal poverty level	18.0	13.3	20.7	15.1	17.1
Average median annual household income, \$	58,660	74,694	54,202	43,338	59,415
% Adult population (age ≥18 y) with high school diploma	77.1	82.7	52.4	54.4	67.6
% Low-income adults (≥18 y) experiencing food insecurity	7.7	5.1	8.1	10.0	6.8
% Population that does not have a vehicle	12.6	6.4	14.8	5.4	16.0
% Population that is Hispanic/Latine	54.3	38.2	57.0	59.2	48.5
% Population that is Black	11.0	13.9	9.6	8.5	11.5

^a Data sources: data on EBT store locations from US Department of Agriculture SNAP Retailer Database (2); data on total population, households <200% federal poverty level; median household income, education, vehicle ownership, and race and ethnicity from the 2019 American Community Survey (16); data on food insecurity from UCLA Center for Health Policy Research (1).

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 19, E36

JUNE 2022

GIS SNAPSHOTS

Expansion of Grocery Delivery and Access for Washington SNAP Participants During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Shawna Beese, MBA, BSN, RN^{1,2}; Ofer Amram, PhD, MSc³; Acacia Corylus, MPH, RD²; Janessa M. Graves, PhD, MPH¹; Julie Postma, PhD, RN¹; Pablo Monsivais, PhD, MPH³

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0412.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Beese S, Amram O, Corylus A, Graves JM, Postma J, Monsivais P. Expansion of Grocery Delivery and Access for Washington SNAP Participants During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Prev Chronic Dis 2022;19:210412. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd19.210412.

PEER REVIEWED



Online grocery delivery access for Washington State Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) beneficiaries increased between May and July 2021, during the COVID-19 pandemic. The 2017 food insecurity rates spotlight the counties most vulnerable to food insecurity. Sources: Walmart delivery data, https://www.walmart.com/store/directory; Amazon delivery data, https://www.amazon.com; SNAP benefit data, https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/download-the-data; Washington 2010 census tract shapefile, https://ofm.wa.gov/washington-data-research/population-demographics/gis-data/census-geographic-files.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2022/21_0412.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Background

The COVID-19 pandemic ushered in an unprecedented food security crisis that will have long-term health effects (1). As society shut down to slow the spread of SARS-CoV-2, the interruptions tested the limits of our current food supply chain to meet supply and demand (2). Exigencies on our food system, particularly safety-net resources like food banks, increased by 50% nationwide (1). Inequities in access to healthy food became magnified, exacerbating disparities that existed before the pandemic, such as increased risk of food insecurity for people without college degrees and unemployed people (3).

The pandemic generated shifts toward home-based meal preparation and online grocery purchases with home delivery (4,5). Statelevel pilot programs for online grocery purchase and home delivery for Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) beneficiaries were already mandated by the 2014 Farm Bill (6), but the pandemic accelerated these initiatives. Modernization of SNAP mirrors efforts spurred on by the pandemic, including national vendors' investments in online grocery delivery infrastructure and expanded delivery services (2). Because of the rapid responses on behalf of private and governmental entities, evaluation of access to delivery services availability was needed.

The purpose of this GIS Snapshot was to present the results of a geospatial assessment of access to online grocery purchase and home delivery for SNAP beneficiaries in Washington State. A secondary aim of this study was to identify potentially vulnerable populations resulting from the current level of access.

Data Sources and Map Logistics

We mapped the online grocery purchase and delivery coverage for SNAP recipients for Washington State in May 2021 and July 2021. Data sources included the GIS (geographic information system) census tract shapefile from the Washington Office of Financial Management (7). Census tract–level SNAP household data were obtained from the 2015 American Community Survey (ACS), accessed from the US Department of Agriculture Food Environment Atlas website (8).

The approved SNAP Electronic Benefits Transfer (EBT) delivery vendors were confirmed on the Food and Nutrition Service website in May 2021 and July 2021 (9). In July 2021, the 2 approved SNAP EBT online vendors were Amazon and Walmart delivery centers. One other retailer with a single location was also approved for online purchases, but this retailer did not have wide-

spread delivery services, so its 1,530-person catchment was not included. The final analysis and reporting of the evaluation are at the county level.

We used ArcMAP Desktop version 10.8 (Esri) to overlay census tract data with the number of SNAP household units per census tract and the delivery areas of participating vendors. Each census tract was also identified as urban or rural; areas with populations under 2,500 people were classified rural and those with 2,500 people or more were classified urban (10). Delivery areas for Walmart were created with a 9-mile buffer around georeferenced Walmart distribution outlet points for Walmart. We selected a 9-mile radius based on Walmart's delivery area, confirmed on their website in July 2021 and by telephone during confirmation calls to each store (11). The delivery area for Amazon Fresh was created using zip code polygons. All zip codes of the Amazon Fresh delivery services were confirmed on the Amazon Fresh website in July 2021 (12). The number of SNAP households was spatially analyzed by census tract population-weighted centroids within the defined delivery area boundaries.

We mapped the 2017 food insecurity rates by using a choropleth (shaded enumeration of prevalence rates) by county (13). Equal interval data breaks were used to categorize the food insecurity rates, expressed in percentages (13). The data sources for the 2017 food insecurity rates were from the Hunger in Washington website (14). The overall prevalence of food insecurity in Washington State was 11.5% and ranged from 7.1% (Franklin County) to 18.3% (Whitman County) (14).

Highlights

According to 2015 American Community Survey data, 376,467 (11.8%) Washington households were receiving SNAP benefits. In July 2021, during our final analysis, 298,839 (79.4) households receiving SNAP benefits had access to online grocery purchases and delivery (Table). The number of Washington State residents receiving food assistance increased during the COVID-19 pandemic. According to Washington State Economic Services Administration reporting, the number of people on food assistance increased by 16% from September 2019 to July 2020, as reported through management accountability and performance statistics (Economic Services Administration, Management Accountability and Performance Statistics [ESA/EMAPS], the state SNAP client eligibility system).

A preliminary survey conducted in May 2021 confirmed that most online grocery delivery access was concentrated in the Puget Sound region, the state's largest metropolitan area. In July 2021, Walmart launched a delivery service expansion into other urban areas of the state. The expansion increased access from 169,507

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

(45.0%) of SNAP households statewide in May 2021 to 261,752 (69.5%) of SNAP households statewide. The July 2021 Walmart expansion substantially increased access to home delivery of groceries for Washington State by offering access to areas beyond the Puget Sound region and outlying communities of Vancouver and Yakima. In July 2021, administrative data from the ESA/EMAPS indicated that 2.3% of SNAP benefits were redeemed with online retailers.

Rural counties that were previously designated as food insecure continue to lack access to home delivery. Most households receiving SNAP were included in the new delivery coverage from Walmart's expansion. However, Walmart's expansion of online delivery services is concentrated in more densely populated areas of the state. The 2017 food insecurity rates indicate some of these counties without online delivery access, especially the northeastern Washington counties and the counties along the western coastline, are also food insecure (14).

Action

Our analyses show the expansion of online grocery delivery serving SNAP recipients in Washington State. However, gaps in broadband coverage and lack of home computer technology may still serve as potential barriers to online purchases for rural populations in the state (15,16).

Using administrative data for geographic assessment to quantify access to online grocery delivery services was an essential step, but our analyses did not include assessment of other food assets such as food retail locations, food banks, pantries, and mobile markets (17,18). On the basis of the geographic assessment presented here, next steps include community-based approaches that allow for broader inventory of local food assets, which may be important for food access, particularly in communities with limited online grocery delivery. This involves asset-based inquiry to ground realities from rural food system leaders seeking innovative strategies to provide efficient and equitable solutions for food delivery.

Program administrators and municipal policy makers can use these maps to target underserved areas and strategize building partnerships with local vendors such as farmer's co-ops and regionalbased grocery outlets to fill the delivery needs for rural areas.

Acknowledgments

Washington State University is an equal opportunity provider. This study was funded by the US Department of Agriculture's SNAP.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Shawna Beese, MBA, BSN, RN, Washington State University — College of Nursing, 103 E Spokane Falls Blvd, Spokane, WA 99202. Telephone: 509-844-4729 Email: Shawna.Beese@wsu.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹College of Nursing, Washington State University, Spokane, Washington. ²College of Agricultural, Human, and Natural Resource Sciences, SNAP-ED, Snohomish, Washington. ³Elson S. Floyd College of Medicine, Washington State University, Spokane, Washington.

References

- 1. Wolfson JA, Leung CW. Food insecurity during COVID-19: an acute crisis with long-term health implications. Am J Public Health 2020;110(12):1763–5.
- 2. Hobbs JE. Food supply chains during the COVID-19 pandemic. Can J Agric Econ 2020;68(2):171–6.
- 3. Perry BL, Aronson B, Pescosolido BA. Pandemic precarity: COVID-19 is exposing and exacerbating inequalities in the American heartland. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2021; 118(8):e2020685118.
- 4. Ellison B, McFadden B, Rickard BJ, Wilson NL. Examining food purchase behavior and food values during the COVID-19 pandemic. Appl Econ Perspect Policy 2020;43(1):58–72.
- 5. Eriksson N, Stenius M. Changing behavioral patterns in grocery shopping in the initial phase of the COVID-19 crisis

 a qualitative study of news articles. Open Journal of Business and Management 2020;8(5):1946–61.
- 6. Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration. Public Law 113-79 — Agricultural Act of 2014. US Government Publishing Office; 2014. Accessed February 8, 2022. https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/ PLAW-113publ79
- 7. Office of Financial Management. Census geographic files Census 2010. Accessed May 6, 2021. https://ofm.wa.gov/ washington-data-research/population-demographics/gis-data/ census-geographic-files
- 8. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Download the data. Accessed July 20, 2021. https:// www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/ download-the-data/
- 9. US Department of Agriculture,Food and Nutrition Service. FNS launches the online purchasing pilot. Published May 29, 2021. Accessed October 28, 2021. https://www.fns.usda.gov/ snap/online-purchasing-pilot

- 10. US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Documentation. Published May 24, 2021. Accessed January 25, 2022. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-accessresearch-atlas/documentation/
- 11. Walmart. Walmart store directory Washington. Accessed July 22, 2021. https://www.walmart.com/store/directory/wa
- 12. Amazon.com. Amazon. Accessed July 20, 2021. https:// us.amazon.com/
- 13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Geography and Geospatial Science Working Group. Cartographic guidelines for public health. Center for Disease Control and Prevention; 2012. Accessed February 8, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/ maps/gisx/resources/cartographic_guidelines.pdf
- 14. Hunger in Washington. Food insecurity in Washington. 2017. Accessed November 1, 2021. https://www.livestories.com/ statistics/hunger-in-washington/washington/food-insecurity
- 15. Lai J, Widmar NO. Revisiting the digital divide in the COVID-19 era. Appl Econ Perspect Policy 2020. Epub 2020 Oct 3.
- 16. Graves JM, Abshire DA, Amiri S, Mackelprang JL. Disparities in technology and broadband Internet access across rurality: implications for health and education. Fam Community Health 2021;44(4):257–65.
- 17. Cohen N, Chrobok M, Caruso O. Google-truthing to assess hot spots of food retail change: a repeat cross-sectional Street View of food environments in the Bronx, New York. Health Place 2020;62:102291.
- 18. Díez J, Cebrecos A, Galán I, Pérez-Freixo H, Franco M, Bilal U. Assessing the retail food environment in Madrid: an evaluation of administrative data against ground truthing. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019;16(19):E3538.

Table

Table. Washington State Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Online Grocery Delivery Access, May-July 2021.

County	Number of households in county in 2015	Number of households with SNAP benefits in 2015	Number (%) of households with SNAP benefits with online delivery access
Adams	6,443	1,265	962 (76.0)
Asotin	9,989	1,782	_
Benton	73,896	10,176	8,992 (88.4)
Chelan	36,890	3,161	_
Clallam	36,526	4,860	_
Clark	175,854	25,515	24,652 (96.6)
Columbia	2,156	352	_
Cowlitz	44,178	8,908	7,280 (81.7)
Douglas	16,592	2,280	-
Ferry	4,485	728	_
Franklin	27,035	5,073	4,291 (84.6)
Garfield	1,245	95	_
Grant	36,385	6,434	_
Grays Harbor	35,816	5,901	_
Island	41,239	3,161	2,251 (71.2)
Jefferson	18,257	1,773	_
King	900,236	86,369	86,019 (99.6)
Kitsap	110,715	12,208	11,996 (98.3)
Kittitas	23,054	2,431	_
Klickitat	10,181	1,205	_
Lewis	34,759	6,373	3,381 (53.1)
Lincoln	5,962	484	_
Mason	33,172	4,103	_
Okanogan	22,901	3,328	_
Pacific	16,036	1,940	—
Pend Oreille	8,163	1,215	_

Abbreviation: --, no delivery available; SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program. Sources:

Amazon. Amazon Fresh delivery [interactive database]. https://www.amazon.com. Accessed July 20, 2021.

Hunger in Washington. Food insecurity rate: by county. 2017. [interactive map]. https://www.livestories.com/statistics/hunger-in-washington/washington/food-insecurity. Accessed November 1, 2021.

US Census Bureau. National, state, and county housing unit totals: 2010–2019. Published April 20, 2022. Accessed April 27, 2022.

https://www.census.gov/data/datasets/time-series/demo/popest/2010s-total-housing-units.html

US Department of Agriculture Food Atlas. 2015 Food Access Research Atlas published April 27, 2021. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/download-the-data/. Accessed July 20, 2021.

Walmart. Walmart Store Directory [interactive databasehapefile]. https://ofm.wa.gov/washington-data-research/population-demographics/gis-data/census-geographic-files. Accessed November 1, 2021.

Washington Office of Financial Management. Washington 2010 Census County [shapefile]. https://ofm.wa.gov/washington-data-research/populationdemographics/gis-data/census-geographic-files. Accessed November 1, 2021.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table. Washington State Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Online Grocery Delivery Access, May-July 2021

County	Number of households in county in 2015	Number of households with SNAP benefits in 2015	Number (%) of households with SNAP benefits with online delivery access
Pierce	339,501	44,959	43,334 (96.4)
San Juan	13,908	619	_
Skagit	52,846	7,445	5,439 (73.1)
Skamania	5,777	727	_
Snohomish	302,639	33,385	31,871 (95.5)
Spokane	210,709	33,984	31,890 (93.8)
Stevens	21,524	3,485	_
Thurston	113,750	12,767	11,656 (91.3)
Wahkiakum	2,118	322	_
Walla Walla	24,346	3,556	3,355 (94.3)
Whatcom	94,338	12,460	8,360 (67.1)
Whitman	20,381	1,844	1,252 (67.9)
Yakima	87,809	19,794	11,858 (59.9)
Washington State total	Not applicable	376,467	298,839 (79.4)

Abbreviation: --, no delivery available; SNAP, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.

Sources:

Amazon. Amazon Fresh delivery [interactive database]. https://www.amazon.com. Accessed July 20, 2021.

Hunger in Washington. Food insecurity rate: by county. 2017. [interactive map]. https://www.livestories.com/statistics/hunger-in-washington/washington/food-insecurity. Accessed November 1, 2021.

US Census Bureau. National, state, and county housing unit totals: 2010-2019. Published April 20, 2022. Accessed April 27, 2022.

https://www.census.gov/data/datasets/time-series/demo/popest/2010s-total-housing-units.html

US Department of Agriculture Food Atlas. 2015 Food Access Research Atlas published April 27, 2021. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-accessresearch-atlas/download-the-data/. Accessed July 20, 2021.

Walmart. Walmart Store Directory [interactive databasehapefile]. https://ofm.wa.gov/washington-data-research/population-demographics/gis-data/census-geographic-files. Accessed November 1, 2021.

Washington Office of Financial Management. Washington 2010 Census County [shapefile]. https://ofm.wa.gov/washington-data-research/population-demographics/gis-data/census-geographic-files. Accessed November 1, 2021.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 18, E83

AUGUST 2021

GIS SNAPSHOTS

Disparities in Internet Access and COVID-19 Vaccination in New York City

Isaac H. Michaels, MPH¹; Sylvia J. Pirani, MS, MPH²; Alvaro Carrascal, MD, MPH¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/21_0143.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Michaels IH, Pirani SJ, Carrascal A. Disparities in Internet Access and COVID-19 Vaccination in New York City. Prev Chronic Dis 2021;18:210143. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd18.210143.

PEER REVIEWED



A bivariate choropleth map that visualizes zip code-level data on household internet access and COVID-19 vaccination in New York City. The map identifies zip codes where the greatest disparities exist. Most disparities are in the Bronx and Brooklyn. This information could be used to place appointment-free vaccination sites in the short term and augment digital education and broadband internet access in the long term. Data on internet access were retrieved from NYC Open Data on April 7, 2021. Vaccination data were retrieved from the New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene on April 7, 2021.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2021/21_0143.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Background

Although COVID-19 is a communicable disease, for many people it could also be a chronic disease (1). In New York City, COVID-19 has had a greater effect on older populations, people living in the outer boroughs of the city's 5 boroughs (eg, the Bronx, Brooklyn, and Queens, compared with Manhattan), people living in poverty, and racial/ethnic minority populations (2). The availability of a COVID-19 vaccine can lessen the effect of the disease on these populations. As of this writing (April 15, 2021), people in New York City had to schedule an appointment to be vaccinated (3), with certain exceptions (4). Many New Yorkers who wanted to be vaccinated were not able to secure appointments, in part because the supply of COVID-19 vaccine was limited (5). Many public health and health care providers use online systems to schedule appointments; as a result, lack of internet access has been suggested as a potential barrier to vaccination (6). We created a map to visualize the community-level distribution of household internet access and COVID-19 vaccination in New York City.

Data and Methods

We obtained estimates of the percentage of households lacking internet access, by zip code, from NYC Open Data (7). Data on internet access were collected by the 2018 5-year American Community Survey. According to NYC Open Data, the American Community Survey frames this question as having "No access to the internet at this house, apartment, or mobile home."

We obtained data on zip code–level percentages of adult residents who received at least 1 COVID-19 vaccine dose from the New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene website (8). The vaccination data were obtained from the Citywide Immunization Registry. According to the source data table, "People with at least one dose have received at least one dose of two-dose vaccine series or a single dose shot."

We calculated via simple linear regression the association between the percentage of households without internet access and the percentage of adult residents with at least 1 COVID-19 vaccine dose. Internet access and vaccination data were available for all populated (n = 177) modified zip code tabulation areas in New York City (9). We then classified zip codes into 3 internet-access quantiles (tertiles) and 3 COVID-19 vaccination quantiles and visualized them via a bivariate choropleth map (10). We developed the map in R version 4.0.4 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) by using the tidyverse (11), sf (12), biscale (13), and cowplot (14) packages. All data were retrieved on April 7, 2021.

Highlights

Among zip codes in New York City, the median percentage of households without internet access was 15.5% (SD, 6.7%), ranging from 0% (zip code 10282, Battery Park City, Manhattan) to 32.4% (zip code 10454, Mott Haven/Port Morris, the Bronx). The median percentage of adults that received at least 1 dose of COVID-19 vaccine was 38.2% (SD, 10.0%), ranging from 21.9% (zip code 11691, Edgemere/Far Rockaway, Queens) to 75.0% (zip code 11697, Breezy Point, Queens). In the simple linear regression model, the percentage of households without internet access was negatively associated with the percentage of adult residents who received at least 1 dose of COVID-19 vaccine ($\beta = -0.92$; 95 CI, -1.09 to -0.75; intercept = 53.7%; P < .001, adjusted $R^2 = 0.38$) (Figure). Most disparities were in the Bronx and Brooklyn.



Figure. Association in New York City, at the zip code level, between the percentage of households without internet access and the percentage of adult residents with at least 1 COVID-19 vaccine dose. Each point represents 1 zip code. The dashed line represents a simple linear regression model, and the shaded area indicates 95% Cls. Linear regression summary: $\beta = -0.92$; 95 Cl, -1.09 to -0.75; intercept = 53.7%; P < .001; adjusted $R^2 = 0.38$. Data sources: New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (8), NYC Open Data (7). Data retrieved on April 7, 2021.

Action

COVID-19 vaccination was significantly associated with household internet access in New York City at the zip code level. Although this association neither implies nor precludes causation, and does not control for possible confounders, it is consistent with the hypothesis that lack of internet access is a barrier to vaccination. Internet access is a known social determinant of health (15).

Disparities in internet access exist across multiple socioeconomic dimensions and disproportionately affect low-income neighbor-

hoods (16). A digital health divide in the older population has been widely documented (17). A study published in 2021 suggested that the digital health divide is associated with age, education, income, and race/ethnicity (18).

To facilitate equitable and efficient COVID-19 vaccine uptake in New York City, public health officials should establish appointment-free vaccination sites, work with other agencies and organizations to advocate for legal and policy approaches that increase internet access (19), and increase access to in-person and telephone-based services that provide assistance with vaccine appointment scheduling, especially in zip codes with low rates of internet access. Our map can be used to inform the placement of such interventions. Because most disparities in internet access and vaccination were in zip codes in the Bronx and Brooklyn, appropriate partners for public health officials in these areas include the offices of the borough president, the borough-based New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene Neighborhood Health Action Centers, and borough-wide community-based organizations. More generally, we recommend that bivariate mapping be considered when selecting methods for comparing geographic distributions of health determinants and health outcomes.

The availability and accessibility of COVID-19 vaccine in New York City has continued to improve. After this writing, homebased vaccination, appointment-free walk-up vaccination sites, mobile vaccination sites, and pop-up vaccination sites were established (20).

Acknowledgments

No financial support was received for this work. No copyrighted surveys, instruments, or tools were used. The authors have no conflicts of interest.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Isaac H. Michaels, MPH, 3100 Rosendale Rd, Niskayuna, NY 12309. Telephone: 347-687-9719. Email: imichaels@albany.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University at Albany School of Public Health, Rensselaer, New York. ²HRSA Funded Region 2 Public Health Training Center, Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health, Department of Sociomedical Sciences, New York, New York.

References

- 1.Couzin-Frankel J. The long haul. Science 2020; 369(6504):614-7.
- 2. Thompson CN, Baumgartner J, Pichardo C, Toro B, Li L, Arciuolo R, et al. COVID-19 outbreak — New York City, February 29-June 1, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(46):1725–9.
- 3. New York State Department of Health. COVID-19 vaccine. Frequently asked questions. https://covid19vaccine. health.ny.gov/frequently-asked-questions-0. Accessed April 7, 2021.
- 4. Channel 4 NBC News New York. NYC expands vaccine walkin option to 31 sites; see full list and location hours here. March 30, 2021. Updated April 8, 2021. https:// www.nbcnewyork.com/news/coronavirus/no-appointment-noproblem-these-nyc-mass-vaccine-sites-now-allow-some-walkins/2972523. Accessed April 11, 2021.
- 5. Gold M. All adults in New York will be eligible for vaccination next week. The New York Times. March 29, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/03/29/nyregion/new-york-vaccine-eligibility.html. Accessed April 7, 2021.
- 6. Fung K. The digital divide is keeping many NYC seniors from scheduling COVID-19 vaccinations. Gothamist. February 16, 2021. https://gothamist.com/news/digital-divide-keeping-many-nyc-seniors-scheduling-covid-19-vaccinations. Accessed April 7, 2021.
- 7. Mayor's Office of the Chief Technology Officer. Broadband adoption and infrastructure by zip code. NYC Open Data. October 2, 2020. https://data.cityofnewyork.us/City-Government/Broadband-Adoption-and-Infrastructure-by-Zip-Code/qz5f-yx82. Accessed April 7, 2021.
- 8. City of New York. COVID-19: data. https://www1.nyc.gov/ site/doh/covid/covid-19-data-vaccines.page. Accessed April 7, 2021.
- 9. City of New York. New York City Open Data. Modified zip code tabulation areas (MODZCTA). May 19, 2020. https://data.cityofnewyork.us/Health/Modified-Zip-Code-Tabulation-Areas-MODZCTA-/pri4-ifjk. Accessed June 6, 2021.
- Biesecker C, Zahnd WE, Brandt HM, Adams SA, Eberth JM. A bivariate mapping tutorial for cancer control resource allocation decisions and interventions. Prev Chronic Dis 2020; 17:E01.
- Wickham H, Averick M, Bryan J, Chang W, McGowan LD, François R, et al. Welcome to the tidyverse. J Open Source Softw 2019;4(43):1686.
- 12. Pebesma E. Simple features for R: standardized support for spatial vector data. R J 2018;10(1):439–46.

- Prener C, Grossenbacher T, Zehr A. Biscale: tools and palettes for bivariate thematic mapping. R package version 0.2.0. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=biscale. Accessed April 7, 2021.
- 14. Wilke CO. Cowplot: streamlined plot theme and plot annotations for 'ggplot2'. R package version 1.1.1. https:// CRAN.R-project.org/package=cowplot. Accessed April 7, 2021.
- 15. Sieck CJ, Sheon A, Ancker JS, Castek J, Callahan B, Siefer A. Digital inclusion as a social determinant of health. NPJ Digit Med 2021;4(1):52. "https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/ query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_ uids=33731887&dopt=Abstract"
- 16. Mayor's Office of the Chief Technology Officer. Truth in broadband: access and connectivity in New York City. April 2018. https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/cto/downloads/truth-inbroadband/NYC-Connected-Broadband-Report-2018.pdf. Accessed April 9, 2021.
- Levine DM, Lipsitz SR, Linder JA. Trends in seniors' use of digital health technology in the United States, 2011–2014. JAMA 2016;316(5):538–40.
- 18. Tappen RM, Cooley ME, Luckmann R, Panday S. Digital health information disparities in older adults: a mixed methods study. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2021;1–11. "https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=33415705&dopt=Abstract"
- Bauerly BC, McCord RF, Hulkower R, Pepin D. Broadband access as a public health issue: the role of law in expanding broadband access and connecting underserved communities for better health outcomes. J Law Med Ethics 2019;47(S2):39–42.
- 20. City of New York. Vaccine command center. https:// www1.nyc.gov/site/coronavirus/vaccines/covid-19vaccines.page. Accessed June 8, 2021.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 17, E118

OCTOBER 2020

GIS SNAPSHOTS

Association Between Population Mobility Reductions and New COVID-19 Diagnoses in the United States Along the Urban–Rural Gradient, February–April, 2020

Xiaojiang Li, PhD, MS¹; Abby E. Rudolph, MPH, PhD²; Jeremy Mennis, MS, PhD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0241.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Li X, Rudolph AE, Mennis J. Association Between Population Mobility Reductions and New COVID-19 Diagnoses in the United States Along the Urban–Rural Gradient, February–April, 2020. Prev Chronic Dis 2020;17:200241. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200241.





ource: Mobility data are from the Google Community Mobility Report and confirmed COVID-19 case data are from the New York Times, Inc. Urban-rural classification data are from the National Center for Health Statistics.

Spatial distribution of the correlation between change in mobility and percentage increase in new COVID-19 cases 11 days later, from February 15 through April 26, 2020, by US county. Correlations are mapped for visits to 6 different types of places and plotted within 6 different urban-rural classifications. Significance is *P* < .05. A decrease in visits to places outside the home, and an increase in time spent at home, are associated with reduced rates of new COVID-19 cases 11 days later in most counties, suggesting that restrictions on mobility can mitigate COVID-19 transmission. The association is stronger in more urban counties, suggesting that mobility restrictions may be most effective in urban areas. Abbreviation: metro, metropolitan.



The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0241.htm • Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1

This publication is in the public domain and is therefore without copyright. All text from this work may be reprinted freely. Use of these materials should be properly cited.

Background

As of July 31, 2020, more than 17 million confirmed novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases had occurred world-wide with more than 668,000 COVID-19–related deaths (1). More than 4.4 million cases and 151,000 deaths occurred in the United States (2). Pre-existing conditions such as asthma and other respiratory conditions, diabetes, and heart disease are associated with COVID-19 illness severity (3), as is race/ethnicity (4), and chron-ic health problems may persist among survivors (5). Mitigating the COVID-19 pandemic thus has profound implications for chronic disease prevention and outcomes, health disparities, and overall population health.

The basic reproduction number for an infection, R₀, is influenced by 3 factors: the probability of infection per contact between an infected and a susceptible individual, the average rate of contact between susceptible and infected individuals, and the average duration of infectiousness. In the absence of pharmaceutical interventions, behavioral interventions that reduce contact rates can reduce viral transmission. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, state and local governments initially required nonessential businesses, schools, places of worship, restaurants, and bars to close; banned large gatherings; and issued stay-at-home directives to promote social (physical) distancing and reduce contact rates. Investigating the relationship between changes in mobility and future changes in the rate of new COVID-19 diagnoses can reveal the effect of these measures on disease transmission (6,7). We mapped the county-level association between changes in population mobility, derived from location histories captured by GPS embedded in mobile phones (8), and the rate of new confirmed COVID-19 cases 11 days later across the United States. We examined the variation across the urban-to-rural gradient, given differences in population density, travel behaviors, the prevalence of COVID-19, and time since the first case was diagnosed in rural versus urban counties (9).

Data and Methods

County-level daily mobility data for February 15 through April 26, 2020, were obtained from Google's Community Mobility Report, which comprises aggregated and anonymized data from Google users who turned on the "location history" setting on their cellular telephone (10,11). The data set included 6 location categories, determined by the different types of places encoded within Google Maps: retail and recreation, grocery and pharmacy, parks, transit stations, workplaces, and residential. Daily changes in mobility were measured relative to the median value of travel for the corresponding location type and day of the week from January 3, 2020, through February 6, 2020. County-level daily mobility

change was correlated with the daily county growth rate of COVID-19 cases (12) 11 days later (to account for the average incubation period [13]) plus the time delay between testing and state reporting (14), beginning on the day the first confirmed COVID-19 case was reported in each county. A catplot was used to visualize the distribution of the county-level correlation coefficients and their significance for mobility to each location type, stratified by the 6-level urban–rural classification scheme from the National Center for Health Statistics: large central metropolitan, large fringe metropolitan, medium metropolitan, small metropolitan, micropolitan, or noncore county (15). We repeated the analysis by using a 5-day time lag to test the sensitivity of our results.

Highlights

We plotted the spatial distributions of the correlation coefficients and attendant catplots for each location type. The maps show that retail and recreation, grocery and pharmacy, parks, transit stations, and workplaces generally have significant and positive correlations — a decrease in visits to these locations is associated with a reduced rate of new COVID-19 cases 11 days later. Conversely, an increase in the amount of time spent in residential locations was significantly negatively correlated with an increase in the rate of new COVID-19 diagnoses in most observed counties — staying at home is associated with a slowed growth rate.

Geographic variation is substantial, however, where, in many rural counties, the correlation is not significant. This is illustrated further by the catplots, where for all location types, significant correlations are more likely to occur in urban counties. Indeed, most noncore counties (the most rural) show no significant correlations between change in mobility and the rate of new diagnoses, whereas most large central metropolitan counties show significant correlations for all location types (except parks). Results using the 5day time lag were consistent with the results presented here.

We acknowledge certain limitations, including extensive missing county mobility data, and that other factors can influence disease transmission and reported cases (eg, testing practices, disease burden, population density, prevalence of chronic health conditions, age distributions, the population living in congregate settings). Additionally, these results reflect cases detected in the United States between February and April, when most states and counties had a combination of stay-at-home directives and business/school closures, and when cases were concentrated in a few urban areas, particularly New York City. In a post-hoc analysis we repeated the analysis by using a February 15 through June 19, 2020, study period. The resulting analogous urban–rural graphs for workplaces and residential places show that the association of mobility reductions with COVID-19 cases we observed for the initial study peri-

od dissipates to some extent, particularly in more rural areas (Figure). Notably, May 2020 was a period of decline in COVID-19 cases in the United States; the initial disease hotspots were cooling, and many states began to phase out mobility-reducing directives. This was followed in June by a rapid increase in COVID-19 cases in Florida, Arizona, and other states that did not act aggressively to reduce mobility and encourage wearing masks, with some states reinstating mobility reduction directives in response.



Figure. Post-hoc analysis of correlation between change in mobility and percentage increase in new COVID-19 cases 11 days later for February 15 through June 19, 2020, by US county. Correlations are shown for visits to workplaces and residential places and plotted within 6 different urban-rural classifications. Mobility data are from the Google Community Mobility Report, and confirmed COVID-19 case data are from the New York Times, Inc, Urban-rural classification data are from the National Center for Health Statistics. Significance is P < .05. The extended study period shows that the association between mobility change and new COVID-19 cases weakened somewhat as compared to the initial study period, particularly in more rural counties, reflecting the changing geographic pattern of disease dynamics occurring in May and June 2020. Abbreviation: metro, metropolitan.

Action

Although our findings should not be interpreted as a predictive model, these results provide evidence that reductions in population mobility may act to constrain the growth rate in COVID-19 cases, particularly in urban settings, though it is unclear whether the urban–rural differences we observed during the initial rise in COVID-19 cases in the United States will continue in the future, given the changing geography of the pandemic and differences in mitigation approaches used across the country.

Acknowledgments

No copyrighted materials were used in this article.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Jeremy Mennis, PhD, MS, Department of Geography and Urban Studies, Temple University, 1115 W Polett Walk, 309 Gladfelter Hall, Philadelphia, PA 19122. Telephone: 215-204-4748. Email: jmennis@temple.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Geography and Urban Studies, Temple University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ²Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Temple University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) situation report 193. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200731-covid-19-sitrep-193.pdf?sfvrsn=42a0221d 2. Accessed July 31, 2020.
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Coronavirus disease 2019(COVID-19). https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/cases-updates/cases-in-us.html. Accessed July 31, 2020.
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), people at increased risk. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/index.html. Accessed July 30, 2020.
- 4. Millett GA, Jones AT, Benkeser D, Baral S, Mercer L, Beyrer C, et al. Assessing differential impacts of COVID-19 on black communities. Ann Epidemiol 2020;47:37–44.
- 5. Salisbury H. Helen Salisbury: When will we be well again? BMJ 2020;369:m2490.
- 6. Kraemer MUG, Yang C-H, Gutierrez B, Wu C-H, Klein B, Pigott DM, et al.; Open COVID-19 Data Working Group. The effect of human mobility and control measures on the COVID-19 epidemic in China. Science 2020;368(6490):493–7.
- 7. Lasry A, Kidder D, Hast M, Poovey J, Sunshine G, Winglee K, et al.; CDC Public Health Law Program; New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene; Louisiana Department of Health; Public Health – Seattle & King County; San Francisco COVID-19 Response Team; Alameda County Public Health Department; San Mateo County Health Department; Marin County Division of Public Health. Timing of community mitigation and changes in reported COVID-19 and community mobility — four U.S. metropolitan areas, February 26–April 1, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(15):451–7.
- Buckee CO, Balsari S, Chan J, Crosas M, Dominici F, Gasser U, et al. Aggregated mobility data could help fight COVID-19. Science 2020;368(6487):145–6.

- 9. Bialek S, Bowen V, Chow N, Curns A, Gierke R, Hall A, et al.; CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Geographic differences in COVID-19 cases, deaths, and incidence United States, February 12–April 7, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(15):465–71.
- 10. Google. COVID-19 community mobility reports. https:// www.google.com/covid19/mobility/Accessed: April 26, 2020.
- 11. Aktay A, Bavadekar S, Cossoul G, Davis J, Desfontaines D, Fabrikant A, et al.Google COVID-19 community mobility reports: anonymization process description (version 1.0). https://arxiv.org/abs/2004.04145. Accessed August 27, 2020.
- 12. Github. New York Times COVID-19 data. 2020. https://github.com/nytimes/COVID-19-data. Accessed April 29, 2020.
- 13. Linton NM, Kobayashi T, Yang Y, Hayashi K, Akhmetzhanov AR, Jung SM, et al. Incubation period and other epidemiological characteristics of 2019 novel coronavirus infections with right truncation: a statistical analysis of publicly available case data. J Clin Med 2020;9(2):538.
- 14. Badr HS, Du H, Marshall M, Dong E, Squire MM, Gardner LM. Association between mobility patterns and COVID-19 transmission in the USA: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 2020;S1473-3099(20)30553-3.
- 15. Ingram DD, Franco SJ. 2013 NCHS urban–rural classification scheme for counties. Vital Health Stat 2 2014;(166):1–73.
